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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This annual report on Form 10-K containsviard-looking statements that involve substanti&ds and uncertainties. All statements, othel
than statements of historical facts, included ia #mnual report on Form 10-K regarding our stnatégture operations, future financial
position, future revenues, projected costs, praspetans and objectives of management are fonlaanking statements. The words
"anticipate,” "believe," "estimate," "expect,” "patial," "intend," "may," "plan," "predict,"” "prog," "will," "should," "would" and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-loglkétatements, although not all forward- lookingesteents contain these identifying words.

The forward-looking statements in this aalmeport on Form 10-K include, among other thirgjatements about:

. the progress and results of our clinical trial®of drug candidates, including migalastat HCI (“atégtat");

. the cost of manufacturing drug supply for our daliand preclinical studies, including the sigrafit cost of new enzyme
replacement therapy ("ERT") cell line developmemd enanufacturing as well as the cost of manufacguiompe ERT;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of preglid&velopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-formulated and co-administered WM Bnd for the treatment
of lysosomal storage diseases ("LSDs");

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory revidwur product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of otheetymt candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in hasses, products and technologies; and

. our ability to establish collaborations and dabtailestone, royalty or other payments from anghsoollaborators.

We may not actually achieve the plansnitit&is or expectations disclosed in our forwardklog statements, and you should not place
undue reliance on our forward-looking statementgudl results or events could differ materiallyrfréhe plans, intentions and expectations
disclosed in the forward-looking statements we m#¥e have included important factors in the cawtigrstatements included in this annual
report on Form 10-K, particularly in Part I, IterA IRisk Factors" that we believe could cause aatesiilts or events to differ materially from
the forward-looking statements that we make. Ouwéod-looking statements do not reflect the potdritnpact of any future acquisitions,
mergers, dispositions, joint ventures, collaboregior investments we may make.

You should read this annual report on Faf¥K and the documents that we incorporate by eefe in this annual report on Form 10-K
completely and with the understanding that ouradtuture results may be materially different frarhat we expect. We do not assume any
obligation to update any forward-looking statements
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PART |
ltem 1. BUSINESS.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company foceseithe discovery, development and commercializatfomext-generation medicines for a
range of rare and orphan diseases, with a fociumproved therapies for lysosomal storage disorf&SDs"). Our lead product candidate is a
small molecule that can be used as a monotherapinarombination with enzyme replacement theragR(T") for Fabry disease. Our
development programs also include next-generat®nsHor LSDs, including Fabry disease, Pompe dseaasl Mucopolysaccharidosis Type |
("MPS 1"). We believe that our platform technologignd our advanced product pipeline uniquely pmsitis at the forefront of developing
therapies for rare and orphan diseases.

In LSDs such as Fabry and Pompe, a mutatitime specific disease-causing gene can leduktprioduction in the body of a mutant form
of the enzyme that is less stable than the noraral,fand that may be prematurely degraded befahieg the location in the cell where it is
needed. For patients with LSDs who are receiving BRe infused (exogenous) protein may also unfold lose activity at any stage in the
process — from the infusion bag to the bloodstreanthe eventual uptake into cells and tissue.rEkalt is a loss of enzyme activity and
disruption of proper trafficking of the enzyme ysdsomes. Our novel treatment approach consistsing pharmacological chaperones tha
designed to selectively bind and stabilize eitheréndogenous or exogenous target proteins anidtactrafficking to the location in cells
where these proteins are needed (the lysosome).

Our personalized medicine approach consfsas oral small molecule pharmacological chapenmmonotherapy that is designed to bind tc
and stabilize a patient's own endogenous targétipcdPatients with "amenable mutations" may redpumased on their genetics.

Our Chaperone-Advanced Replacement The@mg@HART™, platform combines chaperones with ERBependent of a patient's own
genetics. In each CHART program, a unique pharnegigcdl chaperone is designed to bind to a spettiécapeutic (exogenous) enzyme,
stabilizing the enzyme in its properly folded amtivee form. This may allow for enhanced tissue kptayreater lysosomal activity, more
reduction of substrate, and the potential for loimenunogenicity.

Our Fabry franchise strategy is to develappharmacological chaperone migalastat HCI ("tagat") for all patients with Fabry
disease — as a monotherapy for patients with andemaltations and in combination with ERT for alhet patients. We have completed two
Phase 3 global registration studies (Study 011Stndy 012) of migalastat monotherapy and plan borsumarketing applications in 2015. We
have reported Phase 3 data in both treatment-paiients ("Study 011" or "FACETS") and ERT switatipnts ("Study 012" or
"ATTRACT"). Positive results from these studies @ahown that treatment with migalastat resulteductions in disease substrate, stabilil
kidney function, reductions in cardiac mass, angroiement in gastrointestinal symptoms in patigrite amenable mutations in a validated
assay ("GLP HEK assay"). Data from the Fabry Registicate that the leading cause of death inepdsiis from cardiovascular disease
(source: Mehta 2009).

Following a meeting with the European Méuis Agency ("EMA") held in the fourth quarter diZ2, we are on track to submit a
marketing application in Europe in mid-2015. We éalso scheduled a meeting with the U.S. Food and Bdministration ("FDA") in the
first quarter of 2015 as we work to make migalaatailable for all amenable Fabry patients as dyiak possible.

We expect to initiate a longer-term Phas@Rry co-administration study in 2015 in suppdrbar Fabry franchise strategy to develop
migalastat in combination with ERT for Fabry patewith non-amenable mutations. Preliminary resutis1 our previously completed open-
label Phase 2 safety and pharmacokinetics stududy313") in Fabry patients showed increased &wéhctive alpha-Gal
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A enzyme levels in plasma and in skin followingamiministration with migalastat compared to ERT alon

We are leveraging our biologics capab#ittaxd CHART™ to develop a next-generation Pompe.HRIE ERT consists of a uniquely
engineered recombinant human acid alpha-glucos(gds8AA") enzyme (designated "ATB200") with an opized carbohydrate structure to
enhance uptake, administered in combination wigtharmacological chaperone to improve activity aathitity. Acid alpha-glucosidase
("GAA") is the enzyme deficient in Pompe patieritspreclinical studies, ATB200 demonstrated gretissue enzyme levels and substrate
("glycogen™) reduction compared to the current appd ERT for Pompe disease ("alglucosidase alées'yyell as further improvement when
ATB200 was administered in combination with a clrape. Clinical studies of pharmacological chapesanecombination with currently
marketed ERTs recently established initial humaopof-concept that a chaperone can stabilize eezaativity and potentially improve ERT
tolerability.

Additional preclinical CHART programs inde a next-generation ERT for MPS I. In additior, enzyme targeting technology is
applicable to multiple ERTs and complementary to@HART platform for the development of next-gerienatherapies for multiple LSDs.
We believe that together these platform technokogiay provide a unique tool set to address sortigeaiajor challenges with currently
marketed ERT products — sub optimal enzyme actaitgt stability; poor targeting and uptake; andredddity and immunogenicity.

Although LSDs are relatively rare diseasiesy represent a substantial commercial oppostuhie to the severity of the symptoms anc
chronic nature of the diseases. The publicly reggbvtorldwide net product sales for currently appabtreatments for three LSDs were
approximately $1.9 billion in 2014.

Our Pharmacological Chaperone Technology

We are leveraging our pharmacological chapetechnology to develop next-generation treatenfam human genetic diseases by
targeting mutated proteins that are unstable, defbbr misfolded. In the human body, proteins avelved in almost every aspect of cellular
function. Proteins are linear strings of amino adltht fold and twist into specific three-dimensibshapes in order to function properly.
Certain human diseases result from mutations #nade changes in the amino acid sequence of amrated these changes often reduce pre
stability and may prevent them from folding properl

Pharmacological chaperones are small mEea@esigned to selectively bind to a target pnotieicrease its stability and help keep it
folded in the correct three-dimensional shape.lRiDs, pharmacological chaperones are designedtbtbj and facilitate trafficking of, both
endogenous and exogenous enzymes to the locatamilsrwhere they are needed (the lysosome). Tip®itant feature has allowed us to
develop pharmacological chaperones as monotheggytsa(to be used without ERT) and our CHART platfof pharmacological chaperor
in combination with ERT.

Pharmacological Chaperone Monotherapy

Many natural (endogenous) proteins are niattee endoplasmic reticulum ("ER") and sent teeotparts of the cell. Unstable, unfolded or
misfolded proteins are generally eliminated oriretd in the ER rather than being transported tarttended destination in the cell. The
accumulation of unfolded or misfolded proteinstie ER and the interruption of trafficking of impamt proteins to their proper cellular
locations can cause several types of problemsdirgu

. complete or partial loss of appropriate profeimction,

. accumulation of lipids and other substancesshauld be degraded, and
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. disruption of cellular function and eventual cedath.

These defects may lead to various typdsinfan genetic diseases, including LSDs. As monafiyeagents for LSDs, pharmacological
chaperones are designed to bind to and stabilidegamous lysosomal enzymes for proper traffickmthe lysosome, which may also alleviate
the build-up of mutant proteins in the ER. Oncé¢him lysosome, the pharmacological chaperone dis@des and the enzyme is free to break
down substrate. Based on this mechanism, individwith genetic mutations that result in some reaithiological activity are potentially
eligible for pharmacological chaperone monotherapy.

CHART Technology Platform

ERT is the standard of care for several §3iased on the intravenous infusion of recombinagene-activated human enzyme. The
enzyme is delivered into the blood in order todde=h up by cells and then transported to the lysesdJpon entering the lysosome, this
enzyme is intended to perform the function of theemt or deficient endogenous enzyme. Howeveplthm the infusion bag and in blood is
higher than the enzyme's natural acidic environnretite lysosome. As a result, the infused enzyrag rapidly unfold and lose activity and
may be misdirected to non-target tissues or raptigred from the body. Exposure to high conceintratof infused enzymes can impact
efficacy or cause adverse effects.

Possible problems related to the in stighilf infused enzyme include:

. denaturation and reduced activity;
. poor targeting and uptake into key tissues of dispand
. poor tolerability and increased immunogenicity.

In our CHART programs, each chaperone $$gied to bind to and stabilize a specific theréipeanzyme. We believe this technology
may be able to improve the stability, uptake arté/ig of the enzyme, and may improve tolerabiltgd lower immunogenicity compared to
administration of currently marketed ERTs aloneisTdombination approach may benefit patients wiiiDk, including patients with inactive
endogenous proteins who are not amenable to chaperonotherapy.

Enzyme Targeting Technology

The uptake of ERTs into patient's cellsmediated by a particular carbohydrate called mambghosphate ("M6P"). M6P enables bind
and delivery of therapeutic drug to lysosomes viPMeceptors on cell surfaces. Many currently apgadeRTs have limited amounts of M6P
thereby limiting the uptake of therapeutic drugiatpatient's cells.

We are developing next-generation ERTs widgimificantly higher amounts of M6P for improveggdsomal targeting compared to existing
ERTs. We believe that this technology to enhanag thrgeting, together with our CHART platform togrove enzyme stability, may be
utilized to develop a pipeline of more effectivexngeneration ERTs for LSDs.

Migalastat for Fabry Disease
Overview

Our most advanced product candidate, nstgtiais an investigational, small molecule phamtagical chaperone for the treatment of
Fabry disease. As an orally administered monotlyeramalastat is designed to bind to and stabilizeé'chaperone" a endogenous own alpha-
Gal A enzyme in those patients with genetic mutetigentified as amenable to this chaperone irlldased assay.
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For all other Fabry patients, migalastat in combagmawith ERT may improve outcomes by keeping ieflislpha-Gal A enzyme in its properly
folded and active form.

Migalastat for Fabry Disease as a Monotherapy: Rh8%Global Registration Program

Study 011 was a 24-month study of FabrgaBe patients naive to or not receiving ERT, winghstigated the safety and efficacy of oral
migalastat, (150 mg every other day). The studisbed of a 6-month double-blind, placebo-contrbperiod, a 6-month open-label period,
and a 12-month open-label extension phase. Sulgenipleting Study 011 were eligible to continuatneent with migalastat in a long-term
open-label extension ("Study 041"). 67 subjectsr{i2de) were enrolled. All subjects enrolled in $t0d 1 had amenable mutations in the
clinical trial human embryonic kidney ("HEK") cellased in vitro assay that was available at stuidigtion (“clinical trial assay"). Following
the completion of enroliment, a GLP-validated HEd¢@y was developed with a third party to measweetiteria for amenability with more
quality control and rigor ("GLP HEK assay"). Appioately 10% of mutations in the HEK database sveitthategorization between
"amenable" and "non-amenable" when moving fromctimécal trial assay to the GLP HEK assay. Therefthere were changes in
categorization from amenable to non-amenable ioftfie 67 patients enrolled in Study 011.

Study 011 was designed to measure the tieduaf the disease substrate (Globotriaosylcerapmod "GL-3") in the interstitial capillaries
of the kidney following treatment with oral migatas The 24-month study began with a 6-month debbtel, placebo-controlled treatment
period, after which all patients were treated witigalastat for a 6-month open-label follow-up pdriand a subsequent 12-month open-label
extension phase. The study also measured clinitabmes, including renal function, as secondaryeimds.

As previously reported, patients on migatexperienced greater reductions in GL-3 as coetpt placebo during the initial 6-month
period; however, this difference was not statidiycsignificant under the original analysis of themary endpoint (responder analysis with a
50% reduction threshold at month 6). The variapdibd low levels of GL-3 at baseline contributed toigher-than-anticipated placebo
response at month 6.

Following the unblinding of the 6-month @aand while still blinded to the 12-month data,reported the mean change in GL-3 from the
baseline to month 6 as a post-hoc analysis inubgrsup of patients with GLP HEK-amenable mutatidrigs analysis showed a statistically
significant reduction in GL-3 in the migalastat gpocompared to placebo. The mean change in GL-3deatified as a more appropriate way
to control for the variability in GL-3 levels in &ty 011 and to measure the biological effect ofatagtat.

Results from this subgroup analysis furthgrport use of the GLP HEK assay in predictingpoesiveness to migalastat. Following a
Type C Meeting with the FDA, we revised the StatatAnalysis Plan to pre-specify the primary asédyat month 12 as the mean change in
interstitial capillary GL-3 in patients with GLP HEamenable mutations.

Throughout 2014 and in early 2015 we angedrpositive 12- and 24-month data from Study 0idLlanger-term data from Study 041 in
patients with amenable mutations who were naiEER®. Top-line data were announced in April 2014 dath were presented to the scientific
community at the American Society of Human Gend#«SHG) in October 2014 and WORLDSymposium™ in kelpy 2015. Highlights
were as follows:

. Subjects who switched from placebo to migalasti&r afonth 6 demonstrated a statistically signifiaaduction in disease
substrate, or kidney interstitial capillary GL-3,naonth 12 (p=0.013), and a statistically significeeduction of disease substrate
in another important biomarker of disease, plagrea-Gb3. Subjects who remained on migalastat detraded a
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durable reduction in kidney interstitial capillaBL-3, as well as a durable reduction in lyso-Gb3.

. Kidney function, as measured by estimated glomefilteation rate (eGFR) and iohexol measured GRGER), remained
stable following 18-24 months of treatment with adastat in Study 011. Kidney function, as meastsedGFR, continued to
remain stable in patients receiving migalastattird$ 011 for at least 18 months and continuing tagfat treatment in Study
041 for an average of 32 months. MGFR was notateltein Study 041.

. Reduction in cardiac mass, as measured by detfricular mass index (LVMi), was statistically sificant following treatment
with migalastat for up to 36 months (average ofrizshths) in patients in Study 011 and 041.

. There was a significant decrease in diarrhea (wséetj p=0.03) in patients treated with migalastasws placebo during the 6-
month double-blind phase (Stage 1). After 18-24 tmewf treatment with migalastat, significant impements in diarrhea and
indigestion were observed in addition to favorakéeds in reflux and constipation. Gastrointestgyahptoms were assessed
using the Gastrointestinal Symptoms Rating Scal8R§), a validated instrument

. Migalastat was generally safe and well-tolerated

Study 012, our second Phase 3 registratiatly, is a randomized, open-label 18-month stodgstigating the safety and efficacy of oral
migalastat (150 mg, every other day) comparedaodsird-ofeare infused ERTs (agalsidase beta and agalsiéaae Bhe study also include
12-month open-label migalastat extension phasesfudy enrolled a total of 60 patients (males amddles) with Fabry disease and genetic
mutations identified as amenable to migalastat rtt@rapy in a clinical trial assay. Subjects weredanized 1.5:1 to switch to migalastat or
remain on ERT. All subjects had been receiving ERdsions for a minimum of 12 months (at least 3nths at the labeled dose) prior to
entering the study. Based on the GLP HEK assaye there changes in categorization from amenabi®teamenable in 4 of the 60 patients
enrolled in Study 012.

Taking into account scientific advice fr&@aropean regulatory authorities, the pre-specifi@grimary outcome measures of efficacy in
Study 012 are the descriptive assessments of cainiigr of the mean annualized change in mGFR @HR for migalastat and ERT. Both
MGFR and eGFR are considered important measuresalffunction. Success on mGFR and eGFR was [iveddo be measured in two
ways: 1) a 50% overlap in the confidence interbatsveen the migalastat and ERT treatment grougs2amwhether the mean annualized
changes for patients receiving migalastat are with? mL/min/1.73 m2/yr of patients receiving ERWe prespecified that these renal funct
outcomes would be analyzed in patients with GLP Hifkenable mutations.

In August 2014, we announced positive 18ihalata from the Study 012. Data from Study 01Pevedso presented to the scientific
community at the American Society of Nephrology $M") in November 2014 and WORLDSymposium in Feby215. Highlights were as
follows:

. Migalastat had a comparable effect to ERT on patidsdney function as measured by the change FRe@nd mGFR from
baseline to month 18.

. Levels of plasma lyso-Gb3, an important biomadfedisease, remained low and stable in patieitts amenable mutations who
switched from ERT to migalastat.

. There was a statistically significant decrease\fiMiLfrom baseline to month 18 in patients who sWwid from ERT to
migalastat
. Measures of pain and quality of life from the BriRdin Inventory ("BPI") and Short Form 36 ("SF3&inained stable when

patients switched from ERT to migalastat.
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. Migalastat was generally safe and well-tolerated.

Following a meeting with the European Matks Agency ("EMA") held in the fourth quarter @@, we are on track to submit a
marketing application in Europe in mid-2015. We dalso scheduled a meeting with the US FDA in itts¢ quarter of 2015 as we work to
make migalastat available for all amenable Fabtiepts as quickly as possible.

Migalastat Combination Programs for Fabry Disease

In support of our Fabry Franchise strategglevelop migalastat in combination with ERT fabFy patients with non-amenable mutations
we plan to conduct a longer-term Phase 2 Fabrydooidstration study in 2015. In parallel, we arteimally developing our own Fabry cell
line for co-formulation with migalastat as a nestrgration ERT for Fabry disease. We previously deted an open-label Phase 2 safety and
pharmacokinetics study ("Study 013") that invegigawo oral doses of migalastat (150 mg and 45pangdministered with agalsidase beta
or agalsidase alfa in males with Fabry diseasek®&@tudy 011 and Study 012, patients in StudyWw&g: not required to have alpha-Gal
mutations amenable to chaperone therapy becauss, edhadministered with ERT, migalastat is desigodnind to and stabilize the
exogenous enzyme in the circulation in any patieog¢iving ERT. Each patient received their curckyge and regimen of ERT at one infusion.
A single oral dose of migalastat (150 mg or 450 mig} co-administered two hours prior to the nefitsion of the same ERT at the same dost
and regimen. Preliminary results from Study 013asdincreased levels of active alpha-Gal enzymeldem plasma and skin following co-
administration compared to ERT alone.

Causes of Fabry Disease and Rationale for Use ofjmastat

Fabry disease is an LSD that results fraefaciency in alpha-Gal A. Symptoms can be sea@ckdebilitating, including kidney failure
and increased risk of heart attack and stroke.dBfieiency of alphaal A in Fabry patients is caused by inherited ¢jemeutations. Certain «
these mutations cause changes in the amino acigtiseg of alpha-Gal A that may result in the proiducof alphaGal A with reduced stabilit
and that does not efficiently fold into its corrélstee-dimensional shape. Although alpha-Gal A peed in patient cells often retains the
potential for some level of biological activity gltell's quality control mechanisms recognize &taim misfolded alpha-Gal A in the ER, until
it is ultimately moved to another part of the del degradation and elimination. Consequentlyielitr no alpha-Gal A moves to the lysosome,
where it normally breaks down GL-3. This leadsdoumnulation of GL-3 in cells, which is believedie the cause of the symptoms of Fabry
disease. In addition, accumulation of the misfoldgha-Gal A enzyme in the ER may lead to stressetls and inflammatory-like responses,
which may contribute to cellular dysfunction andedise.

Migalastat monotherapy is designed to a@ pharmacological chaperone for alpha-Gal A kscsgely binding to the enzyme, which
increases its stability and helps the enzyme fuid its correct three-dimensional shape. This Bzaftion of alpha-Gal A allows the cell's
quality control mechanisms to recognize the enzgmproperly folded so that trafficking of the enzyta the lysosome is increased, enablil
to carry out its intended biological function, timetabolism of GL-3.

Because migalastat increases levels ofiaps naturally produced alpl@al A, Fabry disease patients most likely to respmntreatmer
with migalastat monotherapy are those with a mssenutation or other genetic mutations that reésyitoduction of alpha-Gal that is less
stable but that maintains some residual catalyfiivity. We estimate that approximately thirty ifiyf percent of patients with Fabry disease
may have alpha-Gal A mutations that are amenahigidalastat as a monotherapy. Patients with genaiiations leading to a partially made
alpha-Gal A enzyme or alpha-Gal A enzyme with aeviersible loss of activity are less likely to resd to treatment with
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migalastat as a monotherapy. However, we belieaeat Fabry patients are potentially treatabléwaitigalastat in combination with ERT.

The combination of migalastat and ERT afidyinding and stabilization of infused enzyme ia tirculation as patients receive ERT. We
believe migalastat in combination with ERT may bkedo improve the stability, activity, uptake aioterability of the therapeutic enzyme.
This combination approach may benefit patients wistttive endogenous proteins who are not amenaldieaperone monotherapy.

Fabry Disease Background

The clinical manifestations of Fabry dis=apan a broad spectrum of severity and roughkelzde with a patient's residual alpha-Gal A
levels. The majority of currently treated patieats referred to as classic Fabry disease pati@ost, of whom are males. These patients
experience disease of various organs, includingitheeys, heart and brain, with disease symptorssdppearing in adolescence and typically
progressing in severity until death in the fourtHifth decade of life. A number of studies suggistt there are a large number of undiagnose
males and females that have a range of Fabry disyasptoms, such as impaired cardiac or renal immeind strokes, that usually first appear
in adulthood.

Individuals with this type of Fabry diseaseferred to as later-onset Fabry disease, tehdwe higher residual alpha-Gal A levels than
classic Fabry disease patients. Although the symgtof Fabry disease span a spectrum of severisyugeful to classify patients as having
classic or later-onset Fabry disease when disqusisndisease and the associated treatable papulati

Classic Fabry Disease

Individuals with classic Fabry diseaseiamnost instances males. They have little or nectable alpha-Gal A levels and are the most
severely affected. These patients first experielieease symptoms in adolescence, including pairiiaglihg in the extremities, skin lesions, a
decreased ability to sweat and clouded eye lelfsii@se patients are not treated, their life exgecy is reduced and death usually occurs i
fourth or fifth decade of life from renal failureardiac dysfunction or stroke. Studies reporteghénJournal of the American Medical
Association (January 1999) and The Metabolic andebldar Bases of Inherited Disease (8th edition12@diggest the annual incidence of
Fabry disease in newborn males is 1:40,000-1:60,00frent estimates from the University of lowa dimel National Kidney Foundation
suggest that there are a total of approximatel@G@assic Fabry disease patients worldwide.

Later-Onset Fabry Disease

Individuals with later-onset Fabry diseaaa be male or female. They typically first expecie disease symptoms in adulthood, and oftel
have disease symptoms focused on a single orgaexBmple, many males and females with later-oRabty disease have enlargement of ths
left ventricle of the heart. As the patients adwimcage, the cardiac complications of the dispasgress and can lead to death. Studies
reported in Circulation and Journal of the Amerittaart Association (March 2002 and August 2004peesvely), estimated that 6-12% of
patients between 40 and 60 years of age with axpleneed enlargement of the left ventricle of theatt, a condition referred to as left
ventricular hypertrophy, have Fabry disease.

A number of males and females also hawz-lariset Fabry disease with disease symptoms fdarséhe kidney that progress to end-
stage renal failure and eventually death. Studipsnted in Nephrology Dialysis Transplant (2003)niCal and Experimental Nephrology
(2005) and Nephrology Clinical Practice (2005)rastie that 0.20% to 0.94% of patients on dialysieHzabry disease.
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In addition, lateonset Fabry disease may also present in the fostraies of unknown cause. A study reported in Ddmecet (Novembe
2005) found that approximately 4% of 721 male addle patients in Germany between the ages of 38 with stroke of unknown cause
have Fabry disease.

It was previously believed to be rare femfle Fabry disease patients to develop overtalimanifestations of Fabry disease. Fabry
disease is known as an X-linked disease becausehbgted alpha-Gal A gene mutation is located/am the X chromosome. Females inherit
an X chromosome from each parent and thereforéntemit a Fabry mutation from either parent. By trast, males inherit an X chromosome
(and potentially a Fabry mutation) only from theiothers. For this reason, there are expected tougghly twice as many females as males
have Fabry disease mutations. Several studiestegbiorthe Journal of Medical Genetics (2001),Ititernal Medicine Journal (2002) and the
Journal of Inherited Metabolic Disease (2001) repuat, while the majority of females with Fabrgease mutations have mild symptoms,
many have severe symptoms, including enlargemethiedift ventricle of the heart and/or renal feglu

Newborn screening studies in Italy, Taiveawl Austria, published in the American Journal afitdn Genetics (2006), Human Mutation
(2009) and the Lancet (2011) respectively, regmat the incidence of Fabry mutations in newborre/er ten times higher than previous
estimates for classic patients, Combined theseestsdreened over 263 thousand newborns, and thernidcidence of Fabry mutations to be
between 1:2,400 to 1: 3,859. This high incidence atftributed to a large number of newborn maleh alipha-Gal A mutations often
associated with later-onset Fabry disease, whighmoahave been identified in previous screeningliss that relied on diagnosis based on
development of symptoms of classic Fabry disease.

Fabry Disease Market Opportunity

Fabry disease is a relatively rare disariibe current estimates of approximately 5,000epsi worldwide are generally based on a small
number of studies in single ethnic populations ricl people were screened for classic Fabry dis@deeresults of these studies were
subsequently extrapolated to the broader world jadjpn assuming similar prevalence rates acrossilptipns. We believe these previously
reported studies did not account for the prevaleidater-onset Fabry disease and, as describeceabmumber of recent studies suggest that
the prevalence of Fabry disease could be many timgder than previously reported.

We expect that as awareness of later-dredety disease grows, the number of patients diaghadth the disease will increase. Increased
awareness of all forms of Fabry disease, partiufar specialists not accustomed to treating Fatisgase patients, may lead to increased
testing and diagnosis of patients with the disease

Based on published data from the Human Géutation Database and our experience in the figldbelieve the majority of the known
genetic mutations that cause Fabry disease aremsissnutations. There are few widely occurring gemeutations reported for Fabry disez
suggesting that the frequency of a specific gematitation reported in the Human Gene Mutation Dasalreflects the approximate frequency
of that mutation in the general Fabry patient papiah. In addition, data from recent newborn scirggstudies published in the American
Journal of Human Genetics (2006), Human Mutatid®@ and the Lancet (2011) suggest that the vajstrityaof newly diagnosed patients
with later-onset Fabry disease also have missensations. Because missense mutations often resldss stable, misfolded alpha-Gal A with
some residual enzyme activity, we believe patieritis these mutations may benefit from treatmenhwitonotherapy migalastat. We also
believe that many other types of genetic mutatioay result in misfolded alpha-Gal A and therefomyralso respond to treatment with
monotherapy migalastat. Based on this, we belieatdpproximately thirty to fifty percent of thelifg disease patient population may benefit
from treatment with migalastat as a
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monotherapy. However, the entire Fabry diseasemgbopulation has the potential to benefit frongafastat in combination with ERT.
Existing Products for the Treatment of Fabry Disemsnd Potential Advantages of Migalastat

Currently, two ERT products are approveadiie treatment of Fabry disease: agalsidase betagalsidase alfa. Agalsidase beta is
approved globally (conditionally in the U.S.) arahumercialized by sanofi aventis through Genzymey@m@tion, while agalsidase alfa
commercialized by Shire and approved in the EUathdr countries but not in the U.S. Orphan druduesteity for both agalsidase beta and
agalsidase alfa has expired in the EU and for algede beta , in the U.S. as well. The net prodaleissof agalsidase beta and agalsidase alfa f
2014 were approximately $610 million as publiclpoged by sanofi aventis and $500 million as puyplieported by Shire, respectively.

Prior to the availability of ERT, treatmetiior Fabry disease were directed at amelioratingpsoms without treating the underlying
disease. Some of these treatments include opatéspnvulsants, antipsychotics and antidepressamsntrol pain and other symptoms, and
beta-blockers, calcium channel blockers, ACE irtbitsi angiotensin receptor antagonists and othemtado treat blood pressure and vascular
disease.

For Fabry disease patients who respondgalastat, we believe that the use of migalastat haeve advantages relative to the use of
agalsidase beta and agalsidase alfa. Publishedadgtatients treated with agalsidase beta andsalgale alfa for periods of up to five years
demonstrate that these drugs can lead to the iedwftGL-3 in multiple cell types in the skin, hieand kidney. However, because they are
large protein molecules, agalsidase beta and dgaksialfa are believed to have difficulty penatgaome tissues and cell types. In particular,
it is widely believed that agalsidase beta andsagase alfa are unable to cross the blood-braindband thus are unlikely to address the
neurological symptoms of Fabry disease. As a smalécule therapy that has demonstrated high ooalvaiilability and good biodistribution
properties in preclinical testing, migalastat Has potential to reach cells of all the target #&ssaf Fabry disease. Furthermore, treatment with
agalsidase beta and agalsidase alfa requires émoag infusions every other week, frequently oe-aithealth care facilities, presenting an
inconvenience to Fabry patients. Hence, oral treatrwith migalastat may be much more convenienpétients. Lastly, agalsidase beta and
agalsidase alfa are protein therapeutics, and lhese shown to lead to the generation of anti-dnidpadies in some patients, which can affect
efficacy. Some patients also experience infusi@oaated reactions that can last for hours or daysontrast, migalastat is not expected to
have immunogenic effects, and may not have theysagks associated with intravenous infusion.

In addition, as discussed above, we belieaemigalastat in combination with ERT may impediey characteristics of the infused
enzymes used in ERT by allowing for increased partsof active enzymes to the lysosomes and degjoadaf substrate, thereby potentially
increasing ERT's efficacy. Importantly, patientsowhay not have alpha-Gal A mutations amenable galastat monotherapy treatment may
benefit from migalastat in combination with ERT, kimey migalastat potentially available to all Falpatients.

Next-Generation ERT for Pompe Disease

We are leveraging our biologics capabiittend CHART platform to develop a next-generatiompPe ERT. This ERT consists of a
uniquely engineered rhGAA enzyme (ATB200) with gnimized carbohydrate structure to enhance uptdmjnistered in combination with
pharmacological chaperone to improve activity aiathifity. We acquired ATB200 as well as our enzytargeting technology through our
purchase of Callidus Biopharma.

In preclinical studies, ATB200 demonstradgeater tissue enzyme levels and further substedigction compared to the current approvec
ERT for Pompe disease (alglucosidase alfa), whietew
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further improved with the addition of a chapero@énical studies of pharmacological chaperonesoimisination with currently marketed ER
have established initial human proof-of-concept thehaperone can stabilize enzyme activity andmiatlly improve ERT tolerability. In

2013, we completed a Phase 2 safety and pharmatmlsistudy ("Study 010") that investigated sirageending oral doses of a
pharmacological chaperone co-administered withuatigidase alfa or recombinant human GAA enzymeAh@arketed by Genzyme, in
patients with Pompe disease. Each patient rec@imednfusion of ERT alone, and then a single ooakdof the pharmacological chaperone jus
prior to the next ERT infusion. Results from thisdy showed an increase in GAA enzyme activitylaspa and muscle when co-administere
compared to ERT alone.

Taken together, these preclinical and céihiesults support further development of ATB20@ambination with a pharmacological
chaperone as a next-generation Pompe ERT. Thatiaitiof a Phase 1/2 clinical study is expecteithénsecond half of 2015.

Pompe Disease Background

Like Fabry disease, Pompe disease is anth8Dresults from a deficiency in an enzyme, G&Rns and symptoms of Pompe can be
severe and debilitating and include progressivecheuseakness throughout the body, particularlyttsart and skeletal muscles. The enzyme
deficiencies in Pompe patients are caused by irgiegenetic mutations. Certain of these mutati@use changes in the amino acid sequer
the enzyme that may result in the production oéiaryme with reduced stability that does not fol iits correct three-dimensional shape.
Although the enzymes produced in patient cellsrofedain the potential for some level of biologieativity, the cell's quality control
mechanisms recognize and retain the misfolded eezgrthe ER until it is ultimately moved to anotlpart of the cell for degradation and
elimination. Consequently, little or no GAA in Pompatients traffics to the lysosome, where it ndiyrtareaks down its substrate, a complex
sugar called glycogen. This leads to accumulatfagly@ogen in cells, which is believed to resultli clinical manifestations of Pompe
disease. Pompe disease ranges from a rapidlyifiédatile form with severe cardiac involvement tmare slowly progressive, later-onset form
primarily affecting skeletal muscle. All forms arkaracterized by severe muscle weakness that weoosen time. In the early onset form,
patients are usually diagnosed shortly after kirit often experience enlargement of the heart enefs muscle weakness. In later-onset
Pompe disease, symptoms may not appear untilhétthood or adulthood and patients often experigmogressive muscle weakness.
According to reported estimates of the Acid MaltBsficiency Association, the United Pompe Foundatind the Lysosomal Disease Prog!
at Massachusetts General Hospital, there are 5,080 patients with Pompe disease worldwide.

Acquisition of Callidus

In November 2013, we entered into a meageeement with Callidus, a privately held biotedbgg company which was engaged in
developing a next-generation Pompe ERT and complameenzyme targeting technologies.

In connection with our acquisition of Cdlls, we agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 méhanes of our common stock to the former
stockholders of Callidus. In addition, we will beligated to make additional payments to the forsteckholders of Callidus upon the
achievement of certain clinical milestones of u$3& million and regulatory milestones of up to $Xdillion set forth in the merger
agreement, provided that the aggregate mergerdenasgion shall not exceed $130 million. We mayguatelection, satisfy certain milestone
payments identified in the merger agreement aggireg®40 million in shares of our common stock. Thidgestone payments not permitted to
be satisfied in common stock (as well as any paysiiiat we are permitted to, but chooses not tsfgan common stock), as a result of the
terms of the merger agreement, will be paid in cash
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Strategic Alliances and Arrangements

In November 2013, we entered into the Reelisgreement (the Revised Agreement) with GSK, ymansto which we obtained global
rights to develop and commercialize migalastat a®notherapy and in combination with ERT for Fatlisease. The Revised Agreement
amends and replaces in its entirety the Expandedehgent entered into between us and GSK in Jul2.20ader the terms of the Revised
Agreement, for migalastat monotherapy, GSK is kbl@to receive post-approval and sales-based miilest as well as tiered royalties in the
mid-teens in eight major markets outside the Ul&r& was no other consideration paid to GSK asqgbdhie Revised Agreement.

In September 2013, we entered into a cofkiipn agreement with Biogen to discover, devalog commercialize novel small molecules
that target the GCase enzyme for the treatmenakiison's disease. In September 2014, we concloalecesearch collaboration with Biogt
Our most advanced Parkinson's candidate is AT38lEh was developed outside the collaboration angholly-owned by us.

We will continue to evaluate other busindsgelopment opportunities as appropriate thadkstibckholder value and provide us with
access to the financial, technical, clinical anchowercial resources necessary to develop and mahleemacological chaperone therapeutics
and other technologies or products. We are exgquotential collaborations, alliances and otheiilrss development opportunities on a
regular basis. These opportunities may includeatttpiisition of preclinical-stage, clinical-stagenearketed products so long as such
transactions are consistent with our strategic matevelop and provide therapies to patients djwirith rare and orphan diseases, and suppor
our continued transformation from a developmergestzompany into a commercial biotechnology company.

Intellectual Property
Patents and Trade Secrets

Our success depends in part on our alidityaintain proprietary protection surrounding prwduct candidates, technology and know-
how, to operate without infringing the proprietaights of others, and to prevent others from irffing our proprietary rights. Our policy is to
seek to protect our proprietary position by filidgS. and foreign patent applications related toppoprietary technology, including both new
inventions and improvements of existing technoldbgt are important to the development of our bessnunless this proprietary position
would be better protected using trade secrets p@iant strategy includes obtaining patent protactidhere possible, on compositions of
matter, methods of manufacture, methods of usebowtion therapies, dosing and administration regis) formulations, therapeutic
monitoring, screening methods and assays. We algon trade secrets, know-how, continuing techgicll innovation, in-licensing and
partnership opportunities to develop and maintainpgsoprietary position. Lastly, we monitor thirdries for activities that may infringe our
proprietary rights, as well as the progressiorhofitparty patent applications that may have themital to create blocks to our products or
otherwise interfere with the development of ouribess. We are aware, for example, of U.S. patantscorresponding international
counterparts, owned by third parties that contdmts related replacement enzymes and small masdal treating protein misfolding. If any
of these patents were to be asserted against ds wet believe that our proposed products woultbbad to infringe any valid claim of these
patents. There is no assurance that a court wanddrf our favor or that, if we choose or are regdito seek a license, a license to any of thes
patents would be available to us on acceptablestemat all.

We own or license rights to several isspaiénts in the U.S., current member states of thefean Patent Convention and numerous
pending foreign applications, which are foreignmeuparts of many of our U.S. patents. We also omlicense rights to several pending U.S.
applications. Our patent portfolio includes pateartd patent applications with claims relating to
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methods of increasing deficient enzyme activityréat genetic diseases. The patent positions foalastat, pharmacological chaperone and
ERT combination therapy are described below anldidechoth patents and patent applications we ovexdusively license:

. We have an exclusive license to six issued U.®mathat cover use of migalastat to treat Falsgatie, as well as
corresponding European, Japanese and Canadianspdteese exclusively licensed U.S. patents rgjdtnmigalastat expire in
2018 (not including the Hatch-Waxman statutory egten, which is described below), while the Eurapelapanese and
Canadian patents will expire in 2019 (not includihg Supplemental Protection Certificates or SP@restons, which are
described below). The patents include claims cogemethods of increasing the activity of and préwegnthe degradation a@f -
GAL, and methods for the treatment of Fabry disemséeg migalastat . In addition, we own pending.&lications directed
dosing regimens with migalastat , which, if grant@ay result in patents that expire in 2027. Furthe own an issued U.S.
patent directed to synthetic steps related to ¢imensercial process for preparing migalastat, whiqgbires in 2026, as well as
issued patents in China, Hong Kong and Japan. gromsiunterpart applications are pending in Bré&iliope, Israel and India.
We jointly own one issued U.S. patent and one gddiexican patent covering a method of determinifigther male Fabry
patients are likely to respond to treatment witlgafastat which expires in 2027. Foreign counterppplications are pending in
Australia, Canada, Europe and Hong Kong. We haedssued U.S. patent covering a method of treaipgtient diagnosed
with Fabry disease with migalastat wherein the ¥alatient has one of severatgalactosidase A mutations. This patent will
expire in 2029. We also have a pending U.S. apiicaovering a method of determining whighgalactosidase A mutations
are likely to be amendable to therapy with migaasthich, if granted, will expire in 2029. Foreigaunterpart applications are
also pending in Europe, Japan, Canada, Mexico arstt&lia, which if granted, will also expire in 202

. We have an exclusive license to pending patepliGtions covering the co-administration of maght with ERT (recombinant
a -galactosidase A). Patents covering specific coatins have issued in Europe, China, India and Mexihese issued
patents will expire in 2024. Other applicationsnfirthis family are pending in the U.S., Europe, Gnd@razil, China, Hong
Kong, India, Israel, Japan and Mexico. If pateassie from these applications, expiration will b2@24. We also own a U.S.
provisional patent application covering specifice® and dosing regimens of migalastat to treatyFdibease in combination
with ERT (recombinantt -galactosidase A) in the U.S., Brazil, Canada, &€@hina, Europe, Hong Kong, Israel, India, Japan,
South Korea, Mexico, New Zealand, Singapore, Taiamh South Africa. If patents issue from theseiappbns, expiration wil
be in 2032 to 2033.

. We own a pending patent application covering a kigiicentration co-formulation of recombinant agiejlucosidase and
pharmacological chaperone in the U.S., Canada,feutdapan, Mexico and South Korea. If patents ifsne this international
application, expiration will be in 2033.

. We own a U.S. patent application covering a co-fdation of recombinant -galactosidase A and migalastat. If a patent issue
from this application, expiration will be in 2033.

. As part of the Callidus acquisition, we acquiredaa patent applications including an applicatsenies covering methods for
coupling targeting peptides to recombinant lysodanaymes, including recombinamt-galactosidase A. These applications
pending in the U.S., Europe, Japan, Brazil, Can@tima and the Republic of Korea. If patents idsom these applications,
expiration will be in 2032. Another patent applioatseries covers a variant recombin@rglucocerebrosidase which was filed

in the U.S., Europe, Japan, Brazil, Canada, Chidlatlae Republic of Korea. If patents issue fromséhapplications, expiration
will be in
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2031. Yet another patent application series conevel signal sequences to improve protein exprasaia secretion of proteir
These applications were filed in the U.S., Eurdia@an, Brazil, Canada, China and the Republic oé&df patents issue from
these applications, expiration will be in 2031.

Individual patents extend for varying pesalepending on the effective date of filing of tfaent application or the date of patent
issuance, and the legal term of the patents icdhatries in which they are obtained. Generallyepts issued in the U.S. are effective for:

. the longer of 17 years from the issue date or 20s/Fom the earliest effective filing date, if thatent application was filed pr
to June 8, 1995; and

. 20 years from the earliest effective filing dafahe patent application was filed on or after J8n&995.

The term of foreign patents varies in adeoce with provisions of applicable local law, bygically is 20 years from the earliest effective
filing date.

The U.S. Drug Price Competition and Pafesrtn Restoration Act of 1984, and amendments themedre commonly known as the Hatch-
Waxman Act, provides for an extension of one patembtwn as a HatcliYaxman statutory extension, for each NCE to comgaerfer a portiol
of the time spent in clinical development and ratprdy review. However, the maximum extension ig fjiears and the extension cannot exten
the patent beyond 14 years from New Drug ApplicafiiNDA") approval. Similar extensions are availabt European countries, known as
SPC extensions, Japan and other countries. Howeeerill not know what, if any, extensions are #afalie until a drug is approved. In
addition, in the U.S., under provisions of the Beisarmaceuticals for Children's Act, we may betlextito an additional six month period of
patent protection Market Exclusivity and Orphan @Exclusivity, for completing pediatric clinicalugties in response to a FDA issued
Pediatric Written Request before said exclusivigggire.

The patent positions of companies like @resgenerally uncertain and involve complex letgadhnical, scientific and factual questions.
Our ability to maintain and solidify our proprieggposition for our technology will depend on oucsess in promptly filing patent applications
on new discoveries, and in obtaining effectiverakiand enforcing those claims once granted. Wesfepacial attention on filing patent
applications for formulations and delivery regimémsour products in development to further enhamaepatent exclusivity for those produr
We seek to protect our proprietary technology amdgsses, in part, by contracting with our emplsyeellaborators, scientific advisors and
our commercial consultants to ensure that any ities resulting from the relationship are disclopeaimptly, maintained in confidence until a
patent application is filed and preferably untibpoation of the patent application, and assigreedst or subject to a right to obtain a license
do not know whether any of our own patent applaretior those patent applications that are licetsed will result in the issuance of any
patents. Our issued patents and those that mag iisdhe future, or those licensed to us, may ledl@hged, narrowed, invalidated or
circumvented or be found to be invalid or unenfaide, which could limit our ability to stop comgetis from marketing related products and
reduce the term of patent protection that we maaetiar our products. Neither we nor our licens@s be certain that we were the first to
invent the inventions claimed in our owned or liseth patents or patent applications. In addition,competitors may independently develop
similar technologies or duplicate any technologyaleped by us and the rights granted under angdpatents may not provide us with any
meaningful competitive advantages against theseetitars. Furthermore, because of the extensive teaquired for development, testing and
regulatory review of a potential product, it is pibde that any related patent may expire priorrtehwrtly after commencing commercializati
thereby reducing the advantage of the patent tdoosiness and products.
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We may rely, in some circumstances, onetisgtrets to protect our technology. However, temteets are difficult to protect. We seek to
protect our trade secret technology and processes/t, by entering into confidentiality agreemewith commercial partners, collaborators,
employees, consultants, scientific advisors andratbntractors, and by contracting with our empésyand some of our commercial
consultants to ensure that any trade secrets irggfiiom such employment or consulting are ownedibyWe also seek to preserve the inte
and confidentiality of our data and trade secrgtmhintaining physical security of our premises phgsical and electronic security of our
information technology systems. While we have atetfice in these individuals, organizations and syst@agreements or security measures
may be breached, and we may not have adequate imnfedany breach. In addition, our trade seareyg otherwise become known or be
discovered independently by others. To the exteattaur consultants, contractors or collaboratsesiatellectual property owned by others in
their work for us, disputes may arise as to thbtsgn related or resulting know-how and inventions

License Agreements

We have acquired rights to develop and ceraralize our product candidates through licensanstgd by various parties. For information
regarding our migalastat collaboration with GSkegdle see "Strategic Alliances and Arrangements/ealber our other license agreements,
the following summarizes our material rights antigattions under those licenses:

. Mt. Sinai School of Medicine— We have acquired exclusive worldwide patenttsgh develop and commercialize migalastat
and other pharmacological chaperones for the ptmrear treatment of human diseases or clinicaditons by increasing the
activity of wild-type and mutant enzymes pursuanaficense agreement with Mt. Sinai School of Madi ("MSSM") of New
York University. In connection with this agreement issued 232,266 shares of our common stock t8NHE8 April 2002. In
October 2006, we issued MSSM an additional 133s3@8es of common stock and made a payment of $li@min
consideration of an expanded field of use underlitense. Under this agreement, to date we haienmaupfront or annual
license fees and we have no milestone or futurenpays other than royalties on net sales. Howemadcitober 2008, we
amended and restated this license agreement tmcaatber items, provide us with the sole rightaatecol the prosecution of
patent rights under such agreement and to cldréypbrtion of royalties and milestone payments eeeived from Shire that
were payable to MSSM. In connection therewith, weead to pay MSSM $2.6 million in connection witke t$50 million
upfront payment that we received in November 200mfShire, our former collaborator, which was aliyeaccrued for at year-
end 2007, and an additional $2.6 million for thees@ht to and control over the prosecution ofepatrights. In addition, we pe
MSSM $3 million of the $30 million upfront paymergceived from GSK in the fourth quarter of 2010isTégreement expires
upon expiration of the last of the licensed patagitts, which will be in 2019, subject to any paterm extension that may be
granted, or 2024 if we develop a product for coratiom therapy (pharmacological chaperone plus ERitl)a patent issues fr
the pending application covering the combinaticeraipy, subject to any patent term extension thatlmegranted.

Under our license agreements, if we owelt@s on net sales for one of our products to nilwéi@ one of the above licensors, then we
have the right to reduce the royalties owed tolmesmsor for royalties paid to another. The amafrbyalties to be offset is generally limited
in each license and can vary under each agreefemnmigalastat, we will owe royalties only to MSSd will owe no milestone payments.
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Our rights with respect to these agreemientievelop and commercialize migalastat may teasinin whole or in part, if we fail to meet
certain development or commercialization requiretsien if we do not meet our obligations to makeattypayments.

Trademarks

In addition to our patents and trade ssckeé own certain trademarks in the U.S. and/avadrincluding AMICUS
THERAPEUTICS® & design, AMICUS THERAPEUTICS® and BRT®. At present, all of the U.S. trademark appiimas for these marks
have been either filed or registered by the U.$rmand Trademark Office.

Manufacturing

We continue to rely on contract manufaatite supply the active pharmaceutical ingrediants final drug product for migalastat, other
pharmacological chaperones and our next-gener&fith product candidates. The active pharmaceuticgedients and final formulations for
these products are manufactured under current gaoaifacturing practices ("cGMP"). The componenthenfinal formulation for each
product are commonly used in other pharmaceuticalycts and are well characterized ingredients hélee implemented appropriate controls
for assuring the quality of both active pharmaamitingredients and final drug products. Produetdjrations will be established in
concurrence with regulatory bodies at the timerofipct registration.

Competition
Overview

The biotechnology and pharmaceutical imisiare characterized by rapidly advancing teabgiek, intense competition and a strong
emphasis on proprietary products. In addition, s#varge pharmaceutical companies are increasiioglysed on developing therapies for the
treatment of rare diseases, both through orgaowtrand acquisitions and partnerships. While wibe that our technologies, knowledge,
experience and scientific resources, provide uls eempetitive advantages, we face potential cortipetirom many different sources,
including commercial enterprises, academic institig, government agencies and private and puldigareh institutions. Any product
candidates that we successfully develop and comatigecwill compete with both existing and new thgies that may become available in the
future.

Many of our competitors may have signifidaigreater financial resources and expertise aagatwith research and development,
regulatory approvals and marketing approved pradUdiese competitors also compete with us in réieguand retaining qualified scientific
and management personnel, as well as in acquitigiblogies complementary to, or necessary forpoagrams. Smaller or early stage
companies may also prove to be significant commstiparticularly through collaborative arrangemesith large and established companies.

Our commercial opportunities could be redtlior eliminated if our competitors develop and swrtialize products that are safer, more
effective, have fewer side effects, are more comrgror are less expensive than products that wedaaelop. In addition, our ability to
compete may be affected because in some casesiigsurother third party payors seek to encourageise of generic products. This may |
the effect of making branded products less attradt buyers.

Major Competitors

Our major competitors include pharmaceltca biotechnology companies in the U.S. and abtbat have approved therapies or
therapies in development for lysosomal storagerdéess within our core programs. Other competitoespharmaceutical and biotechnology
companies that have
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approved therapies or therapies in developmergdaetic diseases for which pharmacological chagetechnology may be applicable.
Additionally, we are aware of several early-stagehe pharmaceutical and biotechnology companiasselgore business revolves around
protein misfolding; however, we are not aware #rat of these companies is currently working to ttgv@roducts that would directly comp
with ours. The key competitive factors affecting Buccess of our product candidates are likeletthbir efficacy, safety, convenience and

price.

Any product candidates that we successfiglyelop and commercialize will compete with exigttherapies and new therapies that may
become available in the future. The following talidés our principal competitors and publicly agdile information on the status of their
product offerings (U.S. dollars in millions):

Competitor Indication Product Class of Product Status 2014 Sale:
(in millions
USD)

sanofi aventi Fabry diseas Fabrazym® ERT Marketed $ 61C
Pompe diseas Myozyme®/ Lumizyme® ERT Marketed $ 72C
Fabry diseas GZ402671 Oral GCS Inhibitol Phase : N/A
Pompe diseas = GZ402666 ("neo GAA" ERT Phase : N/A
Shire Fabry diseas Replage® ERT Marketed $ 50C
Biomarin Pharmaceutical, In¢ Pompe diseas BMN-701 ERT Phase 2/: N/A
MPS | Aldurazyme® ERT Marketed $ 10€
Protalix Biotherapeutic Fabry diseas PRX-102 ERT Phase 1/: N/A

Government Regulation

FDA Approval Process

In the U.S., pharmaceutical products algesii to extensive regulation by the FDA. The FatEpod, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, Public
Health Services Act and other federal and statetssand regulations, govern, among other thimgstesearch, development, testing,
manufacture, storage, recordkeeping, approvallitahgromotion and marketing, distribution, pogpeoval monitoring and reporting,
sampling, and import and export of pharmaceuticatipcts. Failure to comply with applicable U.S.uigments may subject a company to a
variety of administrative or judicial sanctionschias FDA refusal to file a marketing applicatitmissue Complete Response letters or to not
approve pending NDAs or biologic product licensplegations (BLAS), warning letters, product recapisoduct seizures, total or partial
suspension of production or distribution, injunosofines, civil penalties, litigation, governmémgestigation and criminal prosecution.

Pharmaceutical product development in ti. typically involves nonclinical laboratory andimal tests, the submission to the FDA o
investigational new drug application ("IND"), whichust become effective before clinical testing magpnmence, and adequate and well-
controlled clinical trials to establish the safatyd effectiveness of the drug for each indicatmmwhich FDA approval is sought. Satisfactio
FDA pre-market approval requirements typically takeany years and the actual time required variestantially based upon the type,
complexity and novelty of the product or diseagechnical tests include laboratory evaluation odguct chemistry, formulation and toxicity,
as well as animal studies to assess the charaittgrigotential safety and efficacy of the prodddte conduct of the preclinical tests must
comply with federal regulations and requirementduding Good Laboratory Practices. The resultsretlnical testing are submitted to the
FDA as part of an IND along with other informatimeluding information about product chemistry, méamturing and controls and at least one
proposed clinical trial protocol. Long-term predtial safety evaluations, such as animal testsgrbauctive toxicity and carcinogenicity,
continue during the IND phase of development. Rapetive toxicity studies are required to allow umibn of women of child bearing poten
in clinical trials, whereas carcinogenicity studae required for registration. The results of ¢hiemg term studies would eventually be
described in product labeling.
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A 30-day review period after the submissaonl receipt of an IND is required prior to the coemcement of clinical testing in humans.
The IND becomes effective 30 days after its redeypthe FDA, and trials may begin at that pointessithe FDA notifies the sponsor that the
investigations are subject to a clinical hold.

Clinical trials involve the administratior the investigational new drug to healthy volumsear patients under the supervision of a
qualified investigator. Clinical trials must be clutted in compliance with applicable governmentitatipns, good clinical practices ("GCP"),
as well as under protocols detailing the objectivethe trial, the parameters to be used in moinigpsafety and the effectiveness criteria to be
evaluated. Each protocol involving testing on Uh&ients and subsequent protocol amendments msstiimeitted to the FDA as part of the
IND.

The FDA may order the temporary or permadéetontinuation of a clinical trial at any timeimpose other sanctions if it believes that
the clinical trial is not being conducted in acarde with FDA requirements or presents an unacbkptesk to the clinical trial patients. The
study protocol and informed consent informationgatients in clinical trials must also be submitteén institutional review board ("IRB"), 1
approval. An IRB may also require the clinical taathe site to be halted, either temporarily empanently, for failure to comply with the
IRB's requirements, or may impose other conditions.

Clinical trials to support a NDA or BLA fonarketing approval are typically conducted in ¢hsequential phases, but the phases may
overlap. In Phase 1, the initial introduction of dfrug into healthy human subjects or patientsdthg is tested to assess metabolism,
pharmacokinetics, pharmacological actions, sidect$fassociated with increasing doses and, if plessarly evidence on effectiveness.
Phase 2 usually involves trials in a limited patigopulation, to determine the effectiveness ofdhey for a particular indication or indications,
dosage tolerance and optimum dosage, and idemtifyron adverse effects and safety risks. If a comgaemonstrates evidence of
effectiveness and an acceptable safety profilehasP 2 evaluations, Phase 3 trials are undertakelotain the additional information about
clinical efficacy and safety in a larger numbepafients over longer treatment periods, typicallgengraphically dispersed clinical trial sites,
to permit FDA to evaluate the overall benefit-rigkationship of the drug and to provide adequdiarimation for the labeling of the drug.

After completion of the required clinicabkting, an NDA or BLA is prepared and submittethes FDA. FDA approval of the NDA or BL
is required before marketing of the product mayité@ythe U.S. The NDA or BLA must include the rlswof all preclinical, clinical and other
testing and a compilation of data relating to thedpict's pharmacology, chemistry, manufacture,cmdrols. The cost of preparing and
submitting an NDA or BLA is substantial. Under fealdaw, the submission of most NDAs and BLAs iglitidnally subject to a substantial
application user fee; although for Orphan Drugséhfees are waived, and the holder of an approi2d df BLA may also be subject to
annual product and establishment user fees. Tleeseafe typically increased annually.

The FDA has 60 days from its receipt oA or BLA to determine whether the application Mié accepted for filing based on the
agency's threshold determination that it is sudfitly complete to permit substantive review. Oreedubmission is accepted for filing, the
FDA begins an in-depth review. The FDA has agreeckttain performance goals in the review of NDisrketing applications are assigned
review status during the filing period. Review s&atould be either standard or priority. Most saphlications for standard review are revie
within 12 months under PDUFA V (2 months for filiptus ten months for review. The FDA attempts tdew a drug candidate that is eligible
for priority review within six months, as discusdssglow. The review process may be extended by FibAhiree additional months to evaluate
major amendments submitted during the pre-speddBYFA V review clock The FDA may also refer apptions for novel drug products or
drug products which present difficult questionsafety or efficacy to an Advisory Committee for paleview,
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typically a panel that includes clinicians and otheperts, for review, evaluation and a recommeadats to whether the application should be
approved. The FDA is not bound by the recommendatfaan Advisory Committee, but it generally follswuch recommendations. Before
approving an NDA or BLA, the FDA will typically inect one or more clinical sites to assure compéiamith GCP. Additionally, the FDA wi
inspect the facility or the facilities at which tbeug is manufactured. FDA will not approve thedaret unless compliance with current Good
Manufacturing Practices is satisfactory and the N@ABLA contains data that provide substantial ewick that the drug is safe and effective il
the indication studied and to be marketed.

After FDA evaluates the NDA or BLA and tmanufacturing facilities, it issues an approvaidebr a complete response letter. Complete
response letters outline the deficiencies in thmrsssion that prevent approval and may requiretankial additional testing or information for
the FDA to reconsider the application. If and witerse deficiencies have been addressed to the Fafidaction in an amendment submitted
to the NDA or BLA, the FDA will then issue an appabletter. FDA has committed to reviewing suctut@grissions in 2 or 6 months
depending on the type and extent of informatiofuited.

An approval letter authorizes commerciathating of the drug with specific prescribing infioation for specific indications. As a
condition of NDA approval, the FDA may require stapdial post-approval commitments to conduct adddl testing and/ or surveillance to
monitor the drug's safety or efficacy and may ingoother conditions, including distribution and Iéhg restrictions which can materially affi
the potential market and profitability of the dr@nce granted, product approvals may be withdrdwarmpliance with regulatory standards is
not maintained, problems are identified followimdfinl marketing or post-marketing commitments aoé met.

The Hatch-Waxman Act

In seeking approval for a drug through @A\ applicants are required to list with the FDAteén patent(s) with claims that cover the
applicant's product or approved method of use. Ugpproval of a drug, each of the patents listethénapplication for the drug is then
published in the FDA's Approved Drug Products Witterapeutic Equivalence Evaluations, commonly knasithe Orange Book. Drugs lis:
in the Orange Book can, in turn, be cited by péakcompetitors in support of approval of an ablatad new drug application ("ANDA"). An
ANDA provides for marketing of a drug product tihais the same route of administration, active ingred strength and dosage form as the
listed drug and has been shown through bioequigalésting to be, in most cases, therapeuticaliyvatent to the listed drug. ANDA
applicants are not required to conduct or subnrsitlte of preclinical or clinical tests to prove ety or effectiveness of their drug product,
other than the requirement for bioequivalencengstbrugs approved in this way are commonly refitoeas "generic equivalents” to the lis
drug and can often be substituted by pharmacisterysrescriptions written for the original listéghnovator” drug.

The ANDA applicant is required to certifythe FDA concerning any patents listed for therapgd product in the FDA's Orange Book.
Specifically, the applicant must certify that: tfie required patent information has not been fi{@dthe listed patent has expired; (iii) the &idt
patent has not expired, but will expire on a patticdate and approval is sought after patent aetipir; or (iv) the listed patent is invalid or will
not be infringed by the new product. A certificatithat the new product will not infringe the alrgabproved product's listed patents or that
such patents are invalid is called a Paragraphtification. If the applicant does not challenge tisted patents, the ANDA application will not
be approved until all the listed patents claiming teferenced product have expired.

If the ANDA applicant submits a Paragraptedtification to the FDA, the applicant must at&md notice of the Paragraph 4 certification
to the NDA and patent holders once the ANDA hasbee
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accepted for filing by the FDA. The NDA and patbotders may then initiate a patent infringementsaitvin response to the notice of the
Paragraph 4 certification. The filing of a paterftingement lawsuit within 45 days of the receipad?aragraph 4 certification automatically
prevents the FDA from approving the ANDA until tharlier of 30 months, expiration of the patentileetent of the lawsuit or a decision in
infringement case that is favorable to the ANDA lagzmt.

Patent term and data exclusivity run irefial. An ANDA application also will not be appray@ntil any non-patent exclusivity, such as
exclusivity for obtaining approval of a new chenhieatity, listed in the Orange Book for the refared product has expired (New Chemical
Entity Market Exclusivity). Federal law providegariod of five years following approval of a drugntaining no previously approved active
ingredients, during which ANDAs for generic verssasf those drugs cannot be submitted unless thaisalon contains a Paragraph 4
certification that challenges a listed patent, lrich case the submission may be made four yedowfiolg the original product approval.
Federal law provides for a period of three yearsxalusivity following approval of a listed drugahcontains previously approved active
ingredients but is approved in a new dosage foouterof administration or combination, or for a nese, the approval of which was required
to be supported by new clinical trials conductedbyor the sponsor, during which FDA cannot grafifiéctive approval of an ANDA based on
that listed drug for the same new dosage formgrofiedministration or combination, or new use.

Other Regulatory Requirements

Once an NDA or BLA is approved, a produdt lae subject to certain post-approval requirerseRrbr instance, FDA closely regulates the
post-approval marketing and promotion of drugsiuding standards and regulations for direct-to-comsr advertising, communications
regarding unindicated uses, industry-sponsoreasfiteand educational activities and promotionetivdties involving the internet.

Drugs may be promoted only for approveddations and in accordance with the provisionshefapproved labeling. Changes to some o
the conditions established in an approved apptinaincluding changes in indications, new safefgrmation, labeling, or manufacturing
processes or facilities, require submission and Epproval of a new NDA, NDA supplement, BLA or Blstipplement before the change can
be implemented. New efficacy claims require subioisand approval of an NDA supplement and BLA sapmnt for each new indication.
The efficacy claims typically require new clinigidta similar to that included in the original apption. The FDA uses the same procedure
actions in reviewing NDA and BLA supplements agddes in reviewing NDAs and BLAs. Additional exclisy may be granted for new
efficacy claims. Generic ANDA cannot be labeledtfase types of claims until the new exclusivityipe expires.

Adverse event reporting and submissionesigalic reports is required following FDA approwdlan NDA or BLA. The FDA also may
require post-marketing testing, known as Phasstihtg risk evaluation and mitigation strategied aarveillance to monitor the effects of an
approved product, or place conditions on an appiwad could restrict the distribution or use o froduct. In addition, quality control as well
as drug manufacture, packaging, and labeling proesdmust continue to conform to cGMPs, after apgdrdrug manufacturers and certain
subcontractors are required to register their éstahents with FDA and certain state agencies,ardubject to routine inspections by the
FDA during which the agency inspects manufactufagiities to access compliance with cGMPs. Accogtly, manufacturers must continue
expend time, money and effort in the areas of prtdn and quality control to maintain complianceéGMPs. Regulatory authorities may
withdraw product approvals or request product fed¢hh company fails to comply with regulatory stiards, if it encounters problems
following initial marketing, or if previously unregnized problems are subsequently discovered.
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Orphan Drugs

Under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA may gr@mphan drug designation to drugs intended td &eare disease or condition, which is
generally a disease or condition that affects fewan 200,000 individuals in the U.S. Orphan dragighation must be requested before
submitting an NDA or BLA. After the FDA grants ol drug designation, the generic identity of thegdand its potential orphan use are
disclosed publicly by the FDA. Orphan drug desigratioes not convey any advantage in or shorteduh&tion of the regulatory review and
approval process. The first NDA or BLA applicanttwiDA orphan drug designation for a particulanacingredient to receive FDA approval
of the designated drug for the disease indicatiowhich it has such designation, is entitled se@enyear exclusive marketing period (Orpt
Drug Exclusivity) in the U.S. for that product, fibrat indication. During the seven-year period, FREA may not finally approve any other
applications to market the same drug for the saiseade, except in limited circumstances, suchsh®wing of clinical superiority to the
product with orphan drug exclusivity or if the liese holder cannot supply sufficient quantitieshef product. Orphan drug exclusivity does not
prevent FDA from approving a different drug for teme disease or condition, or the same drug ddfexent disease or condition, provided
that the sponsor has conducted appropriate clitiied$ required for approval. Among the other dgs@f orphan drug designation are tax
credits for certain research and a waiver of theANID BLA application user fee for the orphan indioa.

Pediatric Information

Under the Pediatric Research Equity AQ@7 ("PREA"), NDAs or supplements to NDAs musttaémdata to assess the safety and
effectiveness of the drug for the claimed indicasiin all relevant pediatric subpopulations andupport dosing and administration for each
pediatric subpopulation for which the drug is safie effective. The FDA may grant deferrals for sigsion of data or full or partial waivers.
Unless otherwise required by regulation, PREA dassapply to any drug for an indication for whictpban designation has been granted.

Fast Track Designation

Under the Fast Track program, the sponsandND may request FDA to designate the drug hatd as a Fast Track drug if it is
intended to treat a serious condition and fulfilllmmet medical need. FDA must determine if thegdrandidate qualifies for Fast Track
designation within 60 days of receipt of the spassequest. Once FDA designates a drug as a Fadt Tandidate, it is required to facilitate
the development and expedite the review of thag ésuproviding more frequent communication with guidance to the sponsor.

In addition to other benefits such as thiditg to use surrogate endpoints and have greateractions with FDA, FDA may initiate review
of sections of a Fast Track drug's NDA or BLA beftine application is complete. This rolling revisnavailable if the applicant provides and
FDA approves a schedule for the submission oféngaining information and the applicant pays applieaser fees. However, FDA's review
period as specified under PDUFA V for filing andieving an application does not begin until the kesction of the NDA or BLA has been
submitted. Additionally, the Fast Track designatimay be withdrawn by FDA if FDA believes that thesiynation is no longer supported by
data emerging in the clinical trial process.

Priority Review

Under FDA policies, a drug candidate igiéle for priority review, or review within six-mains from filing for a New Molecular Entity
("NME") or six months from submission for a non-NNfEhe drug candidate provides a significant imgnment compared to marketed drugs
in the treatment, diagnosis or prevention of aatise A Fast Track designated drug candidate wadidarily meet FDA's criteria for priority
review. The FDA makes its determination of priotystandard review during the 8@y filing period after an initial NDA or BLA subisgion.

-21-




Table of Contents
Accelerated Approval

Under FDA's accelerated approval regulati¢iDA may approve a drug for a serious or lifee#itening illness that provides meaningful
therapeutic benefit to patients over existing treaits based upon a surrogate endpoint that isreblsolikely to predict clinical benefit. This
approval mechanism is provided for under 21CRF3il#p&rt H. In this case, clinical trials are conédcdin which a biomarker is used as the
primary outcome for approval. This biomarker suhbgts for a direct measurement of how a patiens féenctions, or survives. Such
biomarkers can often be measured more easily oe maidly than clinical endpoints. A drug candidapgroved on this basis is subject to
rigorous post-marketing compliance requirementduiting the completion of Phase 4 or post-approlmical trials to confirm the effect on
the clinical endpoint. When the Phase 4 commitrieesticcessfully completed, the biomarker is deetodx a surrogate endpoint. Failure to
conduct required post-approval studies, or conéirofinical benefit during post-marketing studiesuid lead FDA to withdraw the drug from
the market on an expedited basis. All promotionatarials for drug candidates approved under actel@regulations are subject to prior
review by FDA.

Section 505(b) (2) New Drug Applications

Most drug products obtain FDA marketing rappl pursuant to an NDA, an ANDA or BLA. A four#iternative is a special type of NDA,
commonly referred to as a Section 505(b) (2) NDAich enables the applicant to rely, in part, ongafety and efficacy data of an existing
product, or published literature, in support ofafgplication.

505(b) (2) NDAs often provide an alternp#th to FDA approval for new or improved formulatsoor new uses of previously approved
products. Section 505(b)(2) permits the submiseicen NDA where at least some of the informatioruiesd for approval comes from studies
not conducted by or for the applicant and for whtod applicant has not obtained a right of refeeefitie applicant may rely upon certain
preclinical or clinical studies conducted for apagved product. The FDA may also require compattgserform additional studies or
measurements to support the change from the apprreeluct. The FDA may then approve the new prodactidate for all or some of the
label indications for which the referenced proches been approved, as well as for any new indicaaght by the Section 505(b)

(2) applicant.

To the extent that the Section 505(b) (#)ligant is relying on studies conducted for aeadly approved product, the applicant is require
to certify to the FDA concerning any patents listedthe approved product in the Orange Book tostirme extent that an ANDA applicant
would. Thus approval of a 505(b)(2) NDA can belsthuntil all the listed patents claiming the refeced product have expired, until any non-
patent exclusivity, such as exclusivity for obtamiapproval of a new chemical entity, listed in @m@nge Book for the referenced product has
expired, and, in the case of a Paragraph 4 cattiific and subsequent patent infringement suit| thiearlier of 30 months, settlement of the
lawsuit or a decision in the infringement case thdavorable to the Section 505(b)(2) applicant.

Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010

The Biologics Price Competition and InndeatAct of 2009 ("BPCIA"), which was enacted astpHrthe Patient Protection and
Affordable Care Act of 2010, as amended by the tHeahre and Education Reconciliation Act of 201PRACA") created an abbreviated
approval pathway for biological products that aeendnstrated to be "biosimilar” or "interchangealéh an FDA-licensed reference
biological product via an approved BLA. Biosimikgrto an approved reference product requires tieetbe no differences in conditions of
use, route of administration, dosage form, andhgtte and no clinically meaningful differences beén the biological product and
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the reference product in terms of safety, puritd potency. Biosimilarity is demonstrated in stbpginning with rigorous analytical studies or
"fingerprinting", in vitro studiesjn vivo, animal studies, and generally at least one dlrstudy, absent a waiver from the Secretary ofitHea
and Human Services. The biosimilarity exercisestést hypothesis that the investigational prodadtthe reference product are the same. If
any point in the stepwise biosimilarity processgmiicant difference is observed, then the prodwe not biosimilar, and the development
stand-alone NDA or BLA is necessary. In order teetribe higher hurdle of interchangeability, a spomsust demonstrate that the biosimilar
product can be expected to produce the same dliisalt as the reference product, and for a prothat is administered more than once, that
the risk of switching between the reference produnct biosimilar product is not greater than thke asmaintaining the patient on the reference
product. Complexities associated with the larged aften more complex, structures of biologicaldarats, as well as the process by which
products are manufactured, pose significant hutdl@mplementation that are still being evaluatgdh®e FDA. Under the BPCIA, a reference
biologic is granted twelve years of exclusivityrfrdhe time of first licensure of the reference pratd

Anti-Kickback, False Claims Laws & The Prescriptidbrug Marketing Act

In addition to FDA restrictions on marketiaf pharmaceutical products, several other typesate and federal laws have been applied tc
restrict certain marketing practices in the phamugical industry in recent years. These laws ineladti-kickback statutes and false claims
statutes. The federal healthcare program anti-kicklstatute prohibits, among other things, knowiragid willfully offering, paying, soliciting
or receiving remuneration to induce or in returngarchasing, leasing, ordering or arranging ferplrchase, lease or order of any healthcare
item or service reimbursable under Medicare, Mddioa other federally financed healthcare prograniiss statute has been interpreted to
apply to arrangements between pharmaceutical metouéss on the one hand and prescribers, purchasdrrmulary managers on the other.
Violations of the anti-kickback statute are puntdkaby imprisonment, criminal fines, civil monetggnalties and exclusion from participation
in federal healthcare programs. Although theresamember of statutory exemptions and regulatorg bafbors protecting certain common
activities from prosecution or other regulatory ct@oms, the exemptions and safe harbors are drannowly, and practices that involve
remuneration intended to induce prescribing, pwsehar recommendations may be subject to scrdtthgy do not qualify for an exemption
or safe harbor.

Federal false claims laws prohibit any parfom knowingly presenting, or causing to be présd, a false claim for payment to the
federal government, or knowingly making, or caudim¢pe made, a false statement to have a falsm gaid. Recently, several pharmaceutical
and other healthcare companies have been prosamiuded these laws for allegedly inflating drug pacthey report to pricing services, which
in turn were used by the government to set MediaateMedicaid reimbursement rates, and for allggpdividing free product to customers
with the expectation that the customers wouldfbileral programs for the product. In addition, @iermarketing practices, including off-label
promotion, may also violate false claims laws. Tiggority of states also have statutes or regulatgmilar to the federal anti-kickback law
and false claims laws, which apply to items andises, reimbursed under Medicaid and other staigrams, or, in several states, apply
regardless of the payor.

Physician Drug Samples

As part of the sales and marketing progasarmaceutical companies frequently provide sasnpl@pproved drugs to physicians. The
Prescription Drug Marketing Act (the "PDMA") impaseequirements and limitations upon the provisibdrag samples to physicians, as well
as prohibits states from licensing distributorpiascription drugs unless the state licensing jamgmeets certain
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federal guidelines that include minimum standamitsstorage, handling and record keeping. In additiee PDMA sets forth civil and criminal
penalties for violations.

Regulation Outside the U.S.

In addition to regulations in the U.S., wil be subject to a variety of regulations in atfgisdictions governing clinical studies and
commercial sales and distribution of our produktsst countries outside the U.S. require that clihtdal applications be submitted to and
approved by the local regulatory authority for ealihical study. In addition, whether or not we abtFDA approval for a product, we must
obtain approval of a product by the comparable letgry authorities of countries outside the U.Sobewe can commence clinical studies or
marketing of the product in those countries. Theragal process varies from country to country, dredtime may be longer or shorter than
required for FDA approval.

To obtain regulatory approval of an orpkdamg under EU regulatory systems, we are mandatsdimit marketing authorization
applications in a Centralized Procedure. The Cémtiéh Procedure, which is compulsory for medicipasduced by certain biotechnological
processes and optional for those which are higiripvative, provides for the grant of a single mérigeauthorization that is valid for all EU
member states. The Decentralized Procedure profodepproval by one or more other, or concerneginimer states of an assessment of an
application performed by one member state, knowth@seference member state. Under this proceduarapplicant submits an application, or
dossier, and related materials including a drafirsary of product characteristics, and draft lalgeind package leaflet, to the reference
member state and concerned member states. Thermreéemember state prepares a draft assessmentadisdod the related materials within
120 days after receipt of a valid application. WitB0 days of receiving the reference member stasessment report, each concerned
member state must decide whether to approve tlesssent report and related materials. If a menthe sannot approve the assessment
report and related materials on the grounds ofriiatieserious risk to the public health, the diggupoints may eventually be referred to the
European Commission, whose decision is bindingllomember states.

We have obtained an orphan medicinal prodesignation in the EU from the EMA for migaladiat the treatment of Fabry disease. The
EMA grants orphan drug designation to promote #heetbpment of products that may offer therapeutiediits for life-threatening or
chronically debilitating conditions affecting noone than five in 10,000 people in the EU. In additiorphan drug designation can be granted
if the drug is intended for a life threatening,isesly debilitating or serious and chronic conditia the EU and that without incentives it is
unlikely that sales of the drug in the EU wouldsbéficient to justify developing the drug. Orphamig designation is only available if there is
no other satisfactory method approved in the Ediafnosing, preventing or treating the conditianif such a method exists, the proposed
orphan drug will be of significant benefit to patis.

Orphan drug designation provides opporiemitor fee reductions for protocol assistanceawkss to the centralized regulatory
procedures before and during the first year afterketing approval, which reductions are not limitedhe first year after marketing approval
for small and medium enterprises. In addition, fraduct which has an orphan drug designation sulestly receives EMA marketing
approval for the indication for which it has suasigination, the product is entitled to orphan d¥agusivity, which means the EMA may not
approve any other application to market the samg tbr the same indication for a period of ten gedhe exclusivity period may be reduced
to six years if the designation criteria are nagleenmet, including where it is shown that the peids sufficiently profitable not to justify
maintenance of market exclusivity. Competitors megeive marketing approval of different drugs aldics for the indications for which the
orphan product has exclusivity. In order to dorsmyever, they must demonstrate that the new dru@®lmgics provide a significant benefit
over the existing orphan product. This demonstnatib
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significant benefit may be done at the time ofiahiapproval or in post-approval studies, dependinghe type of marketing authorization
granted.

Pharmaceutical Pricing and Reimbursement

In the U.S. and markets in other countsedes of any products for which we receive regmaapproval for commercial sale will depend
in part on the availability of reimbursement frohirdl party payors. Third party payors include goweent health administrative authorities,
managed care providers, private health insurers#ret organizations. These third party payorsrameeasingly challenging the price and
examining the cost-effectiveness of medical proslacid services. In addition, significant uncertaetists as to the reimbursement status of
newly approved healthcare product candidates. Wermead to conduct expensive pharmacoeconomic studigrder to demonstrate the cost-
effectiveness of our products. Our product canéslatay not be considered cost-effective. Adeqimate party reimbursement may not be
available to enable us to maintain price levelfigeht to realize an appropriate return on ourestment in product development.

In 2003, the U.S. government enacted latitsi providing a partial prescription drug benédit Medicare recipients that began in 2006.
Government payment for some of the costs of pnesen drugs may increase demand for any productwffiicch we receive marketing
approval. However, to obtain payments under thigjiam, we would be required to sell products to el recipients through managed care
organizations and other health care delivery systeperating pursuant to this legislation. Thesawizations would negotiate prices for our
products, which are likely to be lower than we ntigtherwise obtain. Federal, state and local gawemts in the U.S. continue to consider
legislation to limit the growth of healthcare costeluding the cost of prescription drugs. Futlegislation could limit payments for
pharmaceuticals such as the drug candidates thatewgeveloping.

The marketability of any products for whielk receive regulatory approval for commercial sadgy suffer if the government and third
party payors fail to provide adequate coverageraimbursement. In addition, an increasing empl@sisianaged care in the U.S. has
increased and will continue to increase the pressarpharmaceutical pricing.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had 97 fulletiemployees, 68 of whom were primarily engage@search and development activities and
29 of whom provide administrative services. A tabP5 employees have an M.D. or Ph.D. degree. NMéoeir employees are represented
labor union. We have not experienced any work sigpp and consider our employee relations to be.good

Our Corporate Information

We were incorporated under the laws ofStege of Delaware on February 4, 2002. Our prin@gacutive offices are located at 1 Cedar
Brook Drive, Cranbury, NJ 08512 and our telephomalper is (609) 662-2000. Our website addregsas.amicusrx.comWe make available
free of charge on our website our annual, quartanly current reports, including amendments to sepbrts, as soon as reasonably practicabl
after we electronically file such material with,farnish such material to, the U.S. Securities BRchange Commission.

Information relating to our corporate gawance, including our Code of Business Conduct fopByees, Executive Officers and
Directors, Corporate Governance Guidelines, angrinétion concerning our senior management teanr,dBafaDirectors, including Board
Committees and Committee charters, and transadtiomsr securities by directors and executive effi; is available on our website at
www.amicusrx.cormander the "Investors — Corporate Governance" cagitd in
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print to any stockholder upon request. Any waivarmaterial amendments to the Code will be postedhptly on our website.

We have filed applications to register aertrademarks in the U.S. and abroad, including @S THERAPEUTICS® and design and
AMICUS THERAPETUICS®. Fabrazyme®, Myozyme®, Lumizg®, and Replagal® are the property of their regpedwners.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The occurrence of any of the following risks cdudaim our business, financial condition, result®pérations and/or growth prospects.
In that case, the trading price of our common stoalkld decline, and you may lose all or part of yimvestment. You should understand thi
is not possible to predict or identify all suchkss Consequently, you should not consider thevitig to be a complete discussion of all
potential risks or uncertaintie:

Risks Related to Our Business, Financial Positionnal Need for Additional Capital

We have incurred significant operating losses sirmdr inception. We currently do not, and since inmt@n never have had, any
products available for commercial sale. We expextrtcur operating losses for the foreseeable futimed may never achieve or
maintain profitability.

Since inception, we have incurred signiftcaperating losses. Our accumulated deficit wa$million as of December 31, 2014. To
date, we have financed our operations primarilgdgh private placements of our redeemable conVeniteferred stock, proceeds from our
initial public and secondary stock offerings, déncings and from our collaboration agreements.h&ve devoted substantially all of our
efforts to research and development, includingpraclinical development activities and clinicabts. We have not completed development of
any drugs. We expect to continue to incur signiftand increasing operating losses for at leashétxt several years and we are unable to
predict the extent of any future losses as we:

. continue our ongoing Phase 3 clinical trials of atégtat for the treatment of Fabry disease to suppgulatory approval in the
United States and worldwide;

. begin Phase 1/2 clinical studies of migalastatamiaistered or co-formulated with ERT for Fabryatdise;

. continue our preclinical studies on the use of pteaological chaperones co-formulated and co-adteirgd with ERT for
Fabry, Pompe and other lysosomal storage diseases;

. continue the research and development of additiproduct candidates;
. seek regulatory approvals for our product caaigisl that successfully complete clinical trialgj an
. establish a sales and marketing infrastructur@torngercialize products for which we may obtain retmty approval.

To become and remain profitable, we mustsed in developing and commercializing drugs witimificant market potential. This will
require us to be successful in a range of chaliengctivities, including the discovery of produandidates, successful completion of
preclinical testing and clinical trials of our prart candidates, obtaining regulatory approval iese product candidates and manufacturing,
marketing and selling those products for which waymbtain regulatory approval. We are only in theiminary stages of these activities. We
may never succeed in these activities and may remmezrate revenues that are large enough to aghiefitability. Even if we do achieve
profitability, we may not be able to sustain orrgase profitability on a quarterly or annual ba8isr failure to become or remain profitable
could depress the market price of our common samckcould
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impair our ability to raise capital, expand ouribess, diversify our product offerings or contiraug operations.

We will need substantial funding and may be unaliteraise capital when needed, which would forcetaslelay, reduce or eliminate
our product development programs or commercialipatiefforts.

We expect to continue to incur substamgéakarch and development expenses in connectibrowmitongoing activities, particularly as we
continue our Phase 3 development of migalastathEyrsubject to obtaining regulatory approval mf af our product candidates including
migalastat, we expect to incur significant commaization expenses for product sales and markesiecuring commercial quantities of
product from our manufacturers and product distidsu Under the Revised Agreement entered into @i8K in November 2013, GSK will no
longer share in the research and development related to migalastat as of January 1, 2014. Weesgonsible for 100% of all research and
development costs for all of our programs.

In order to complete clinical trials reldt® migalastat, seek regulatory approvals of nagfalt, commercially launch the product candidat
and continue our other clinical and preclinicalgrams, we will need to seek additional funding. i@dpnay not be available when needed on
terms that are acceptable to us, or at all. If adegfunds are not available to us on a timelyshas may be required to reduce or eliminate
research development programs or commercial efforts

Our future capital requirements will dep@mdmany factors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical trifl®ur drug candidates, including migalastat;

. the cost of manufacturing drug supply for oumickl and preclinical studies, including the sfgrant cost of new ERT cell line
development and manufacturing as well as the dastaoufacturing Pompe ERT,;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibalperones co-formulated and co-administered Wk Bnd for the treatment
of LSDs;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatoryeenvof our product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of gitetuct candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, incluglproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and othearae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pagpplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in bussess products and technologies; and

. our ability to establish collaborations and abtailestone, royalty or other payments from angtscollaborators.
Any capital that we obtain may not be on terms feafole to us or our stockholders or may require wsrelinquish valuable rights.

Until such time, if ever, as we generatadpict revenue to finance our operations, we exXjpefihance our cash needs through public or
private equity offerings and debt financings, cagpe collaboration and licensing arrangements aandtg from patient advocacy groups,
foundations and government agencies. If we aretabigise capital by issuing equity securities, stockholders will experience dilution. In
addition, stockholders may experience dilutiorn#d holders of the warrants issued in connectioh witr private placement in November 2013
exercise their warrants. Debt
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financing, if available, may involve agreements thalude covenants limiting or restricting our lghito take specific actions, such as incuri
additional debt, making capital expenditures odalétg dividends and may include rights that améi@eto the holders of our common stock.
Our current loan and security agreement with Siliv@alley Bank includes a covenant whereby we musihtain a minimum amount of
liguidity measured at the end of each month wharestricted cash, cash equivalents and marketableities is greater than $20 million plus
outstanding debt due to Silicon Valley Bank.

Our credit and security agreement with MidCap Fumdj Ill, LLC contains restrictions that limit our fexibility in operating our
business. We may be required to make a prepaymengpay the outstanding indebtedness earlier thaa expect under our credit
and security agreement if a mandatory prepaymengrgvor an event of default occurs, including a matd adverse change with
respect to us, which could have a materially adweesfect on our business.

Our credit and security agreement with MagGunding Ill, LLC ("MidCap") as administrativeeg for the other lenders named therein,
pursuant to which we have drawn-down $15.0 millimontains various covenants that limit our abildyengage in specified types of
transactions. These covenants limit our abilityafmong other things:

. incur or assume certain debt;

. merge or consolidate;

. change the nature of our business;

. change our organizational structure or type;
. dispose of certain assets;

. grant liens on our assets

. make certain investments;

. pay dividends; and
. enter into material transactions with affiliataesthird parties.

The restrictive covenants of the agreementd cause us to be unable to pursue businesstapities that we or our stockholders may
consider beneficial. A breach of any of these caws could result in an event of default underatpeement. An event of default will also
occur if, among other things, a material adversgk in our business, operations or condition fffirel or otherwise) or prospects occurs, or «
material impairment of the prospect of our repaynuérany portion of the amounts we owe under the@gent occurs. In the case of a
continuing event of default under the agreementi@aip could elect to declare all amounts outstantdiige immediately due and payable and
terminate all commitments to extend further créalitd in the case of an event of default relatdabitkruptcy or insolvency, all amounts
outstanding would be immediately due and payabtecammitments terminated), proceed against thatesil in which we granted MidCap a
security interest under the agreement, or otheresgecise the rights of a secured creditor. Amououatstanding under the agreement are
secured by all of our existing and future assetsl@eling intellectual property we own, which is gati to a negative pledge arrangement).

We may not have enough available cash abl®to raise additional funds on satisfactorgnterif at all, through equity or debt financings
to make any required mandatory prepayment or repely indebtedness at the time any such prepayment er event of default occurs. In
such an event, we may be required to delay, limduce or terminate our product development or cernialization efforts or grant to others
rights to develop and market product candidateswieavould otherwise prefer to develop and markeselves. Our business, financial
condition and results of operations could be malilgradversely affected as a result.
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We may acquire other assets or businesses, or fooffaborations or make investments in other compasior technologies that cou
harm our operating results, dilute our stockholdéswvnership, increase our debt or cause us to ingignificant expense.

As part of our business strategy, we magypelacquisitions of assets or businesses, oegitatlliances and collaborations, to expand ou
existing technologies and operations. We may rertifly or complete these transactions in a timefnner, on a cost-effective basis, or at all,
and we may not realize the anticipated benefi@ngfsuch transaction, any of which could have @rdental effect on our financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows. We may natithe to find suitable acquisition candidates, fimee make any acquisitions, we may not be
able to integrate these acquisitions successfuttydur existing business and we may incur addafidebt or assume unknown or contingent
liabilities in connection therewith. Integration arf acquired company or assets may also disrumtiog@perations, require the hiring of
additional personnel and the implementation of @althl internal systems and infrastructure, esplgdiae acquisition of commercial assets,
and require management resources that would otberfi@cus on developing our existing business. Weemo&be able to find suitable
collaboration partners or identify other investmepportunities, and we may experience losses retatany such investments.

To finance any acquisitions or collabonasiowe may choose to issue debt or shares of mumem stock as consideration. Any such
issuance of shares would dilute the ownership oftackholders. If the price of our common stocloig or volatile, we may not be able to
acquire other assets or companies or fund a triosacsing our stock as consideration. Alternagiyélmay be necessary for us to raise
additional funds for acquisitions through publicppivate financings. Additional funds may not ba@able on terms that are favorable to us, o
at all.

Our short operating history may make it difficulbtevaluate the success of our business to datetarassess our future viability.

We commenced operations in February 2002.dperations to date have been limited to orgagiaind staffing our company, acquiring
and developing our technology and undertaking preell studies and clinical trials of our most adead product candidates. We have not yet
generated any commercial sales for any of our grocandidates. We have not yet demonstrated olityatbi obtain regulatory approvals,
manufacture a commercial scale product or arraoga third party to do so on our behalf, or condiades and marketing activities necessary
for successful product commercialization. Consetjyeany predictions about our future success abiity may not be as accurate as they
could be if we had a longer operating history.

In addition, if we are successful in obaghmarketing approval for any of our lead prodeemididates or if we acquire commercial assets
we will need to transition from a company with aearch focus to a company capable of supportingremncial activities. We may not be
successful in such a transition.

Our business and operations would suffer in the avef computer system failures.

Despite the implementation of security nueas, our internal computer systems, and thosefantract research organizations, contract
manufacturing organizations, or CMO, and otherdtipiarties on which we rely, we are vulnerable tmage from computer viruses,
unauthorized access, natural disasters, terrovismand telecommunication and electrical failufgstem failures, accidents or security
breaches could cause interruptions in our opersitimnd could result in a material disruption of dlimical activities and business operations
addition to possibly requiring substantial expemdis of resources to remedy. If such an event Wweoecur and cause interruptions in our
operations, it could result in a material disruptaf our drug development programs. For exampke]dhs of clinical trial data from completed
or ongoing clinical trials could result in delaysaur
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regulatory approval efforts and significantly ingse our costs to recover or reproduce the dattheTextent that any disruptions or security
breach was to result in a loss or damage to oar atadpplications, or inappropriate disclosureaffidential or proprietary information, we
could incur liability and the further developmeffitoair product candidates could be delayed.

Risks Related to the Development and Commercializatn of Our Product Candidates

We depend heavily on the success of our most adgdmroduct candidates. All of our product candidatare still in either

preclinical or clinical development. Clinical tria of our product candidates may not be succesdfule are unable to commercialize
our most advanced product candidates, including alstat, or experience significant delays in doisg, our business will be
materially harmed.

We have invested a significant portion of efforts and financial resources in the develomnoé our most advanced product candidates,
including migalastat. Our ability to generate pratdevenue, which may never occur, will depend Rgan the successful development and
commercialization of these product candidates,upuh the continuation and success of any collalmorate may enter into. The successful
commercialization of our product candidates wilbeed on several factors, including the following:

. successful enrollment of patients in our clihic&ls on a timely basis;

. obtaining supplies of our product candidates aritere required, third party marketed producttuisiog ERTs, for completion
of our clinical trials on a timely basis;

. successful completion of preclinical studies aridical trials;

. obtaining regulatory agreement in the structuredesign of our clinical programs;

. obtaining marketing approvals from the FDA and &miegulatory authorities outside the U.S.;

. establishing commercial scale manufacturing arraregds with third party manufacturers whose manufaug facilities are

operated in compliance with cGMP regulations;

. launching commercial sales of the product, wéettone or in collaboration with others;

. acceptance of the product by patients, the naéd@mmmunity and third party payors;

. competition from other companies and their thes;

. successful protection of our intellectual prapeights from competing products in the U.S. abdbad; and
. a continued acceptable safety and efficacy profileur product candidates following approval.

If the market opportunities for our product candides are smaller than we believe they are, then muenues may be adversely
affected and our business may suffer.

Each of the diseases that our most advamaetlict candidates are being developed to addrease. Our projections of both the number
of people who have these diseases, as well asitisetsof people with these diseases who have tleafia to benefit from treatment with our
product candidates, are based on estimates.

Currently, most reported estimates of ttevalence of these diseases are based on studiegtifsubsets of the population of specific
geographic areas, which are then extrapolatedtima® the prevalence of the diseases in the bromoidd population. In addition, as new
studies are performed the estimated prevalendeesttdiseases may change. There can be no assinatnite prevalence of Fabry disease or
Pompe disease in the study populations, partigularthese newer studies, accurately reflects thegbence of these diseases in the broader
world population. If our
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estimates of the prevalence of Fabry disease threafiumber of patients who may benefit from treatimwéth our product candidates prove to
be incorrect, the market opportunities for our priccandidates may be smaller than we believe dneyour prospects for generating revenue
may be adversely affected and our business magrsuff

Initial results from a clinical trial do not ensurdhat the trial will be successful and success @rlg stage clinical trials does not
ensure success in later-stage clinical trials.

We will only obtain regulatory approvaldommercialize a product candidate if we can dematesto the satisfaction of the FDA or the
applicable non-U.S. regulatory authority, in wedlsigned and conducted clinical trials, that thedpod candidate is safe and effective and
otherwise meets the appropriate standards regfdgrexpproval for a particular indication. Clinidaials are lengthy, complex and extremely
expensive processes with uncertain results. Ariitd one or more of our clinical trials may ocetirany stage of testing.

Success in preclinical testing and eaiilyicdl trials does not ensure that later clinicgll$ will be successful, and initial results fram
clinical trial do not necessarily predict final uéis. We cannot be assured that these trials Withately be successful. In addition, patients ma
not be compliant with their dosing regimen or tpadtocols or they may withdraw from the study @y Eme for any reason.

In addition, while the clinical trials otindrug candidates are designed based on the bleaiklevant information, in view of the
uncertainties inherent in drug development, suichiczl trials may not be designed with focus oniéations, patient populations, dosing
regimens, safety or efficacy parameters or othaakkes that will provide the necessary safetyfiicacy data to support regulatory approva
commercialize the resulting drugs. In addition,wdlal patient responses to the dose administefeddrug may vary in a manner that is
difficult to predict. Also, the methods we selexiaissess particular safety or efficacy parametessnot yield statistical precision in estimating
our drug candidates' effects on study participdexen if we believe the data collected from clihicls of our drug candidates are promising,
these data may not be sufficient to support appimywshe FDA or foreign regulatory authorities. Elneical and clinical data can be interpreted
in different ways. Accordingly, the FDA or foreigegulatory authorities could interpret these datdifferent ways from us or our partners,
which could delay, limit or prevent regulatory amysl.

In addition, each of our product candidésdsased on our pharmacological chaperone techyolm date, we are not aware that any
product based on chaperone technology has beeowaapby the FDA. As a result, if the FDA requiréifedent endpoints than the endpoints
we anticipate using or a different analysis of theadpoints, it may be more difficult for us toaiht or we may be delayed in obtaining, FDA
approval of our product candidates. If we are meotsessful in commercializing any of our lead prddiemdidates, or are significantly delayed
in doing so, our business will be materially harmed

We have limited experience in conducting and managithe preclinical development activities and cliail trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the FDA

We have limited experience in conductind aranaging the preclinical development activitied alinical trials necessary to obtain
regulatory approvals, including approval by the F¥e have not obtained regulatory approval nor cencralized any of our product
candidates. Our limited experience might preverftarm successfully designing or implementing aickhtrial. We have limited experience in
conducting and managing the application procesessaey to obtain regulatory approvals and we mighbe able to demonstrate that our
product candidates meet the appropriate standardedulatory approval. If we are not successfuddnducting and managing our preclinical
development activities or clinical trials or obtiaig regulatory approvals, we might not be able to
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commercialize our lead product candidates, or mighsignificantly delayed in doing so, which wilaterially harm our business.
We may find it difficult to enroll patients in ouclinical trials.

Each of the diseases that our lead prothradidates are intended to treat is rare and wecexmly a subset of the patients with these
diseases to be eligible for our clinical trials. Wiay not be able to initiate or continue clinigéls for each or all of our product candidates if
we are unable to locate a sufficient number ofileliigpatients to participate in the clinical triaésquired by the FDA or other non-U.S.
regulatory agencies. For example, the entry catimi our Phase 3 study in migalastat for Fabrgale to support approval in the United State
(Study 011) required that patients must have atgemeitation that we believe is responsive to nagtdt, and may not have received ERT in
the past or must have stopped treatment for at $@amonths prior to enrolling in the study. Asesult, enroliment of the study lasted for over
two years.

In addition, the requirements of our clalitesting mandate that a patient cannot be indoiveanother clinical trial for the same
indication. We are aware that our competitors hangpoing clinical trials for products that are cortifpee with our product candidates and
patients who would otherwise be eligible for ouniclal trials may be involved in such testing, reridg them unavailable for testing of our
product candidates. Our inability to enroll a stifint number of patients for any of our currentuture clinical trials would result in significa
delays or may require us to abandon one or manealitrials altogether.

If our preclinical studies do not produce positivesults, if our clinical trials are delayed or ifesious side effects are identified durir
drug development, we may experience delays, inaditonal costs and ultimately be unable to commiatize our product
candidates.

Before obtaining regulatory approval foe gale of our product candidates, we must condtictir own expense, extensive preclinical
tests to demonstrate the safety of our productidates in animals, and clinical trials to demortsttae safety and efficacy of our product
candidates in humans. Preclinical and clinicairigst expensive, difficult to design and implemantl can take many years to complete. A
failure of one or more of our preclinical studigscbnical trials can occur at any stage of testvfe may experience numerous unforeseen
events during, or as a result of, preclinical tegtind the clinical trial process that could delayprevent our ability to obtain regulatory
approval or commercialize our product candidateduding:

. our preclinical tests or clinical trials may grece negative or inconclusive results, and we negrydet, or regulators may require
us, to conduct additional preclinical testing aniclal trials or we may abandon projects that weeet to be promising;

. we may decide to amend existing protocols for omgalinical trials;

. regulators or institutional review boards may naharize us to commence a clinical trial or condactinical trial at a
prospective trial site;

. conditions imposed on us by the FDA or any nh6- regulatory authority regarding the scope aigteof our clinical trials me
require us to resubmit our clinical trial protoctsinstitutional review boards for re-inspectiamedo changes in the regulatory
environment;

. the number of patients required for our clinicalt may be larger than we anticipate or participanay drop out of our clinical
trials at a higher rate than we anticipate;

. our third party contractors or clinical investigetonay fail to comply with regulatory requirementdail to meet their
contractual obligations to us in a timely manner;
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. we might have to suspend or terminate one or mioaroclinical trials if we, the regulators or thstitutional review boards
determine that the participants are being expasedacceptable health risks;

. regulators or institutional review boards may regjthat we hold, suspend or terminate clinicalaestefor various reasons,
including noncompliance with regulatory requirensgnt

. the cost of our clinical trials may be greateart we anticipate;

. the supply or quality of our product candidatesther materials necessary to conduct our clini@s, such as existing
treatments like ERT, may be insufficient or inadstguor we may not be able to reach agreementscapible terms with
prospective clinical research organizations; and

. the effects of our product candidates may not baltsired effects or may include undesirable digets or the product
candidates may have other unexpected characteristic

If we are required to conduct additionahichl trials or other testing of our product cataties beyond those that we currently contemg
if we are unable to successfully complete our chtrials or other testing, if the results of thésals or tests are not positive or are only
modestly positive or if there are safety concewesmay:

. be delayed in obtaining, or may not be able toiobtaarketing approval for one or more of our pradeandidates and milestc
payments from our collaborators;

. obtain approval for indications that are nobesad as intended or entirely different than thaskcations for which we sought
approval; or
. have the product removed from the market afteriniotg marketing approval.

Our product development costs will alsa@ase if we experience delays in testing or appsoViie do not know whether any preclinical
tests or clinical trials will be initiated as plaeth will need to be restructured or will be comgiedn schedule, if at all. Significant preclinioca
clinical trial delays also could shorten the patamtection period during which we may have thdesige right to commercialize our product
candidates. Such delays could allow our competitwtsing products to market before we do and impai ability to commercialize our
products or product candidates.

Even if migalastat or any other product candidateat we develop receives marketing approval, we ealhtinue to face extensive
regulatory requirements and the product may stéide future development and regulatory difficulties.

Even if marketing approval is obtainedeguiatory authority may still impose significanstréctions on a product's indications, conditions
for use, distribution or marketing or impose ongpiaquirements for potentially costly post-markategillance, post-approval studies or
clinical trials. For example, any labeling ultimigtapproved by the FDA for migalastat, if it is apped for marketing, may include restrictions
on use, such as limitations on how Fabry diseadefised and diagnosed. In addition, the labeliray imclude restrictions based upon evide
of specific genetic mutations or symptoms foungatients. Migalastat will also be subject to ongdi#DA requirements governing the
labeling, packaging, storage, advertising, distidny promotion, recordkeeping and submission &étgeand other post-market information,
including adverse events, and any changes to fh@wegd product, product labeling, or manufactupingcess. The FDA has significant post-
market authority, including, for example, the auityoto require labeling changes based on new pafébrmation, and to require post-market
studies or clinical trials to evaluate serious safisks related to the use of a drug. For prodapisroved under the Accelerated Approval
regulations, the FDA has the authority to requin@ical studies to confirm the clinical benefit asgated with the surrogate endpoint. In
addition, manufacturers of drug products and tfaailities are subject to continual review and
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periodic inspections by the FDA and other regulatarthorities for compliance with cGMP and othegulations.

If we, our drug products or the manufactgriacilities for our drug products fail to compijth applicable regulatory requirements, a
regulatory agency may:

. issue warning letters or untitled letters;

. seek an injunction or impose civil or criminal pkigs or monetary fines;

. suspend or withdraw marketing approval;

. suspend any ongoing clinical trials;

. refuse to approve pending applications or supplésrierapplications submitted by us;

. suspend or impose restrictions on operatiodyding costly new manufacturing requirements;

. seize or detain products, refuse to permit tiygoirt or export of products or request that wedteta product recall; or
. refuse to allow us to enter into supply consattcluding government contracts.

The FDA and other regulatory agencies actively erde the laws and regulations prohibiting the promon of off-label uses. If we
are found to have promoted off-label uses, we magdme subject to significant liability.

The FDA and other regulatory agenciestiriegulate the promotional claims that may be enaddout prescription products. In particu
a product may not be promoted for uses that arapmtoved by the FDA or such other regulatory agsnas reflected in the product's
approved labeling. In particular, any labeling apad by the FDA for migalastat or any of our otheyduct candidates may include restricti
on use. The FDA may impose further requirementgsirictions on the distribution or use of migadastr any of our other product candidates
as part of a REMS plan. If we receive marketingrapal for migalastat or any other product candidapdysicians may nevertheless prescribe
such products to their patients in a manner thiaiciensistent with the approved label. If we anenfd to have promoted such off-label uses, we
may become subject to significant liability. Theléeal government has levied large civil and crirhfirees and / or other penalties against
companies for alleged improper promotion and hasstigated and / or prosecuted several companiesation to off-label promotion (which
is a violation of Federal regulations). The FDA hiso requested that certain companies enter arteent decrees or permanent injunctions
under which specified promotional conduct is chahgertailed or prohibited.

The commercial success of any product candidatest thie may develop, including migalastat, will depletpon the degree of market
acceptance by physicians, patients, third party @@y/and others in the medical community.

Any products that we bring to the market]uding migalastat , may not gain market accemdycphysicians, patients, third party payors
and others in the medical community. If these potsldo not achieve an adequate level of acceptarecmay not generate significant product
revenue and we may not become profitable. The degfrenarket acceptance of our product candiddtapproved for commercial sale, will
depend on a number of factors, including:

. prevalence and severity of any side effects, innlydny limitations or warnings contained in a prois approved labeling;
. efficacy and potential advantages over alternadte@tments;
. pricing;
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. relative convenience and ease of administration;

. willingness of the target patient population torigw therapies and of physicians to prescribe thiesapies;
. strength of marketing and distribution support eindng of market introduction of competitive prodsic

. publicity concerning our products or competing prctd and treatments; and

. sufficient third party insurance coverage or reinsement.

Even if a product candidate displays a falite efficacy and safety profile in preclinicaldaclinical trials, market acceptance of the
product will not be known until after it is launaheDur efforts to educate the medical community third party payors on the benefits of our
product candidates may require significant resaiecel may never be successful. Such efforts toateltice marketplace may require more
resources than are required by the conventionhhtdogies marketed by our competitors.

If we are unable to obtain adequate reimbursemertrfi governments or third party payors for any procts that we may develop ol
we are unable to obtain acceptable prices for theseducts, our prospects for generating revenue auhieving profitability will
suffer.

Our prospects for generating revenue ahgwaing profitability will depend heavily upon tlevailability of adequate reimbursement for
the use of our approved product candidates froneigouental and other third party payors, both inUt®. and in other markets.
Reimbursement by a third party payor may depend @poumber of factors, including the third partyqés determination that use of a proc
is:

. a covered benefit under its health plan;
. safe, effective and medically necessary;
. appropriate for the specific patient;

. cost-effective; and

. neither experimental nor investigational.

Obtaining reimbursement approval for a picidrom each government or other third party paga time consuming and costly process
that could require us to provide supporting scfentclinical and cost effectiveness data for tise of our products to each payor. We may not
be able to provide data sufficient to gain accegeanith respect to reimbursement or we might neesbhduct post-marketing studies in order
to demonstrate the cost-effectiveness of any fytmeucts to such payors' satisfaction. Such stuight require us to commit a significant
amount of management time and financial and o#gswurces. Even when a payor determines that a grizdeligible for reimbursement, the
payor may impose coverage limitations that precjagment for some uses that are approved by the &hn-U.S. regulatory authorities. In
addition, there is a risk that full reimbursemertynmot be available for high priced products. Merroeligibility for coverage does not imply
that any product will be reimbursed in all caseataa rate that allows us to make a profit or es@rer our costs. Interim payments for new
products, if applicable, may also not be sufficientover our costs and may not be made permanent.

A primary trend in the U.S. healthcare isitly1 and elsewhere is toward cost containment. e recent changes in the Medicare
program and increasing emphasis on managed camatmue to put pressure on pharmaceutical progiicing. For example, the Medicare
Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization 8ic2003 provides a new Medicare prescription dragefit that
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began in 2006 and mandates other reforms. Whileameot predict the full outcome of the implememtatdf this legislation, it is possible that
the new Medicare prescription drug benefit, whicgh e managed by private health insurers and attenaged care organizations, will result
in additional government reimbursement for presmipdrugs, which may make some prescription dragse affordable but may further
exacerbate industry wide pressure to reduce ppeeridrug prices. If one or more of our produatdidates reaches commercialization, such
changes may have a significant impact on our ghtitset a price we believe is fair for our produahd may affect our ability to generate
revenue and achieve or maintain profitability.

In addition, the Patient Protection andoidfable Care Act of 2010 and the Health Care andc&ibn Reconciliation Act of 2010
(collectively referred to as the "Health Care Refdraw") are designed to overhaul the United Stagsdth care system and regulate many
aspects of health care delivery and financing. Fibalth Care Reform Law is intended to broaden actekealth insurance, primarily through
the imposition of health insurance mandates on eyep$ and individuals and expansion of the Medipaatjram, reduce or constrain the
growth of health care spending, enhance remedmisstgraud and abuse, add new transparency regeims for health care and health
insurance industries, impose new taxes and fediseohealth industry and impose additional healficpoeforms. The Health Care Reform
Law will require the promulgation of substantiafjuéations with significant effects on the healtihecendustry.

A number of provisions contained in the ltte€are Reform Law may affect us and will likehycirease certain of our costs. For example,
the new law revised the definition of "average nfanturer price" for reporting purposes and the wadwf rebated drugs has been expanded
include beneficiaries in Medicaid managed care mimgdions, which could increase the amount of Maididrug rebates to states. Also,
beginning in 2013, drug manufacturers will be reggito report information on payments or transéérgalue to physicians and teaching
hospitals, as well as investment interests helghygicians and their immediate family members dytire preceding calendar year. Under a
final rule issued by the Centers for Medicare & eg Services ("CMS"), drug manufacturers mustithég collect the required data on
August 1, 2013 and report the data to CMS by M&©Lh2014. Failure to submit required informationymasult in civil monetary penalties.
Additionally, the Health Care Reform Law includeSG@6 discount on brand name drugs for Medicare [Pgdrticipants in the coverage gap,
or "donut hole." We do not know the full effect thlae Health Care Reform Law will have on our comeiadization efforts if migalastat, or a
other of our drugs, is approved. Although it is &aoly to determine the effect of the Health CaeéoRm Law, the law appears likely to
continue the pressure on pharmaceutical pricirge@ally under the Medicare program, and may aisceiase our regulatory burdens and
operating costs.

Governments outside the U.S. tend to impose spiate controls and reimbursement approval policieghich may adversely affect
our prospects for generating revenue.

In some countries, particularly EU courdrithe pricing of prescription pharmaceuticalsuisjsct to governmental control. In these
countries, pricing negotiations with governmentatharities can take considerable time (6 to 12 &t longer) after the receipt of market
approval for a product. To obtain reimbursemendraring approval in some countries, we may be neglio conduct a clinical trial that
compares the cost effectiveness of our productidatelto other available therapies. If reimburseneéiour products is unavailable or limited
in scope or amount, or if pricing is set at ungatiory levels, our prospects for generating reeeifuany, could be adversely affected and our
business may suffer.

-36-




Table of Contents

If we are unable to establish sales and marketirapabilities or enter into agreements with third gas to market and sell our
product candidates, including migalastat, we mayable to generate product revenue.

At present, we have no sales or marketarggnnel. In order to commercialize any of our piddandidates, we must either acquire or
internally develop sales, marketing and distributiapabilities, or enter into collaborations witiripers to perform these services for us. We
may not be able to establish sales and distribygartnerships for other product candidates on dabépoterms or at all, and if we do enter into
a distribution arrangement, our success will beedepnt upon the performance of our partner.

In the event that we attempt to acquirdexrelop our own in-house sales, marketing andibligion capabilities, factors that may inhibit
our efforts to commercialize our products withowategic partners or licensees include:

. our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshreffective sales and marketing personnel;

. the inability of sales personnel to obtain accesw tsuccessfully market to adequate numbers ofipiays to prescribe our
products;

. the lack of additional products to be marketed biysales personnel, which may put us at a competiisadvantage against

companies with broader product lines;

. unforeseen costs associated with creating oursales and marketing team or with entering inpargnering agreement with an
independent sales and marketing organization; and

. efforts by our competitors to commercialize produattor about the time when our product candidatadd be coming to
market.

We may co-promote our product candidatesainious markets with pharmaceutical and bioteamylcompanies in instances where we
believe that a larger sales and marketing preseilcexpand the market or accelerate penetratibwel do enter into arrangements with third
parties to perform sales and marketing servicespmduct revenues will be lower than if we dirgabld and marketed our products and any
revenues received under such arrangements willndiepe the skills and efforts of others.

We may not be successful in entering ingtrithution arrangements and marketing allianceh ttird parties. Our failure to enter into
these arrangements on favorable terms could delegpmir our ability to commercialize our produetndlidates and could increase our coSts ¢
commercialization. Dependence on distribution agesnents and marketing alliances to commercializgpopduct candidates will subject us
a number of risks, including:

. we may not be able to control the amount and tinofigesources that our distributors may devotééodommercialization of o
product candidates;

. our distributors may experience financial difficed;

. business combinations or significant changes iistiloutor's business strategy may also adverdédgtaa distributor's
willingness or ability to complete its obligationeder any arrangement; and

. these arrangements are often terminated or atldw expire, which could interrupt the marketimgl @ales of a product and
decrease our revenue.

If we are unable to establish adequatessatarketing and distribution capabilities, whetimgiependently or with third parties, we may
be able to generate product revenue and may notimprofitable.
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Product liability lawsuits against us could causs to incur substantial liabilities and to limit comercialization of any products that
we may develop.

We face an inherent risk of product lighixposure related to the testing of our prodacididates in human clinical trials and will face
an even greater risk if we commercially sell angdurcts that are approved for sale. We may be exposgroduct liability claims and product
recalls, including those which may arise from méas malfunction of, or design flaws in, such pra@yuwhether or not such problems directly
relate to the products and services we have prdviflere cannot successfully defend ourselves agaiaims that our product candidates or
products caused injuries, we will incur substariiéddilities. Regardless of merit or eventual oumey liability claims may result in;

. decreased demand for any product candidates ougisd

. damage to our reputation;

. regulatory investigations, prosecutions or enforeenactions that could require costly recalls @adpict modifications;

. withdrawal of clinical trial participants;

. costs to defend the related litigation;

. substantial monetary awards to trial particigant patients, including awards that substantiedigeed our product liability

insurance, which we would then be required to pasnfother sources, if available, and would damageability to obtain
liability insurance at reasonable costs, or atialthe future;

. loss of revenue;
. the diversion of management's attention from margagur business; and
. the inability to commercialize any such productdidates or products.

We have liability insurance policies foralinical trials in the geographies in which we @onducting trials. The amount of insurance
we currently hold may not be adequate to covdiaddllities that we may incur. Insurance coverag@creasingly expensive. We may not be
able to maintain insurance coverage at a reasonsabteand we may not be able to obtain insuraneerage that will be adequate to satisfy
liability that may arise. On occasion, large judgisehave been awarded in class action lawsuitgdb@serugs that had unanticipated side
effects. A successful product liability claim oseries of claims brought against us could causstogk price to fall and, if judgments exceed
our insurance coverage, could decrease our avaitaish and adversely affect our business.

We face substantial competition which may resultathers discovering, developing or commercializipgpducts before or more
successfully than we do.

The development and commercialization a¥ deugs is highly competitive and competition ipegted to increase. We face competition
with respect to our current product candidatesamydproducts we may seek to develop, acquire onuentialize in the future from major
pharmaceutical companies, specialty pharmacewt@apanies and biotechnology companies worldwide eikample, several large
pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies cugrendirket and sell products for the treatment ob$gsnal storage diseases, including Fi
disease. These products include Sanofi Aventigazgime® and Shire plc's Replagal®. In addition,@iamarkets and sells Myozyme® and
Lumizyme® for the treatment of Pompe disease. FBSN|, Biomarin Pharmaceutical, Inc. manufacturessampplies Aldurazyme® to Sanofi
for global sales and marketing. We are also awbother enzyme replacement and substrate reduttierapies in development by third
parties, including
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Biomarin Pharmaceutical's BMN-701, an enzyme repteent therapy in Phase 2/3 development for Pongsaisie.

Potential competitors also include acadenstitutions, government agencies and other pubiat private research organizations that
conduct research, seek patent protection and estafallaborative arrangements for research, deweémt, manufacturing and
commercialization. Our competitors may develop paisl that are more effective, safer, more convemeless costly than any that we are
developing or that would render our product cantgisl@bsolete or noncompetitive. Our competitors alay obtain FDA or other regulatory
approval for their products more rapidly than weyrobtain approval for ours. We may also face coitipetfrom off-label use of other
approved therapies. There can be no assuranceebalibpments by others will not render our prodiactdidates or any acquired products
obsolete or noncompetitive either during the reseahase or once the products reaches commertiatiza

We believe that many competitors, includiiegdemic institutions, government agencies, paniit private research organizations, large
pharmaceutical companies and smaller more focuseghanies, are attempting to develop therapies fonynof our target indications. Many of
our competitors have significantly greater finahoégsources and expertise in research and develdpmeanufacturing, preclinical testing,
conducting clinical trials, obtaining regulatorypapvals, prosecuting intellectual property rightsl anarketing approved products than we do.
Smaller and other early stage companies may ats@o be significant competitors, particularlyahgh collaborative arrangements with le
and established companies. These third parties et@myith us in recruiting and retaining qualifiedesitific and management personnel,
establishing clinical trial sites and patient régigon for clinical trials, as well as in acquigitechnologies complementary to or necessary for
our programs or advantageous to our business.diti@d if we obtain regulatory approvals for ouogucts, manufacturing efficiency and
marketing capabilities are likely to be significaompetitive factors. We currently have no comnaneianufacturing capability, sales force or
marketing infrastructure. Further, many of our cetitprs have substantial resources and expertiseriducting collaborative arrangements,
sourcing in-licensing arrangements and acquiring besiness lines or businesses that are greateiotiraown.

Our business activities involve the use of hazardounaterials, which require compliance with envirommtal and occupational safety
laws regulating the use of such materials. If weolate these laws, we could be subject to significtames, liabilities or other adverse
consequences.

Our research and development programsyeuble controlled use of hazardous materials, diotpumicrobial agents, corrosive, explosive
and flammable chemicals and other hazardous conaisanraddition to certain biological hazardous wasltimately, the activities of our thi
party product manufacturers when a product canelicsiches commercialization will also require the of hazardous materials. Accordingly,
we are subject to federal, state and local laweguorg the use, handling and disposal of thesemaleAlthough we believe that our safety
procedures for handling and disposing of these maddecomply in all material respects with the stards prescribed by local, state and federa
regulations, we cannot completely eliminate thk ofaccidental contamination or injury from thesaterials. In addition, our collaborators
may not comply with these laws. In the event ofacident or failure to comply with environmentakia we could be held liable for damages
that result, and any such liability could exceedamssets and resources or we could be subjechi@iions or stoppages related to our use of
these materials which may lead to an interruptioous business operations or those of our thirdypewntractors. While we believe that our
existing insurance coverage is generally adequateur normal handling of these hazardous mateitaisay not be sufficient to cover
pollution conditions or other extraordinary or utieipated events. Furthermore, an accident coutdadge or force us to shut down our
operations. Changes in environmental laws may impgostly compliance requirements on us or otherauggect us to future
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liabilities and additional laws relating to the ragement, handling, generation, manufacture, tratepan, storage, use and disposal of
materials used in or generated by the manufacfusargoroducts or related to our clinical trials.dddition, we cannot predict the effect that
these potential requirements may have on us, @plisus and contractors or our customers.

Risks Related to Our Dependence on Third Parties

Use of third parties to manufacture our product cditlates may increase the risk that we will not haugficient quantities of our
product candidates or such quantities at an accdpacost, and clinical development and commerciafian of our product
candidates could be delayed, prevented or impaired.

We do not own or operate manufacturinglitées for clinical or commercial production of oproduct candidates. We lack the resources
and the capabilities to manufacture any of our pebdandidates on a clinical or commercial scale.drently outsource all manufacturing
and packaging of our preclinical and clinical prodeandidates to third parties. The manufactunehafrmaceutical products requires signific
expertise and capital investment, including theefigwment of advanced manufacturing techniques amteps controls. Manufacturers of
pharmaceutical products often encounter difficslireproduction, particularly in scaling up initiloduction. These problems include
difficulties with production costs and yields anghtjty control, including stability of the producandidate. The occurrence of any of these
problems could significantly delay our clinicalais or the commercial availability of our products.

We do not currently have any agreements third party manufacturers for the long-term comuta supply of any of our product
candidates. We may be unable to enter into agresnemcommercial supply with third party manufaetis, or may be unable to do so on
acceptable terms. Even if we enter into these aggats, the manufacturers of each product candwidltbe single source suppliers to us for a
significant period of time.

Reliance on third party manufacturers' éntésks, to which we would not be subject if wamafactured product candidates or products
ourselves, including:

. reliance on the third party for regulatory comptiarand quality assurance;
. limitations on supply availability resulting fronapacity and scheduling constraints of the thirdipsyr
. impact on our reputation in the marketplace if nfaoturers of our products, once commercialized tfameet the demands of

our customers;
. the possible breach of the manufacturing agreeimettie third party because of factors beyond outrod; and

. the possible termination or non-renewal of the egrent by the third party, based on its own busipessities, at a time that is
costly or inconvenient for us.

The failure of any of our contract manutaiets to maintain high manufacturing standardsaoesult in injury or death of clinical trial
participants or patients using products. Such fflaittould also result in product liability claimspguct recalls, product seizures or withdrawals
delays or failures in testing or delivery, costwuas or other problems that could seriously haumbusiness or profitability.

Our contract manufacturers are requirealdfoere to FDA regulations setting forth cGMP. Thesgpilations cover all aspects of the
manufacturing, testing, quality control and recaeiling relating to our product candidates and aogiyzts that we may commercialize. Our
manufacturers may not be able to comply with cGlgutations or similar regulatory requirements aédhe U.S. Our failure or the failure of
our third party manufacturers, to comply with apable regulations could significantly and adversdfgct regulatory approval and supplies of
our product candidates.
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Our product candidates and any productstkanay develop or acquire may compete with ofineduct candidates and products for
access to manufacturing facilities. There are #&dicdhnumber of manufacturers that operate under B@dgulations and that are both capab
manufacturing for us and willing to do so. If tiérd parties that we engage to manufacture prodocisur preclinical tests and clinical trials
should cease to continue to do so for any reaserikely would experience delays in advancing theisés while we identify and qualify
replacement suppliers and we may be unable torol#placement supplies on terms that are favotahls. Later relocation to another
manufacturer will also require notification, reviamd other regulatory approvals from the FDA arptegulators and will subject our
production to further cost and instability in theagability of our product candidates. In additidgihwe are not able to obtain adequate supplies
of our product candidates or the drug substanaed issmanufacture them, it will be more difficudtr fus to develop our product candidates an
compete effectively.

Our current and anticipated future dependarpon others for the manufacture of our prodantiates may adversely affect our future
profit margins and our ability to develop produahdidates and commercialize any products thatmbégjulatory approval on a timely and
competitive basis.

Transitioning our business to focus on the commaeaiization of our products, specifically migalastanay require increased reliance
on third-party relationships to enable this trang&n, which may have an adverse effect on our busise

We acquired significant commercial righdsatl formulations of migalastat under the Revigggeement with GSK. If we were to obtain
marketing approval for migalastat from the FDA, wi# need to continue to transition from a compamith a development focus to a company
capable of supporting commercial activities. We maybe successful in such a transition. We hatgeiodemonstrated an ability to obtain
marketing approval for or commercialize a prodwididate. As a result, we may not be as succeasftbmpanies that have previously
obtained marketing approval for drug candidatesamdmercially launched drugs.

There are risks involved with both estdiitig our own sales and marketing capabilities artdreng into arrangements with third partie
perform these services. For example, recruitingteaiding a sales force is expensive and time amirsg and could delay any product launch.
If the commercial launch of a product candidatevibich we recruit a sales force and establish ntengeapabilities is delayed or does not
occur for any reason, we would have prematurelynmecessarily incurred these commercialization es@e This may be costly, and our
investment would be lost if we cannot retain orosfion our sales and marketing personnel. Fatbatsmay inhibit our efforts to
commercialize our products include:

. our inability to recruit and retain adequate thans of effective sales and marketing personnel;
. the inability of sales personnel to obtain asdesor persuade adequate numbers of physicigmesaribe any future products;
. the lack of complementary products to be offdrgdales personnel, which may put us at a conneetiisadvantage relative to

companies with more extensive product lines; and

. unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraatindependent sales and marketing organization

If we enter into arrangements with thirdtigs to perform sales, marketing and distribusenvices, our product revenues or the
profitability of these product revenues to us &ely to be lower than if we were to market and aal products that we develop ourselves. In
addition, we may not be successful in entering artangements with third parties to sell and maoketproduct candidates or doing so on
terms that are favorable to us. We likely will hdittee control over such third parties, and anytttdm may fail to devote the necessary
resources and attention to sell and market ourymtsd
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effectively. If we do not establish sales and manigecapabilities successfully, either on our owrnocollaboration with third parties, we will
not be successful in commercializing our producididates.

Changes to our collaboration with GSK will requings to develop a new source of ERT for a key compured migalastat co-
formulated with human recombinant alpha-Gal enzyme.

Our initial co-formulated product candidé&te Fabry Disease that we developed as part otollaboration with GSK utilized migalastat
co-formulated with a proprietary human recombireglpha-Gal enzyme. We plan to continue developmeatom-formulated ERT with
migalastat with an internally developed Fabry tinl as a next-generation ERT for Fabry disease.

The risks involved with developing our oimternal cell line are in addition to the risks ddéised above with respect to securing and usin
third party manufacturers and it could significgrghd adversely affect the overall cost of develgphe co-formulated product candidate and
significantly increase the timelines for developien

Materials necessary to manufacture our product cadates may not be available on commercially reasbleeterms, or at all, which
may delay the development and commercializatiomof product candidates.

We rely on the manufacturers of our prodizctdidates to purchase from third party supptieesmaterials necessary to produce the
compounds for our preclinical and clinical studiesl will rely on these other manufacturers for caroial distribution if we obtain marketing
approval for any of our product candidates. Suppliray not sell these materials to our manufacduaethe time we need them or on
commercially reasonable terms and all such pricesasceptible to fluctuations in price and avdlitgtdue to transportation costs, governrr
regulations, price controls and changes in econafiriate or other foreseen circumstances. We ddaet any control over the process or
timing of the acquisition of these materials by manufacturers. Moreover, we currently do not hawe agreements for the commercial
production of these materials. If our manufactueeesunable to obtain these materials for our prieell and clinical studies, product testing
and potential regulatory approval of our productdidates would be delayed, significantly impacting ability to develop our product
candidates. If our manufacturers or we are unabjfritchase these materials after regulatory apphasabeen obtained for our product
candidates, the commercial launch of our produsticiates would be delayed or there would be a aberin supply, which would materially
affect our ability to generate revenues from tHe sour product candidates.

We rely on third parties to conduct certain precigal development activities and our clinical triaend those third parties may not
perform satisfactorily, including failing to meetstablished deadlines for the completion of suchiaities and trials.

We do not independently conduct clinicell$r for our product candidates or certain prectihdevelopment activities of our product
candidates, such as long-term safety studies malai We rely on, or work in conjunction with, tthiparties, such as contract research
organizations, medical institutions and clinicaléstigators, to perform these functions. For examnpk rely heavily on a contract research
organization to help us conduct our ongoing PhaslaRal trials in migalastat for the treatmentFebry disease. Our reliance on these third
parties for preclinical and clinical developmentivadties reduces our control over these activit& are responsible for ensuring that each of
our preclinical development activities and our iciah trials is conducted in accordance with theligpple general investigational plan and
protocols, however, we have no direct control dliese researchers or contractors (except by coptaacthey are not our employees.
Moreover, the FDA requires us to comply with staddacommonly referred to as Good Clinical Prastiime conducting, recording and
reporting the results of our preclinical developmetivities and our clinical trials to assure tbata and reported results are credible and
accurate and that the rights, safety and
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confidentiality of trial participants are protect&iur reliance on third parties that we do not oardoes not relieve us of these responsibilities
and requirements. Furthermore, these third pamig also have relationships with other entitiemys@f which may be our competitors. If
these third parties do not successfully carry beirtcontractual duties, meet expected deadlinesmduct our preclinical development
activities or our clinical trials in accordance lviegulatory requirements or our stated protoawéswill not be able to obtain, or may be
delayed in obtaining, regulatory approvals for product candidates and will not be able to, or faylelayed in our efforts to, successfully
commercialize our product candidates. Moreovesehhird parties may be bought by other entitiethey may go out of business, thereby
preventing them from meeting their contractual gdtions.

We also rely on other third parties to stand distribute drug supplies for our preclindevelopment activities and our clinical trials. Any
performance failure on the part of our existindusure distributors could delay clinical developrhenregulatory approval of our product
candidates or commercialization of our productedpring additional losses and depriving us of pidéproduct revenue.

Extensions, delays, suspensions or terioimabf our preclinical development activities ar @linical trials as a result of the performance
of our independent clinical investigators and cacitresearch organizations will delay, and makeengostly, regulatory approval for any
product candidates that we may develop. Any chamgecontract research organization during an argpreclinical development activity or
clinical trial could seriously delay that trial apdtentially compromise the results of the actiatytrial.

We may not be successful in maintaining or estabiigy collaborations, which could adversely affeaiioability to develop and,
particularly in international markets, commercial products.

For each of our product candidates, wecallaborating with physicians, patient advocacyug® foundations and government agencit
order to assist with the development of our prosldte plan to pursue similar activities in futuregrams and plan to evaluate the merits of
retaining commercialization rights for ourselvesatering into selective collaboration arrangemaeitis leading pharmaceutical or
biotechnology companies. We also may seek to éstatbllaborations for the sales, marketing anttidistion of our products. If we elect to
seek collaborators in the future but are unabledch agreements with suitable collaborators, we failito meet our business objectives for
the affected product or program. We face, andeuifitinue to face, significant competition in segkappropriate collaborators. Moreover,
collaboration arrangements are complex and timswming to negotiate, document and implement. We madype successful in our efforts, if
any, to establish and implement collaborationstbeioalternative arrangements. The terms of arlglootation or other arrangements that we
establish, if any, may not be favorable to us.

Any collaboration that we enter into may he successful. The success of our collaborati@angements, if any, will depend heavily on
the efforts and activities of our collaboratorssltikely that any collaborators of ours will hasignificant discretion in determining the efforts
and resources that they will apply to these collations. The risks that we may be subject to irsiinbs future collaborations include the
following:

. our collaboration agreements are likely to be boed terms and subject to termination by our caltalors;
. our collaborators may have the first right to maiintor defend our intellectual property rights aaithough we would likely

have the right to assume the maintenance and @ebédrmr intellectual property rights if our coltaiators do not, our ability to
do so may be compromised by our collaborators'@otgnissions; and
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. our collaborators may utilize our intellectual peoty rights in such a way as to invite litigatidrat could jeopardize or invalidz
our intellectual property rights or expose us tteptal liability.

Collaborations with pharmaceutical compariad other third parties often are terminatedlowad to expire by the other party. Such
terminations or expirations may adversely affectinsncially and could harm our business reputatiothe event we elect to pursue
collaborations that ultimately expire or are terated.

Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property

If we are unable to obtain and maintain protectidor the intellectual property relating to our tectology and products, the value of
our technology and product candidates will be adsely affected.

Our success will depend in large part onatnility to obtain and maintain protection in teS. and other countries for the intellectual
property covering or incorporated into our techggland product candidates. The patent situatigherfield of biotechnology and
pharmaceuticals generally is highly uncertain anblives complex legal, technical, scientific andtfial questions. We may not be able to
obtain additional issued patents relating to odnit®logy or product candidates. Even if issuedeqatissued to us or our licensors may be
challenged, narrowed, invalidated, held to be umeefable or circumvented, which could limit ourliypito stop competitors from marketing
similar products or reduce the term of patent mtate@ we may have for our product candidates. Chang either patent laws or in
interpretations of patent laws in the U.S. and oteeintries may diminish the value of our intelledtproperty or narrow the scope of our
patent protection.

The degree of future protection for ourggietary rights is uncertain, and we cannot enthaie

. we or our licensors were the first to make theentions covered by each of our pending patenitcgtions;

. we or our licensors were the first to file pdtepplications for these inventions;

. others will not independently develop similar aeatative technologies or duplicate any of our tetbgies;

. any patents issued to us or our licensors will gea basis for commercially viable products, witbvide us with any

competitive advantages or will not be challengedHind parties;

. we will develop additional proprietary technologthat are patentable;

. we will file patent applications for new proprigtaechnologies promptly or at all;

. our patents will not expire prior to or shordfter commencing commercialization of a product; or
. the patents of others will not have a negatfieece on our ability to do business.

In addition, we cannot be assured thatadrour pending patent applications will result$sued patents. In particular, we have filed patel
applications in the United States, the EuropeaarR&ffice and other countries outside the U.St ltla@e not been issued as patents. These
pending applications include, among others, sonteepatent applications we license pursuant icem$e agreement with Mount Sinai Schoo
of Medicine of New York University. If patents amet issued in respect of our pending patent apjiics, we may not be able to stop
competitors from marketing similar products in Bugaand other countries in which we do not haveeidgqatents.

The patents that we have licensed fromQ¥tai School of Medicine relating to use of migtdaso treat Fabry disease expire in 2018 in
the U.S. and 2019 in Europe, Japan, and Canadaldition to patent protection outside of the Uv&,intend to seek orphan medicinal proc
designation and

-44-




Table of Contents

to rely on statutory data exclusivity provisiongunisdictions outside the U.S. where such proteiare available, including Europe. The
patent rights that we own or have licensed relatingur product candidates are limited in ways thay affect our ability to exclude third
parties from competing against us if we obtain faiguy approval to market these product candiddtegarticular:

. We do not hold composition of matter patentsecmg migalastat. Composition of matter patentsprawide protection for
pharmaceutical products to the extent that theifipaity covered compositions are important. For ptoduct candidates for
which we do not hold composition of matter pateatsnpetitors who obtain the requisite regulatorgrapal can offer products
with the same composition as our products so lantip@ competitors do not infringe any method of pesents that we may ho

. For some of our product candidates, the pringip#ent protection that covers or those we expéttover, our product
candidate is a method of use patent. This typetsm only protects the product when used or smithfe specified method.
However, this type of patent does not limit a cotitpefrom making and marketing a product thatdsritical to our product that
is labeled for an indication that is outside of gfagented method, or for which there is a substhnie in commerce outside the
patented method.

Moreover, physicians may prescribe sucbrapetitive identical product for indications othilban the one for which the product has been
approved, or off-label indications, that are coddng the applicable patents. Although such off-ladsescriptions may infringe or induce
infringement of method of use patents, the pracgi@®mmon and such infringement is difficult t@pent or prosecute.

Our patents also may not afford us probactigainst competitors with similar technology. &ese patent applications in the U.S. and
many other jurisdictions are typically not publidhatil 18 months after filing, or in some casesatall, and because publications of
discoveries in the scientific literature often laghind the actual discoveries, neither we nor igenkors can be certain that we or they were th
first to make the inventions claimed in our or thesued patents or pending patent applicationthairwe or they were the first to file for
protection of the inventions set forth in theseepatipplications. If a third party has also filed .&. patent application covering our product
candidates or a similar invention, we may haveaigipate in an adversarial proceeding, knownramterference, declared by the U.S. Paten
and Trademark Office to determine priority of intien in the U.S. The costs of these proceedingsddo® substantial and it is possible that
efforts could be unsuccessful, resulting in a lafsgur U.S. patent position.

If we fail to comply with our obligations in our itellectual property licenses with third parties, weuld lose license rights that are
important to our business.

We are a party to a license agreement tiv#hMount Sinai School of Medicine of New York Uargity, pursuant to which we license key
intellectual property relating to our lead prodoahdidates. We expect to enter into additionahkes in the future. Under our existing license,
we have the right to enforce the licensed patghitsi Our existing license imposes, and we expettftiture licenses will impose, various
diligences, milestone payment, royalty, insuranue @her obligations on us. If we fail to complythvthese obligations, the licensor may have
the right to terminate the license, in which euwsatmight not be able to market any product thabigered by the licensed patents.

If we are unable to protect the confidentiality ofur proprietary information and knowhow, the value of our technology and produ
could be adversely affected.

We seek to protect our know-how and comfidé information, in part, by confidentiality agnments with our employees, corporate
partners, outside scientific collaborators, spoadaesearchers, consultants and other advisorals@dnave confidentiality and invention or
patent
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assignment agreements with our employees and mguttants. If our employees or consultants brehebd agreements, we may not have
adequate remedies for any of these breaches. licadaur trade secrets may otherwise become kntovar be independently developed by
others. Enforcing a claim that a party illegaliyt@ibed and is using our trade secrets is diffi@dpensive and time consuming, and the
outcome is unpredictable. In addition, courts algthe U.S. may be less willing to protect tradeests. Costly and time consuming litigation
could be necessary to seek to enforce and detethergcope of our proprietary rights, and failwrelbtain or maintain trade secret protection
could adversely affect our competitive businesstipos

If we infringe or are alleged to infringe the int&dctual property rights of third parties, it will dversely affect our business.

Our research, development and commerctadizactivities, as well as any product candidategroducts resulting from these activities,
may infringe or be accused of infringing one or enciaims of an issued patent or may fall within $hepe of one or more claims in a publis
patent application that may subsequently issua@mdhich we do not hold a license or other rightsird parties may own or control these
patents or patent applications in the U.S. andahrdhese third parties could bring claims agaisshat would cause us to incur substantial
expenses and, if successful against us, could eeugepay substantial damages. Further, if a patéfimngement suit were brought against us,
we or they could be forced to stop or delay reseatevelopment, manufacturing or sales of the prbduproduct candidate that is the subject
of the suit.

No assurance can be given that patentotexist, have not been filed, or could not bedfite issued, which contain claims covering our
product candidates, technology or methods. Becaiuee number of patents issued and patent apitafiled in our field, we believe there
a risk that third parties may allege they have matghts encompassing our product candidatesntdofy or methods.

We are aware, for example, of U.S. patertd,corresponding international counterparts, aWnethird parties that contain claims relatec
to treating protein misfolding. If any of these grats were to be asserted against us, while we toatieve that our product candidates would
be found to infringe any valid claim of such pageithere is no assurance that a court would firmbinfavor or that, if we choose or are
required to seek a license with respect to suotnpstsuch license would be available to us onpabke terms or at all. If we were to challe
the validity of any issued U.S. patent in court,waeuld need to overcome a presumption of validigt attaches to every patent. This burden i
high and would require us to present clear and ioecimg evidence as to the invalidity of the pateotaims. There is no assurance that a court
would find in our favor on infringement or validity

In order to avoid or settle potential claimith respect to any of the patent rights desdrédgove or any other patent rights of third payties
we may choose or be required to seek a license drtinrd party and be required to pay license asyalties or both. These licenses may na
be available on acceptable terms, or at all. Ef/er@ior our collaborators were able to obtain arge, the rights may be nonexclusive, which
could result in our competitors gaining accesitodame intellectual property. Ultimately, we coddprevented from commercializing a
product, or be forced to cease some aspect ofuminéss operations, if, as a result of actual matiened patent infringement claims, we are
unable to enter into licenses on acceptable teFhis.could harm our business significantly.

Others may sue us for infringing their patar other intellectual property rights or filellity, opposition or interference proceedings
against our patents, even if such claims are withwarit, which would similarly harm our businessirfhermore, during the course of litigatic
confidential information may be disclosed in thetrficof documents or testimony in connection withcdigery
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requests, depositions or trial testimony. Disclesofrour confidential information and our involvemén intellectual property litigation could
materially adversely affect our business.

There has been substantial litigation aheémoproceedings regarding patent and other imteitd property rights in the pharmaceutical anc
biotechnology industries. In addition to infringembelaims against us, we may become a party ta gent litigation and other proceedings,
including interference proceedings declared byutfe Patent and Trademark Office and oppositiorgedings in the European Patent Office
regarding intellectual property rights with respicour products and technology. Even if we prevh# cost to us of any patent litigation or
other proceeding could be substantial.

Some of our competitors may be able toasnshe costs of complex patent litigation moreetiively than we can because they have
substantially greater resources. In addition, argettainties resulting from any litigation couldusificantly limit our ability to continue our
operations. Patent litigation and other proceedimgg also absorb significant management time.

Many of our employees were previously emptbat universities or other biotechnology or phacautical companies, including our
competitors or potential competitors. We try toweshat our employees do not use the proprietdoyration or know-how of others in their
work for us. However, we may be subject to claiheg tve or these employees have inadvertently @raike used or disclosed intellectual
property, trade secrets or other proprietary infation of any such employee's former employer. hifigh may be necessary to defend against
these claims and, even if we are successful imdiig ourselves, could result in substantial ctstss or be distracting to our management. If
we fail to defend any such claims, in addition &yipg monetary damages, we may jeopardize valuatdibectual property rights, disclose
confidential information or lose personnel.

Risks Related to Regulatory Approval of Our ProductCandidates

If we are not able to obtain and maintain requirgdgulatory approvals, we will not be able to commiatize our product candidates,
and our ability to generate revenue will be matdhjaimpaired.

Our product candidates, including migatastand the activities associated with their depeient and commercialization, including their
testing, manufacture, safety, efficacy, recordkegplabeling, storage, approval, advertising, pribomy sale and distribution, are subject to
comprehensive regulation by the FDA and other i@guy agencies in the U.S. and by comparable aiti®m other countries. Failure to
obtain regulatory approval for a product candideiteprevent us from commercializing the produchdalate in the jurisdiction of the
regulatory authority. We have not obtained reguiatpproval to market any of our product candidateany jurisdiction. We have only limit
experience in preparing, submitting and maintainimgapplications necessary to obtain regulatopr@mls and expect to rely on third party
contract research organizations to assist us snpttucess.

Securing FDA approval requires the subroissif extensive preclinical and clinical data angporting information to the FDA for each
therapeutic indication to establish the productiadete's safety and efficacy. Securing FDA appraisd requires the submission of
information about the product manufacturing prodesand inspection of manufacturing facilities by FDA. Our future products may not be
effective, may be only moderately effective or npagve to have undesirable or unintended side efféaxicities or other characteristics that
may preclude our obtaining regulatory approvalrevpnt or limit commercial use.

Our product candidates may fail to obtaigulatory approval for many reasons, including:

. our failure to demonstrate to the satisfactiorhef EDA or comparable regulatory authorities thptaduct candidate is safe and
effective for a particular indication;
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. the results of clinical trials may not meet thedeof statistical significance required by the FDAcomparable regulatory
authorities for approval;

. our inability to demonstrate that a product canigabenefits outweigh its risks;
. our inability to demonstrate that the productdidate is at least as effective as existing thiesap
. the FDA's or comparable regulatory authoritibsagreement with the manner in which we interfiretdata from preclinical

studies or clinical trials;

. the FDA's or comparable regulatory authoritiedufaito approve the manufacturing processes, gualitcedures or
manufacturing facilities of third party manufactgrevith which we contract for clinical or commeicapplies; and

. a change in the approval policies or regulationhefFDA or comparable regulatory authorities shange in the laws
governing the approval process.

The process of obtaining regulatory appi®isaexpensive, often takes many years, if apprevabtained at all, and can vary substantially
based upon a variety of factors, including the hygmenplexity and novelty of the product candidate®lved. Changes in regulatory approval
policies during the development period, changew ithe enactment of additional statutes or reguiati or changes in regulatory review for
each submitted product application may cause détetlyge approval or rejection of an applicationeT¥DA and norild.S. regulatory authoritie
have substantial discretion in the approval proeessmay refuse to accept any application or maiddehat our data is insufficient for
approval and require additional preclinical, cladior other studies. In addition, varying interpietns of the data obtained from preclinical anc
clinical testing could delay, limit or prevent régtory approval of a product candidate. Any reqaatapproval we ultimately obtain may be
limited or subject to restrictions or post appros@imitments that render the approved product owtneercially viable. Any FDA or other
regulatory approval of our product candidates, aiatained, may be withdrawn, including for faildcecomply with regulatory requirements
if clinical or manufacturing problems follow initimarketing.

Our product candidates may cause undesirable siffeats or have other properties that could delaymevent their regulatory
approval or commercialization.

Undesirable side effects caused by ourymbdandidates could interrupt, delay or halt chhitrials and could result in the denial of
regulatory approval by the FDA or other regulatanghorities for any or all targeted indicationsd amturn prevent us from commercializing
our product candidates and generating revenuestfiemsale. In addition, if any of our product dafates receive marketing approval and we
or others later identify undesirable side effeetssed by the product:

. regulatory authorities may require the additdmestrictive labeling statements;
. regulatory authorities may withdraw their approofithe product; and
. we may be required to change the way the prodwadnsinistered or conduct additional clinical trials

Any of these events could prevent us fretmeving or maintaining market acceptance of tfiecé¢d product or could substantially
increase the costs and expenses of commercialiaengroduct candidate, which in turn could delapm@vent us from generating significant
revenues from its sale or adversely affect our tamn.
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We may not be able to obtain orphan drug exclugivibr our product candidates. If our competitors@mble to obtain orphan drug
exclusivity for their products that are the sameudy as our product candidates, we may not be abladawe competing products
approved by the applicable regulatory authority farsignificant period of time.

Regulatory authorities in some jurisdicipmcluding the U.S. and Europe, may designatggifor relatively small patient populations as
orphan drugs. We obtained orphan drug designafionsthe FDA for migalastat for the treatment obRadisease in February 2004. We also
obtained orphan medicinal product designation éEk for migalastat in May 2006. Generally, if @quct with an orphan drug designation
subsequently receives the first marketing apprérahe indication for which it has such designafithe product is entitled to a period of
marketing exclusivity, which precludes the applieategulatory authority from approving another nadirkg application for the same drug for
that time period. The applicable period is 7 yaathe U.S. and 10 years in Europe. For a drug as®g of small molecules, the FDA defines
"same drug" as a drug that contains the same auilecule and is intended for the same use. Obigioiphan drug exclusivity for migalastat
may be important to each of the product candidategsess. Even if we obtain orphan drug exclusiaityour products, we may not be able to
maintain it. For example, if a competitive prodtiwt is the same drug as our product candidateoiss to be clinically superior to our product
candidate or if we are unable to supply the maikef, orphan drug exclusivity we have obtained mill block the approval of such competii
product and we may effectively lose what had presfp been orphan drug exclusivity.

Any product for which we obtain marketing approvebuld be subject to restrictions or withdrawal frothe market and we may be
subject to penalties if we fail to comply with relgtory requirements or if we experience unanticiak problems with our products,
when and if any of them are approved.

Any product for which we obtain marketimgpaoval, along with the manufacturing processest ppproval clinical data, labeling,
advertising and promotional activities for suchduret, will be subject to continual requirementsnél review by the FDA and comparable
regulatory authorities. These requirements inclidemissions of safety and other post marketingim&tion and reports, registration
requirements, cGMP requirements relating to qualitytrol, quality assurance and corresponding reaarice of records and documents,
requirements regarding the distribution of sampdgshysicians and recordkeeping. Even if we obtagulatory approval of a product, the
approval may be subject to limitations on the iatic uses for which the product may be marketed thre conditions of approval, or contain
requirements for costly post marketing testing sundeillance to monitor the safety or efficacy loé fproduct. We also may be subject to state
laws and registration requirements covering theitdigion of our products. Later discovery of prawsly unknown problems with our produc
manufacturers or manufacturing processes, or @atlmcomply with regulatory requirements, may resulctions such as:

. restrictions on such products, manufacturers orufaturing processes;

. warning letters;

. withdrawal of the products from the market;

. refusal to approve pending applications or suppigmt approved applications that we submit;

. voluntary or mandatory recall;

. fines;

. suspension or withdrawal of regulatory approwalsefusal to approve pending applications or &mpnts to approved

applications that we submit;

. refusal to permit the import or export of our protiy
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. product seizure or detentions;
. injunctions or the imposition of civil or crimingknalties; and
. adverse publicity.

If we, or our suppliers, third party comti@rs, clinical investigators or collaborators si@wv to adapt, or are unable to adapt, to changes |
existing regulatory requirements or adoption of megulatory requirements or policies, we or outatmrators may lose marketing approval
for our products when and if any of them are appdpvesulting in decreased revenue from milestgresluct sales or royalties.

Failure to obtain regulatory approval in internatioal jurisdictions would prevent us from marketinguo products abroad.

In order to market our products in the Eld anany other jurisdictions, we must obtain segaragulatory approvals and comply with
numerous and varying regulatory requirements. fpeaval procedures vary among countries and cashimvadditional testing and clinical
trials. The time required to obtain approval mafedifrom that required to obtain FDA approval. Tiegulatory approval process outside the
U.S. may include all of the risks associated witkaming FDA approval. In addition, in many coua$ioutside the U.S., it is required that the
product be approved for reimbursement by governshaoked healthcare regulators or insurance providefore the product can be approved
for sale in that country. We may not obtain appt®®@m regulatory authorities outside the U.Sagimely basis, if at all. Approval by the
FDA does not ensure approval by regulatory autiesrin other countries or jurisdictions, and appitdw one regulatory authority outside the
U.S. does not ensure approval by regulatory autlsiin other countries or jurisdictions or by #@A. We may not be able to file for
regulatory approvals and may not receive necesggmsovals to commercialize our products in any retark

Risks Related to Employee Matters

Our future success depends on our ability to retaiar Chief Executive Officer and other key executivand to attract, retain and
motivate qualified personnel.

We are highly dependent on John F. Crowdey,Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, BradleyCampbell, our President and Chief
Operating Officer, William D. Baird, IIl, our Chidfinancial Officer and Jay Barth, M.D., our Chieédcal Officer. These executives each
have significant pharmaceutical industry experiefide Crowley is a commissioned officer in the UN&avy (Reserve), and he may be calle
active duty service at any time. The loss of MioWley for protracted military duty could materialiglversely affect our business. The loss of
the services of any of these executives might iragghd achievement of our research, developmentamadnercialization objectives and
materially adversely affect our business. We dommaintain "key person" insurance on Mr. Crowleyonorany of our other executive officers.

Recruiting and retaining qualified scieiatittlinical and sales and marketing personnel aldb be critical to our success. In addition,
maintaining a qualified finance and legal departgkey to our ability to meet our regulatory gfaltions as a public company and important
in any potential capital raising activities. Oudurstry has experienced a high rate of turnoveedemt years. We may not be able to attract anc
retain these personnel on acceptable terms giweodmpetition among numerous pharmaceutical artddsiaology companies for similar
personnel, particularly in New Jersey and surroog@ireas. Although we believe we offer competitiataries and benefits, we may have to
increase spending in order to retain personn&lelfail to retain our remaining qualified personaeteplace them when they leave, we may b
unable to continue our development and commereitidiz activities.
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In addition, we rely on consultants andisaiss, including scientific and clinical advisots,assist us in formulating our research and
development and commercialization strategy. Ousuliants and advisors may be employed by emplatbes than us and may have
commitments under consulting or advisory contradts other entities that may limit their availabjlito us.

Risks Related to Our Common Stock

Provisions in our corporate charter documents andder Delaware law could make an acquisition of wghich may be beneficial to
our stockholders, more difficult and may preventetpts by our stockholders to replace or remove ourrent management.

Provisions in our corporate charter andlylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a meegepisition or other change in control of us
that stockholders may consider favorable, includiagsactions in which our stockholders might othise receive a premium for their shares.
These provisions could also limit the price thakistors might be willing to pay in the future ftrvases of our common stock, thereby
depressing the market price of our common stoclkdutition, these provisions may frustrate or préagry attempts by our stockholders to
replace or remove our current management by makmgre difficult for stockholders to replace memndef our board of directors. Because
our board of directors is responsible for appomtime members of our management team, these pyosisbuld in turn affect any attempt by
our stockholders to replace current members ohtamagement team. Among others, these provisions:

. establish a classified board of directors, asda result, not all directors are elected at ne;t

. allow the authorized number of our directors tahanged only by resolution of our board of diregtor

. limit the manner in which stockholders can remoiveaiors from our board of directors;

. establish advance notice requirements for stocldngdcoposals that can be acted on at stockholdetimgs and nominations to

our board of directors;

. require that stockholder actions must be effectedduly called stockholder meeting and prohibitcas by our stockholders by
written consent;

. limit who may call stockholder meetings;

. authorize our board of directors to issue preféstock, without stockholder approval, which coik used to institute a "poison
pill* that would work to dilute the stock ownerstopa potential hostile acquirer, effectively pratiag acquisitions that have r
been approved by our board of directors; and

. require the approval of the holders of at least @f%e outstanding voting stock to amend or repedhin provisions of our
charter or bylaws.

Moreover, because we are incorporated lavare, we are governed by the provisions of Se@is of the Delaware General
Corporation Law, which prohibits a person who ownexcess of 15% of our outstanding voting stockfrmerging or combining with us fol
period of three years after the date of the traimam which the person acquired in excess of %ur outstanding voting stock, unless the
merger or combination is approved in a prescribadmar.

If the price of our common stock is volatile, purakers of our common stock could incur substantiases.

The price of our common stock is volatilée stock market in general and the market fordoimbology companies in particular have
experienced extreme volatility that has often bemrelated
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to the operating performance of particular companiéne market price for our common stock may bliénfced by many factors, including:

. results of clinical trials of our product candidate those of our competitors;

. our entry into or the loss of a significant colladion;

. regulatory or legal developments in the U.S. aiiotountries, including changes in the health paggnent systems;

. variations in our financial results or those of gamies that are perceived to be similar to us;

. changes in the structure of healthcare paymen¢msyst

. market conditions in the pharmaceutical and biatetilgy sectors and issuance of new or changedieswanalysts' reports or

recommendations;

. general economic, industry and market conditions

. results of clinical trials conducted by othersdyugs that would compete with our product carigista
. developments or disputes concerning patents or ptioprietary rights;

. public concern over our product candidates or angyicts approved in the future;

. litigation;

. acquisitions of business or assets;

. future sales or anticipated sales of our commockdty us or our stockholders; and

the other factors described in this "Risk Facteetion.

For these reasons and others potentiahpaers of our common stock should consider an imesg in our common stock as risky and
invest only if they can withstand a significantdand wide fluctuations in the market value oftierestment.

If securities or industry analysts do not publiskesearch or reports or publish unfavorable researabout our business, the price of
our common stock and trading volume could decline.

The trading market for our common stockedes in part on the research and reports thatifeswr industry analysts publish about us o
our business. If securities or industry analystadinitiate or continue coverage of us, the mgdirice for our common stock would be
negatively affected. In the event we obtain sei@gior industry analyst coverage, if one or morthefanalysts who covers us downgrades oul
common stock, the price of our common stock woillely decline. If one or more of these analystssesao cover us or fails to publish regulal
reports on us, interest in the purchase of our comstock could decrease, which could cause the pfiour common stock or trading volume
to decline.

Our executive officers, directors and principal stcholders maintain the ability to exert significanmfluence and control over matte
submitted to our stockholders for approval.

Our executive officers, directors and &fiédd stockholders beneficially own shares repitasgapproximately 24% of our common stock
as of December 31, 2014. As a result, if thesekbtaiders were to choose to act together, they wbeldble to exert significant influence and
control over matters submitted to our stockholderspproval, as well as our management and affeosexample, these persons, if they
choose to act together, could influence the eladatiodirectors and approval of any merger, consgilh, sale of all or substantially all of our
assets or other business
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combination or reorganization. This concentratibmaiing power could delay or prevent an acquisitidd us on terms that other stockholders
may desire. The interests of this group of stocltad may not always coincide with the intereststbér stockholders, and they may act,
whether by meeting or written consent of stockhddm a manner that advances their best inteagstsiot necessarily those of other
stockholders, including obtaining a premium valoetheir common stock, and might affect the prengimarket price for our common stock.

Item 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS.
None.
Item 2. PROPERTIES.

We currently lease approximately 73,646asqueet of office and laboratory space in CranpNiew Jersey and 7,700 square feet of o
and laboratory space in San Diego, California ueetain lease agreements. The initial term ofGhenbury, New Jersey lease expires
February 2019 and may be extended by us for twidiandl five-year periods. The facility at San Diegalifornia, was closed as part of the
restructuring process in December 2013. The learstaé San Diego, California location expires ipt@enber 2016. In May 2014, we entered
into a sublease agreement with a tenant for thairedar of our original lease term for the San Djdggalifornia facility. We believe that our
current office and laboratory facilities are addaguend suitable for our current and anticipatediaee

ltem 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS.

We are not currently a party to any matéeigal proceedings.
Item 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES.

None.
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PART Il

tem 5. MARKET FOR THE REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATEDSTOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market For Our Common Stock

Our common stock has been traded on theDWE Global Market under the symbol "FOLD" since M2y, 2007. Prior to that time,
there was no public market for our common stocle fidilowing table sets forth the range of high & closing sales prices of our common
stock as quoted on the NASDAQ Global Market forpleeiods indicated.

High Low
2014
First Quartel $ 3.0 $ 2.04
Second Quarte $ 334 $ 1.82
Third Quartel $ 747 $ 3.6C
Fourth Quarte $ 8.61 $ 5.3¢
High Low
2013
First Quartel $ 42: $ 2.64
Second Quarte 3.47 2.07
Third Quartel 2.8: 2.1¢
Fourth Quarte 2.4t 1.97

The closing price for our common stockegmarted by the NASDAQ Global Market on February 2015 was $8.48 per share. As of
February 24, 2015, there were 31 holders of reoboir common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid any dividesrdour capital stock. We currently intend toireey future earnings to finance our rese:
and development efforts, the further developmemtusfpharmacological chaperone technology andtparesion of our business. We do not
intend to declare or pay cash dividends to ourkstolclers in the foreseeable future.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities
None
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Performance Graph

The following performance graph comparesahmulative total return on our common stock dythre last five fiscal years with the
NASDAQ Composite Index (U.S.) and the NASDAQ Bidtrology Index during the same period. The graplhwvshbe value at the end
each of the last five fiscal years, of $100 invésteour common stock. Pursuant to applicable SHEsy all values assume reinvestment of the
full amount of all dividends, however no dividerts/e been declared on our common stock to datestblakholder return shown on the gre
below is not necessarily indicative of future penfiance, and we do not make or endorse any preulictie to future stockholder returns.
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—#— Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. —#— NASDACQ Composite MASDAQ Biotechnology

12/31/200¢  12/31/201C  12/31/2011  12/31/201z  12/31/201%  12/31/201¢
Amicus Therapeutics,

Inc . $ 10C $ 11¢ $ 87 $ 68 $ 5¢ $ 21C
NASDAQ Composite $ 10C $ 117 $ 11 $ 13z $ 184 $ 20¢
NASDAQ

Biotechnology $ 10C $ 11 $ 12¢ $ 17C $ 281 $ 371

The stock price performance included in this gragphot necessarily indicative of future stock priegformance.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
The Company did not purchase any sharés obmmon stock for the three months ended DeceBihe2014.
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Item 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA.
(in thousands except share and per share data)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Statement of Operations

Data:
Revenue
Research revent $ 1,22¢ $ 365 $§ 1159 $§ 1479 $ —
Collaboration and

milestone revenu — — 6,82( 6,64( 927
Total revenue 1,22¢ 363 18,41: 21,43 922
Operating expense
Research and developme 47,62¢ 41,94 50,27: 50,85¢ 39,04:
General and administrati\ 20,717 18,89: 19,36¢ 19,88( 15,66(
Changes in fair value of

contingent consideratiol

payable 10C — — — —
Restructuring charge (63) 1,98¢ — — —
Depreciation and

amortization 1,547 1,71¢ 1,70¢ 1,58¢ 2,05¢
Total operating expens 69,92t 64,54+ 71,34. 72,32 56,76(
Loss from operation (68,707 (64,187 (52,93) (50,887 (55,839
Other income (expense:
Interest incom 22¢ 174 31¢ 16C 15€
Interest expens (1,489 (46) (89 (14¢) (260)
Change in fair value of

warrant liability — 90¢ 653 2,76¢ (1,410
Other (expense) incon (77) — 21 70 1,271
Loss before tax benet (70,039 (63,145 (52,030) (48,04) (56,07%)
Income tax benef 1,118 3,51 3,24¢ 3,62¢ 1,13¢
Net loss $ (68,9200 $ (59,63) $ (48,789 $ (44,41H) $ (54,930
Net loss attributable t

common stockholders

common share — basic

and dilutec $ (0.99) $ (1.16¢) $ (1.07) $ (1.2¢) $ (1.9¢)
Weighted-average comm

shares outstanding —

basic and dilute: 74,444,15 51,286,05 45,565,21 34,569,64 27,734,79

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Balance Sheet Data:
Cash and cash equivalents ai

marketable securitie $ 169,13¢ $ 82,000 $ 99,12 $ 5570: $ 107,44
Working capital 134,39: 77,81% 95,37« 47,39: 93,45¢
Total asset 209,96 127,56: 110,08t 69,79t 112,55
Total liabilities 87,78¢ 81,81 40,86¢ 40,20: 47,61¢
Accumulated defici (447,44)  (378,52) (318,889 (270,109 (225,69
Total stockholders' equit $ 122,17¢ $ 45,750 $ 69,22( $ 29,59 $ 64,93
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ltem 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL GONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS.
Overview

We are a biopharmaceutical company foceseithe discovery, development and commercializatfomext-generation medicines for a
range of rare and orphan diseases, with a focumproved therapies for lysosomal storage disorf&SDs"). Our lead product candidate is a
small molecule that can be used as a monotherapinasombination with enzyme replacement theragR(T") for Fabry disease. Our
development programs also include next-generat®hsor LSDs, including Fabry disease, Pompe dsaasl Mucopolysaccharidosis Type |
("MPS I"). We believe that our platform technologiend our advanced product pipeline uniquely positis at the forefront of developing
therapies for rare and orphan diseases.

Program Status

Our personalized medicine approach consfsas oral small molecule pharmacological chapemmonotherapy that is designed to bind tc
and stabilize a patient's own endogenous targétiprdPatients with "amenable mutations" may reddmesed on their genetics. Our
Chaperone-Advanced Replacement Therapy, or CHARJI&orm combines chaperones with ERTs independeatpatient's own genetics.
In each CHART program, a unique pharmacologicapehane is designed to bind to a specific therapdatiogenous) enzyme, stabilizing the
enzyme in its properly folded and active form. Timay allow for enhanced tissue uptake, greatestysal activity, more reduction of
substrate, and the potential for lower immunogéici

Our Fabry franchise strategy is to devélmppharmacological chaperone migalastat HCI ("taigjat") for all patients with Fabry
disease — as a monotherapy for patients with amemalitations and in combination with ERT for ahet patients.

Migalastat for Fabry Disease as a Monotherapy

We have completed two Phase 3 global negish studies (Study 011 and Study 012) of migatasonotherapy and plan to submit
marketing applications in 2015. We have reportegselB data in both treatment naive patients ("Siddy or "FACETS") and enzyme
replacement therapy ("ERT") switch patients ("St0d" or "ATTRACT"). Positive results from thesedies have shown that treatment with
migalastat has resulted in reductions in diseabstgate, stability of kidney function, reductiomsdardiac mass, and improvement in
gastrointestinal symptoms in patients with amenahl¢éations in a validated assay ("GLP HEK assay").

Study 011 was a 24-month study of Fabrgalig patients naive to or not receiving ERT, whrighstigated the safety and efficacy of oral
migalastat. The study consisted of a 6-month deblitel, placebo-controlled period, a 6-month opabel period, and a 12-month open-label
extension phase. Subjects completing Study 011 elagible to continue treatment with migalastatitong-term open-label extension ("Study
041"). 67 subjects (24 male) were enrolled. Alljeats enrolled in Study 011 had amenable mutatiotise clinical trial human embryonic
kidney ("HEK") cell-based in vitro assay that wasidable at study initiation (“clinical trial assgyFollowing the completion of enrollment, a
GLP-validated HEK assay was developed with a thady to measure the criteria for amenability witbre quality control and rigor ("GLP
HEK assay"). Approximately 10% of mutations in tHEK database switched categorization between "abie'hand "non-amenable" when
moving from the clinical trial assay to the GLP HBEsay. Therefore, there were changes in categoriZeom amenable to non-amenable in
17 of the 67 patients enrolled in Study 011.

Study 011 was designed to measure the tieduaf the disease substrate (Globotriaosylcerapad "GL-3") in the interstitial capillaries
of the kidney following treatment with oral migatas(150 mg
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every other day). The 24-month study began withneo@th double-blind, placebo-controlled treatmesriqd, after which all patients were
treated with migalastat for a 6-month open-lab#bfe-up period, and a subsequent 12-month open-tiension phase. The study also
measured clinical outcomes, including renal funtcti@s secondary endpoints.

As previously reported, patients on migatexperienced greater reductions in GL-3 as coatp placebo during the initial 6-month
period; however, this difference was not statidiycsignificant under the original analysis of themary endpoint (responder analysis with a
50% reduction threshold at month 6). The variapdibd low levels of GL-3 at baseline contributea@ toigher-than-anticipated placebo
response at month 6.

Following the unblinding of the 6-month @aand while still blinded to the 12-month data,reported the mean change in GL-3 from the
baseline to month 6 as a post-hoc analysis inubgrsup of patients with GLP HEK-amenable mutatidrigs analysis showed a statistically
significant reduction in GL-3 in the migalastat gpocompared to placebo. The mean change in GL-3deasified as a more appropriate way
to control for the variability in GL-3 levels in &ty 011 and to measure the biological effect ofalagtat.

Results from this subgroup analysis furthgrport use of the GLP HEK assay in predictingoesiveness to migalastat. Following a
Type C Meeting with the U.S. Food and Drug Admiison ("FDA"), we revised the Statistical Analy$itan to pre-specify the primary
analysis at month 12 as the mean change in irttatstapillaries GL-3 in patients with GLP HEK anadate mutations.

Throughout 2014 and in early 2015 we angedrpositive 12- and 24-month data from Study Gid.langer-term data from Study 041 in
patients with amenable mutations who were naiEeR®. Top-line data were announced in April 2014 dath was presented to the scientific
community at the American Society of Human GendhSHG) in October 2014 and WORLDSymposium™ in ey 2015. Highlights
were as follows:

. Subjects who switched from placebo to migalaafi@r month 6 demonstrated a statistically sigaifi reduction in disease
substrate, or kidney interstitial capillary GL-3,maonth 12 (p=0.013), and a statistically significeeduction of disease substrate
in another important biomarker of disease, plagmma-Gb3. Subjects who remained on migalastat detraded a durable
reduction in kidney interstitial capillary GL-3, agll as a durable reduction in lyso-Gb3.

. Kidney function, as measured by estimated glaaefiltration rate (eGFR) and iohexol measuredRGmMGFR), remained
stable following 18-24 months of treatment with adastat in Study 011. Kidney function, as meastsedGFR, continued to
remain stable in patients receiving migalastattird$ 011 for at least 18 months and continuing tafgjat treatment in Study
041 for an average of 32 months. mGFR was notaeltein Study 041.

. Reduction in cardiac mass, as measured by leftieatar mass index (LVMi), was statistically sigo#nt following treatment
with migalastat for up to 36 months (average ofrizshths) in patients in Study 011 and 041.

. There was a significant decrease in diarrheadjusted p=0.03) in patients treated with migatastasus placebo during the 6-
month double-blind phase (Stage 1). After 18-24 tmewf treatment with migalastat, significant impements in diarrhea and
indigestion were observed in addition to favorakdeds in reflux and constipation. Gastrointestsyahptoms were assessed
using the Gastrointestinal Symptoms Rating ScaeR§), a validated instrument

. Migalastat was generally safe and well-tolerated

Study 012, our second Phase 3 registratiatly, is a randomized, open-label 18-month stodgstigating the safety and efficacy of oral
migalastat (150 mg, every other day) compared to
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standard-of-care infused ERTs (agalsidase betagaldidase alfa). The study also includes a 12 Imopen-label migalastat extension phase.
The study enrolled a total of 60 patients (malesfamales) with Fabry disease and genetic mutatamttified as amenable to migalastat
monotherapy in the clinical trial assay. Subjeatsemandomized 1.5:1 to switch to migalastat orai@non ERT. All subjects had been
receiving ERT infusions for a minimum of 12 monghsleast 3 months at the labeled dose) prior tereny the study. Based on the GLP HEK
assay, there were changes in categorization froenabie to non-amenable in 4 of the 60 patientslledrm Study 012.

Taking into account scientific advice fr&@aropean regulatory authorities, the pre-specifi@grimary outcome measures of efficacy in
Study 012 are the descriptive assessments of caiiigr of the mean annualized change in mGFR d@HR for migalastat and ERT. Both
MGFR and eGFR are considered important measuresalffunction. Success on mGFR and eGFR was [iveddo be measured in two
ways: 1) a 50% overlap in the confidence interbatsveen the migalastat and ERT treatment grougs2awhether the mean annualized
changes for patients receiving migalastat are with? mL/min/1.73 m2/yr of patients receiving ERWe prespecified that these renal funct
outcomes would be analyzed in patients with GLP Hifkenable mutations.

In August 2014, we announced positive 18ihalata from the Study 012. Data from Study 01Pevedso presented to the scientific
community at the American Society of Nephrology $M") in November 2014 and WORLDSymposium in Feby215. Highlights were as
follows:

. Migalastat had a comparable effect to ERT ofepéd' kidney function as measured by the chang&iRR and mGFR from
baseline to month 18.

. Levels of plasma lyso-Gb3, an important biomadfedisease, remained low and stable in patieitts amenable mutations who
switched from ERT to migalastat.

. There was a statistically significant decrease\fiMiLfrom baseline to month 18 in patients who sWwid from ERT to
migalastat
. Measures of pain and quality of life from thaeBiPain Inventory ("BPI") and Short Form 36 ("SFB&mained stable when

patients switched from ERT to migalastat.

. Migalastat was generally safe and well-tolerated

Following a meeting with the European Matks Agency ("EMA") held in the fourth quarter @@, we are on track to submit a
marketing application in Europe in mid-2015. We dalso scheduled a meeting with the US FDA in ifs¢ uarter of 2015 as we work to
make migalastat available for all amenable Fabtiepts as quickly as possible.

Migalastat Combination Programs for Fabry Disease

In support of our Fabry Franchise strategglevelop migalastat in combination with ERT fabFy patients with non-amenable mutations
we plan to conduct a longer-term Phase 2 Fabrydooirdastration study in 2015. In parallel, we arteimally developing our own Fabry cell
line for co-formulation with migalastat as a nextagration ERT for Fabry disease. We previously deted an open-label Phase 2 safety and
pharmacokinetics study ("Study 013") that invegidawo oral doses of migalastat (150 mg and 45pangdministered with agalsidase beta
or agalsidase alfa in males with Fabry diseaselk&i@tudy 011 and Study 012, patients in StudyWw&®& not required to have alpha-Gal
mutations amenable to chaperone therapy becauss, edhadministered with ERT, migalastat is desigodunind to and stabilize the
exogenous enzyme in the circulation in any patieotiving ERT. Each patient received their curcioste and regimen of ERT at one infusion.
A single oral dose of migalastat (150 mg or 450 mg} co-administered two hours prior to the nefitsion of the same ERT at the same dost
and regimen. Preliminary results from Study 013xgincreased
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levels of active alpha-Gal A enzyme levels in plasand skin following co-administration compared®T alone.
Next-Generation ERT for Pompe Disease

We are leveraging our biologics capabiitexd CHART platform to develop a next-generatiompPe ERT. This ERT consists of a
uniquely engineered rhGAA enzyme (ATB200) with gnimized carbohydrate structure to enhance uptdmjnistered in combination with
pharmacological chaperone to improve activity aiathifity. We acquired ATB200 as well as our enzytargeting technology through our
purchase of Callidus Biopharma.

In preclinical studies, ATB200 demonstrageeater tissue enzyme levels and further substedigction compared to the current approvec
ERT for Pompe disease (alglucosidase alfa), whieteviurther improved with the addition of a chapercClinical studies of pharmacological
chaperones in combination with currently market®&T & have established initial human proofeoficept that a chaperone can stabilize en:
activity and potentially improve ERT tolerabilitiyn 2013, we completed a Phase 2 safety and phakimaetizs study ("Study 010") that
investigated single ascending oral doses of a phestogical chaperone co-administered with alglutase alfa marketed by Genzyme, in
patients with Pompe disease. Each patient rec@imednfusion of ERT alone, and then a single ooakdof the pharmacological chaperone jus
prior to the next ERT infusion. Results from thisdy showed an increase in GAA enzyme activitylaspa and muscle when co-administere
compared to ERT alone.

Taken together, these preclinical and céihiesults support further development of ATB20@ambination with a pharmacological
chaperone as a next-generation Pompe ERT. Thatiaitiof a Phase 1/2 clinical study is expecteithinsecond half of 2015.

Collaborations
GSK

In November 2013, we entered into the Reisgreement (the "Revised Agreement”) with GSKspant to which we obtained global
rights to develop and commercialize migalastat a®aotherapy and in combination with ERT for Fatlisease. The Revised Agreement
amends and replaces in its entirety the Expandedehgent entered into between us and GSK in Jul 20" Expanded Collaboration
Agreement"). Under the terms of the Revised Agrednvee obtained global commercial rights to migelgsoth as a monotherapy and co-
formulated with ERT. For migalastat monotherapyKGsSeligible to receive post-approval and salesellamilestones, as well as tiered
royalties in the mid-teens in eight major markattsae the U.S. There was no other consideratiahtpaGSK as part of the Revised
Agreement.

Biogen

In September 2013, we entered into a cotkion agreement with Biogen Idec ("Biogen") teativer, develop and commercialize novel
small molecules that target the glucocerobrosifas€ase™) enzyme for the treatment of Parkinsoissade. In September 2014, we conclt
our research collaboration with Biogen. Our mostaaxted Parkinson's candidate is AT3375, which vealdped outside the collaboration
and is wholly-owned by us.

Other Potential Alliances and Collaborations

We continually evaluate other potentialaobrations and business development opporturitiegsvould bolster our ability to develop
therapies for rare and orphan diseases includiemsing agreements and acquisitions of businesskassets. We believe such opportunities
may be important
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to the advancement of our current product candipigieline, the expansion of the development ofauirent technology, gaining access to |
technologies and in our transformation to a commé&biotechnology company.

Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc.

In November 2013, we entered into a meageeement (the "Merger Agreement") with Callidusfiarma, Inc. ("Callidus"), a privately
held biotechnology company. Callidus was engagetkireloping a next-generation Pompe ERT and congaitamy enzyme targeting
technologies.

In connection with our acquisition of Cdlls, we agreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 mghamnes of our common stock to the former
stockholders of Callidus. In addition, we will beligated to make additional payments to the forsteckholders of Callidus upon the
achievement of certain clinical milestones of ugdd million and regulatory approval milestonespfto $105 million set forth in the merger
agreement, provided that the aggregate mergerdemasgion shall not exceed $130 million. We mayquatelection, satisfy certain milestone
payments identified in the merger agreement aggireg®40 million in shares of our common stock. Thigestone payments not permitted to
be satisfied in common stock (as well as any paysiwat we are permitted to, but chooses not tigfgan common stock), as a result of the
terms of the merger agreement, will be paid in cash

Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgmats and Estimates

The discussion and analysis of our findnmadition and results of operations are baseduwifinancial statements, which we have
prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accegtedunting principles ("U.S. GAAP"). The prepavatdf these financial statements
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffeat the reported amounts of assets and ligsliind the disclosure of contingent assets
and liabilities at the date of the financial sta¢ens, as well as the reported revenues and expdngag the reporting periods. On an ongoing
basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgmentsding those described in greater detail below.b&se our estimates on historical experis
and on various other factors that we believe ameaeable under the circumstances, the results ichvibrm the basis for making judgments
about the carrying value of assets and liabilities are not readily apparent from other sourcesu® results may differ from these estimates
under different assumptions or conditions. We belighat the following discussion represents ouicati accounting policies.

Revenue Recognitic

We recognize revenue when amounts arezezhtir realizable and earned. Revenue is consideatidable and earned when the follow
criteria are met: (1) persuasive evidence of aangement exists; (2) delivery has occurred or sesvhave been rendered; (3) the price is fixe
or determinable; and (4) collection of the amouhis are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revesualocated to each separate unit of accountingeant deliverable in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents sepandts of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righatafm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned criteria are not met, the
deliverable is combined with the undelivered elethemd the allocation of the arrangement consideraind revenue recognition is
determined for the combined unit as a single uinétcoounting. Allocation of the consideration igetenined at arrangement inception on the
basis of each unit's relative selling price. Irntamses where there is determined to be a singteofiaccounting, the total consideration is
applied as revenue for the single unit of accogndind is recognized over the period of inceptionugh the date where the last deliverable
within the single unit of accounting is expectedé&delivered.
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Our current revenue recognition policiebjol were applied in fiscal 2010, provide that, wizecollaboration arrangement contains
multiple deliverables, such as license and reseamdhdevelopment services, we allocate revenuadb geparate unit of accounting based on
selling price hierarchy. The selling price hierarébr a deliverable is based on: (i) its vendorcifie objective evidence ("VSOE") if available,
(ii) third party evidence ("TPE") if VSOE is not ailable, or (iii) best estimated selling price ("BE") if neither VSOE nor TPE is available.
We would establish the VSOE of selling price udimg price charged for a deliverable when sold se#phr. The TPE of selling price would be
established by evaluating largely similar and ich@ngeable competitor products or services in siand sales to similarly situated customers
The BESP would be established considering intdawbrs such as an internal pricing analysis onaame approach using a discounted cash
flow model.

We also consider the impact of potentitiifes payments we make in our role as a vendor t@astomers and evaluate if these potential
future payments could be a reduction of revenus fiteat customer. If the potential future paymeatthe customer are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit, and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from the &xgsrelationship between us and our customer, and
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from aypather than the customer, and

. the fair value of the identifiable benefit can lbasonably estimated,

then the payments are accounted for separatelytfiemevenue received from that customer. If, haweall these criteria are not satisfied, 1
the payments are treated as a reduction of revieomethat customer.

If we determine that any potential futuegyments to our customers are to be consideredettuation of revenue, we must evaluate if the
total amount of revenue to be received under ttengement is fixed and determinable. If the totabant of revenue is not fixed and
determinable due to the uncertain nature of themi@l future payments to the customer, then asyotner payments cannot be recognized as
revenue until the total arrangement consideratesoes fixed and determinable.

The reimbursements for research and dewedop costs under collaboration agreements that theefiteria for revenue recognition are
included in Research Revenue and the costs asseidh these reimbursable amounts are includedsearch and development expenses.

In order to determine the revenue recogmifor contingent milestones, we evaluate the ogetit milestones using the criteria as prov
by the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FAS@lidance on the milestone method of revenue r@tog at the inception of a
collaboration agreement. The criteria requires: tfiptve determine if the milestone is commensuvaté either our performance to achieve the
milestone or the enhancement of value resultingn foorr activities to achieve the milestone, (ii) thiestone be related to past performance,
and (iii) the milestone be reasonable relativelltdeliverable and payment terms of the collabaratrrangement. If these criteria are met thel
the contingent milestones can be considered asasuby® milestones and will be recognized as regenuhe period that the milestone is
achieved.

Research and Development Exper

We expect to continue to incur substaméakarch and development expenses as we contigieeetop our product candidates and
explore new uses for our pharmacological chaperectenology. Research and development expense toois

. internal costs associated with our researchctinital development activities;
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. payments we make to third party contract researgarozations, contract manufacturers, investigatites, and consultants;

. technology license costs;

. manufacturing development costs;

. personnel related expenses, including salariegfitgnravel, and related costs for the persomallved in drug discovery and

development;

. activities relating to regulatory filings ancethdvancement of our product candidates througtiipieal studies and clinical
trials; and
. facilities and other allocated expenses, whichudeldirect and allocated expenses for rent, facilidintenance, as well as

laboratory and other supplies.

We have multiple research and developmejegts ongoing at any one time. We utilize oueinal resources, employees and
infrastructure across multiple projects. We recmd maintain information regarding external, oupotket research and development
expenses on a project-specific basis.

We expense research and development cogtswarred, including payments made to date undeficense agreements. We believe that
significant investment in product development epetitive necessity and plan to continue thegesitments in order to realize the potential
of our product candidates.

The following table summarizes our printipaduct development programs, including the ezlattages of development for each produc
candidate in development, and the out-of-pockét] tharty expenses incurred with respect to eaoldymt candidate (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Projects
Third party direct project expens
Monotherapy Studie
Migalastat (Fabry Disea— Phase 3 $ 13,567 $ 8,977 $ 14,71¢
Afegostat tartrate (Gaucher Dise— Phase 2* 15 80 18¢€
Combination Studie
Fabry CHART (Fabry Diseas— Phase 2 1,05(C 623 2,68¢
Pompe CHART (Pompe Disea— Phase 2 7,47¢ 3,74¢ 2,367
Gaucher CHART (Gaucher Disee— Preclinical) — 21 —
Neurodegenerative Diseases (Preclini 28( 144 417
Total third party direct project expens 22,39( 13,59: 20,37:
Other project costé)
Personnel cosi 18,36¢ 20,257 21,08¢
Other cost$?) 6,86¢ 8,09« 8,81(
Total other project cos 25,23¢ 28,35 29,89¢
Total research and development c« $ 47,62« $ 4194+ $ 50,27

Q) Other project costs are leveraged across pheilirojects.
(2) Other costs include facility, supply, overhgand licensing costs that support multiple prgect

* We do not plan to advance our afegostat tartrateothe@rapy program into Phase 3 development atithés
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The successful development of our prodantates is highly uncertain. At this time, wem@ireasonably estimate or know the nature,
timing and costs of the efforts that will be ne@eggo complete the remainder of the developmewuofproduct candidates. As a result, we ar
not able to reasonably estimate the period, if anwhich material net cash inflows may commenoanflour product candidates, including
migalastat or any of our other preclinical prodcamdidates. This uncertainty is due to the numerigis and uncertainties associated with the
conduct, duration and cost of clinical trials, whigary significantly over the life of a project asesult of evolving events during clinical
development, including:

. the number of clinical sites included in the trjals

. the length of time required to enroll suitable pats;

. the number of patients that ultimately participatéhe trials;

. the results of our clinical trials; and

. any mandate by the FDA or other regulatory atitynéo conduct clinical trials beyond those cutigmnticipated.

Our expenditures are subject to additiamalertainties, including the terms and timing afulatory approvals, and the expense of filing,
prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patetitnslar other intellectual property rights. We mdogain unexpected results from our clinical
trials. We may elect to discontinue, delay or mpdifnical trials of some product candidates ord®on others. A change in the outcome of
of the foregoing variables with respect to the digmment of a product candidate could mean a siganiti change in the costs and timing
associated with the development, regulatory apprane commercialization of that product candid&iar. example, if the FDA or other
regulatory authorities were to require us to comdlinical trials beyond those which we currentitiaipate, or if we experience significant
delays in enrollment in any of our clinical triaige could be required to expend significant addaidinancial resources and time on the
completion of clinical development. Drug developmeray take several years and millions of dollardémelopment costs.

General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense congistzarily of salaries and other related costsluding stock-based compensation expense, fol
persons serving in our executive, finance, accagntegal, information technology and human resedunctions. Other general and
administrative expense includes facility relatedtsmot otherwise included in research, and dewedop expense, promotional expenses, cost
associated with industry and trade shows, and gsafeal fees for legal services, including patefdated expense and accounting services.

Interest Income and Interest Expel

Interest income consists of interest eapredur cash and cash equivalents and marketatieitses. Interest expense consists of interest
incurred on our debt agreements.

Stock Option Grants

In accordance with the applicable guidam@measure stock-based compensation at a faie vethich is determined by measuring the
cost of employee services received in exchangarf@award of equity instruments based upon the giatetfair value of the award. We chose
the "straight-line" attribution method for alloaagi compensation costs and recognized the fair \@fleach stock option on a straight-line basi:
over the vesting period of the related awards.
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We use the Black-Scholes option pricing elaghen estimating the value for stock-based awasde of a valuation model requires
management to make certain assumptions with retpseiected model inputs. Expected volatility wakulated based on a blended weighte
average of historical information of our stock ahe weighted average of historical information iafigar public entities for which historical
information was available. We will continue to wsblended weighted average approach using our éstorieal volatility and other similar
public entity volatility information until our histical volatility is relevant to measure expectedhuility for future option grants. The average
expected life was determined using a "simplifiedthod of estimating the expected exercise termwisithe mid-point between the vesting
date and the end of the contractual term. As aaksprice volatility has been over 75% and we hexfgerienced significant business
transactions, we believe that we do not have safftaeliable exercise data in order to justifyhamge from the use of the "simplified" method
of estimating the expected exercise term of em@m®feck option grants. The risk-free interest imteased on U.S. Treasury, zero-coupon
issues with a remaining term equal to the expddiedssumed at the date of grant. Forfeituresatenated based on expected turnover as
as a historical analysis of actual option forfestir

The weighted average assumptions useceiBldck-Scholes option pricing model are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Expected stock price volatilit 81.2% 82.(% 77.2%
Risk free interest rai 1.S% 1.3% 0.8%
Expected life of options (year 6.25 6.2F 6.2F
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0 $ 0.0C $ 0.0C

Restricted Stock Uni

In April 2014, the Compensation Committegda awards of restricted stock units ("RSUs") tbate employees of the Company. The
RSUs were awarded under the Plan are generallgsiuioj graded vesting of 50% of the RSUs on th® 18onth anniversary of the grant date
and the remaining 50% of the RSUs on thd"2@onth anniversary of the grant date, in each aasgingent on an employee's continued
service on such date. RSUs are generally subjdotfegture if employment terminates prior to thedease of vesting restrictions. We expense
the cost of the RSUs, which is determined to bddhemarket value of the shares of common stodkeulying the RSUs at the date of grant,
ratably over the period during which the vestingtrietions lapse.

In April 2014, our Board of Director appexithe Company's Restricted Stock Unit Deferrah Plae "Deferred Compensation Plan™),
which provides selected employees with an oppadstunidefer receipt of RSUs until the first to ocaf termination of the employee's
employment or a date selected by the employee.R8lys deferred under the Deferred Compensationvdaitd be fully vested once the
original vesting conditions of the RSUs were sa@ikf

Warrants

The warrants issued in connection withMeach 2010 registered direct offering were beiragsified as a liability in the December 2013
and 2012 balance sheets. The fair value of theantgiability was evaluated at each balance siegtetusing the Black-Scholes valuation
model. Any changes in the fair value of the wasdiatbility were recognized in the consolidatedestzent of operations. The warrants expired
on March 2, 2014.

The warrants issued in connection with20t3 SPA are classified as equity. As part of hE3?SPA, a total of 7.5 million common
shares and 1.6 million warrants were issued atd®2ed share, for
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total cash received of $15 million. The warrants iacluded in stockholder's equity and were irlitiaieasured at fair value of $1.0 million
using the Black Scholes valuation model.

Business Combinatior

We allocate the purchase price of acquigzinesses to the tangible and intangible assqtsrad and liabilities assumed based upon the
estimated fair values on the acquisition date. firehase price allocation process requires manageimenake significant estimates and
assumptions, especially at the acquisition datk vespect to intangible assets and in-processndsaad development ("IPR&D"). In
connection with the purchase price allocationsafaquisitions, we estimate the fair value of corgimgacquisition consideration payments
utilizing a probability-based income approach isahe of an estimated discount rate.

Although we believe the assumptions aniinedés made are reasonable, they are based inrphistorical experience and information
obtained from the management of the acquired bsséteand are inherently uncertain. Examples da€alrigstimates in valuing any contingent
acquisition consideration issued or which may keeés and the intangible assets we have acquiredpmacquire in the future include but are
not limited to:

. the feasibility and timing of achievement of dpment, regulatory and commercial milestones;
. expected costs to develop the in-process rels@ad development into commercially viable produaisd
. future expected cash flows from product sales.

Unanticipated events and circumstances agayr which may affect the accuracy or validitysath assumptions, estimates or actual
results.

Intangible Assets and Goodw

We record goodwill in a business combimatichen the total consideration exceeds the fairesaf the net tangible and identifiable
intangible assets acquired. Purchased in-procesaneh and development is accounted for as animitédfved intangible asset until the
underlying project is completed, at which point ihi&ngible asset will be accounted for as a difilived intangible asset, or abandoned, at
which point the intangible asset will be writterf of partially impaired. Goodwill and indefinitevkd intangible assets are assessed annual
impairment on October 1 and whenever events ouistances indicate that the carrying amount ofsaetamay not be recoverable. If it is
determined that the full carrying amount of an tisseot recoverable, an impairment loss is recdidghe amount by which the carrying
amount of the asset exceeds its fair value.

Valuation of Contingent Consideration Payable

Each period we reassess the fair valuhe€bntingent acquisition consideration payable@ated with certain acquisitions and record
changes in the fair value as contingent consid@ragkpense. Increases or decreases in the fai vélihe contingent acquisition consideration
payable can result from changes in estimated pilityaddjustments with respect to regulatory apgipehanges in the assumed timing of w
milestones are likely to be achieved and changassomed discount periods and rates. Significalgment is employed in determining the
appropriateness of these assumptions each peromdbréingly, future business and economic conditiasswvell as changes in any of the
assumptions described in the accounting for businembinations above can materially impact the arhoficontingent consideration expense
that we record in any given period.
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Accrued Expense

When we are required to estimate accrupemrses because we have not yet been invoiced emasie notified of actual cost, we identify
services that have been performed on our behaltatichate the level of service performed and tisecated cost incurred. The majority of
service providers invoice us monthly in arrearssienvices performed. We make estimates of our adoedpenses as of each balance shee
in our financial statements based on facts andicistances known to us. Examples of estimated ad@xggenses include:

. fees owed to contract research organizatiomsimection with preclinical and toxicology studax clinical trials;
. fees owed to investigative sites in connectidth wiinical trials;

. fees owed to contract manufacturers in conneatiith the production of clinical trial materials;

. fees owed for professional services, and

. unpaid salaries, wages and benefits

Nonqualified Cash Deferral Pla

In July 2014, our Board of Directors appgdithe Cash Deferral Plan (the "Deferral Plan")icWiprovides certain key employees and
other service providers as selected by the Compiengaommittee, with an opportunity to defer theeipt of such Participant's base salary,
bonus and director's fees, as applicable. The E#felan is intended to be a nonqualified defeo@apensation plan that complies with the
provisions of Section 409A of the Internal ReveQuazle (the "Code").

As of December 31, 2014, the amounts defeunder the Deferral Plan have not been inve$teelinvestments are expected to be made
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. All ofetinvestments held in the Deferral Plan will bessified as investments trading securities and
recorded at fair value with changes in the investisidair value recognized as earnings in the pettiey occur. The corresponding liability for
the Deferral Plan is included in other non-curiétiility in our consolidated balance sheets.

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Erdleckmber 31, 2013

Revenue. We recognized reimbursements for research ameldpment costs under the Biogen agreement aaRRbsRevenue. For
2014, we recognized $1.2 million as Research Revasiwcompared to $0.4 million in 2013 for reimbdreesearch and development costs.

Research and Development ExpensBesearch and development expense was $47i6miill2014, representing an increase of
$5.7 million or 13.6% from $41.9 million in 2013h& increase in research and development costsnmaarjly due to an increase in contract
manufacturing and research costs. Contract reséarased by $3.9 million and contract manufaotuby $4.6 million due to timing of
studies and changes in research plans for the FAHART and the Pompe CHART programs. The Fabry tagjat program also saw
increased spending due to the revised agreememewlewere responsible for 100% of the Fabry pnogeasts in 2014 as compared to 40%
in 2013. These increases were offset by decreaggrsonnel costs of $1.9 million, consultants @#$nillion and savings in facilities costs of
$0.5 million.

General and Administrative ExpenseGeneral and administrative expense was $2dlibmin 2014, an increase of $1.8 million or 9.5%
from $18.9 million in 2013. The increase was priilyadtue to personnel costs of $0.7 million, legafidiling fees of $0.7 million and
consulting fees of $0.2 million.
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Changes in Fair Value of Contingent Congatien Payable. For 2014, we recorded expense of $0.1 millepresenting an increase in
fair value of contingent consideration payable,chhivas related to the Callidus acquisition.

Restructuring Charges. Adjustments to the restructuring liability we$@.1 million in 2014 and were due to the changriinvalue of
future minimum lease payments. Restructuring chavggre $2.0 million in 2013 due to the corporasreeturing implemented in the fourth
quarter of 2013. This measure was intended to mdasts and to align our resources with our keatesgic priorities.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was #illlon in 2014, representing a decrease of $0.Hani
or 11.8% as compared to $1.7 million in 2013. Therdase was mainly due to asset disposals fromrela$ San Diego office in December
2013.

Interest Income. Interest income was $0.2 million in both 204 2013.

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $1.5 million in 2014 asmared to $0.05 million in 2013. Interest expenss higher due to the
$15 million loan secured in December 2013.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. In connection with the sale of our common stacll warrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta &ability at their fair value using a Black-Sd¢b® model and remeasured the fair value at
each reporting date until the warrants were exedets expired. Changes in the fair value of therardrliability were reported in the statements
of operations as non-operating income or expenséhése warrants expired in March 2014, for the gaded December 31, 2014, there was
no expense or income as compared to an income.®fillion related to the decrease in fair valuehef warrant liability from the year ended
December 31, 2013.

Other Income/Expense.Other income/expenses for 2014 included chao§&37 thousand for the increase in the fair vallihe succe:
fee payable, which was related to the $15 millieawsed loan in 2013. There was no other incomeftesgéor 2013.

Tax Benefit. During 2014 and 2013, we sold a portion of Mew Jersey state net operating loss carry forwandisresearch and
development credits, which resulted in the recagmiof $1.1 million and $3.5 million in income t&enefits for the years ended December 31
2014 and 2013, respectively.

Net Operating Loss Carry forwards.As of December 31, 2014, we had federal arte si@t operating loss carry forwards, or NOLS, of
approximately $268.5 million and $235.5 millionspectively. The federal carry forward will expire2028 through 2034. Most of the state
carry forwards generated prior to 2009 began tarexp 2012 and will continue to expire through 80The remaining state carry forwards
including those generated from 2009 through 201Pexpire in 2028 through 2034 due to a changdéNew Jersey state law regarding the
net operating loss carry forward period. Sectio 88the Code contains provisions which limit tmeaunt of NOLs that companies may util
in any one year in the event of cumulative chang@svnership over a thregear period in excess of 50%. We completed a éetailudy of oL
NOLs and determined that there was an ownershipgehin excess of 50% and the federal NOLs subgjeitted 382 limitations were writte
down to their net realizable value. Additionallye wetermined that the annual limitation on thaaatlon of the pre-ownership change loss will
be approximately $3.0 million. Ownership changefitnre periods may place additional limits on ability to utilize net operating loss and
tax credit carry forwards.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Efdlecember 31, 2012

Revenue. For the year ended December 31, 2013, we réoed)$0.4 million as Research Revenue for reimhilrssearch and
development costs as a result of our collaboratiitim Biogen.
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Under the Original License and Collabonatfggreement, GSK paid us an initial, non-refunddigiense fee of $30 million and a premium
of $3.2 million related to GSK's purchase of aniggmvestment in Amicus which was being recogniasdCollaboration and Milestone
Revenue on a straight-line basis over the developperiod. In addition, in June 2012, we recogniaek8.5 million payment for a clinical
development milestone as Collaboration and Milest@evenue. For the year ended December 31, 2012cegnized $6.8 million as
Collaboration and Milestone Revenue.

The reimbursements for research and dexedop costs under the Original License and CollaimraAgreement that met the criteria for
revenue recognition were recognized as ResearcbriRev For the year ended December 31, 2012, wgmizaml $11.6 million as Research
Revenue.

In July 2012, we entered into the Expan@etlaboration Agreement with GSK. Due to a chamgthe accounting for revenue recognition
for the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, all reserecognition was suspended until the total aearemnt consideration becomes fixed and
determinable. As a result, we no longer recognagdrevenue related to Collaboration and Milest@egenue or Research Revenue as of the
date of the Expanded Collaboration Agreement. Thergno cash effect of this change in accountind,there is no scenario where we would
have to refund any of its upfront payments, milestpayments, or research reimbursement payments.

Research and Development ExpensBesearch and development expense was $41i6miill2013, representing a decrease of
$8.4 million or 16.7% from $50.3 million in 2012h& variance was primarily attributable to an $8illion decrease in contract research,
partially offset by manufacturing increases of $hilion. The decreases were mainly driven by 8$fillion decrease in the Fabry migalastat
study and the increase was from $1.0 million inRleenpe CHART study. Other decreases were in peesaosts of $0.8 million and license
fees of $0.4 million.

General and Administrative ExpenseGeneral and administrative expense was $18l®min 2013, a decrease of $0.5 million or 2.6%
from $19.4 million in 2012. The variance was priityadue to a decrease in personnel costs of $0lE&mi$0.2 million in consulting fees and
$0.1 million in recruitment fees. These decreaseewwartially offset by increases of $0.2 milliontéax assessments and $0.2 million in legal
fees relating to business development activities.

Restructuring Charges. Restructuring charges were $2.0 million in 2018 to the corporate restructuring implementetthénfourth
quarter of 2013. This measure was intended to e=dasts and to align the Company's resources tgittel strategic priorities. The
restructuring charges included $1.2 million for éoyment termination costs payable in cash and isitfas consolidation restructuring charge
of $0.8 million, consisting of lease payments of/&@illion related to the net present value oftlee future minimum lease payments at the
cease-use date and the write-down of the net balle\of fixed assets in the vacated building ofL$4illion.

Depreciation and Amortization. Depreciation and amortization expense was #illibn in both 2012 and 2013. There was no inceeas
in depreciation and amortization expense due ®pesperty, plant and equipment purchased in 28k®mpared to prior years.

Interest Income Interest income was $0.2 million in 2013, ardase of $0.1 million or 33% from $0.3 million iBI2. The decrease in
interest income was due to the overall lower ave@sh and investment balances in 2013, compai2@ili

Interest Expense. Interest expense was $0.05 million in 2013gerélase of $0.04 million or 44% from $0.09 millior2012. The
decrease was due to a lower outstanding debt afanenost of 2013, prior to the secured loan olgdiin December 2013.

Change in Fair Value of Warrant Liability. In connection with the sale of our common stacll warrants from the registered direct
offering in March 2010, we recorded the warranta dability at
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their fair value using a Black-Scholes model andaasure the fair value at each reporting date tivetilvarrants are exercised or expired.
Changes in the fair value of the warrant liabiitg reported in the statements of operations asperating income or expense. During 2012,
there were approximately 0.5 million warrants eied; there were no warrants exercised in 2013theyear ended December 31, 2013, we
reported a gain of $0.9 million related to the @eske in fair value of the warrant liability fronetiiear ended December 31, 2012.

Other Income/Expense.There was no other income or other expensthéoyear ended December 31, 2013. Other incomthiéoyear
ended December 31, 2012 was $21 thousand and eesessh received from the sale of property, @adtequipment.

Tax Benefit. During 2012 and 2013, we sold a portion of Mew Jersey state net operating loss carry forwandisresearch and
development credits, which resulted in the recagmibf $3.2 million and $3.5 million in income téenefits for the years ended December 31
2012 and 2013, respectively.

Net Operating Loss Carry forwards.As of December 31, 2013, we had federal arne si@t operating loss carry forwards, or NOLs, of
approximately $203.8 million and $179.9 millionspectively. The federal carry forward will expire2028 through 2032. Most of the state
carry forwards generated prior to 2009 began tarexp 2012 and will continue to expire through 80The remaining state carry forwards
including those generated from 2009 through 201Pexpire in 2028 through 2032 due to a changdéNew Jersey state law regarding the
net operating loss carry forward period. Sectio 88the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as ameruwbedains provisions which limit the
amount of NOLs that companies may utilize in ang gaar in the event of cumulative changes in owrngrsver a three-year period in excess
of 50%. During 2013, there was no ownership changxcess of 50%; therefore there was no write-dtawmet realizable value of the federal
NOLs subject to the 382 limitation

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

In November 2014, we sold a total of 15iBiom shares of our common stock at a public affgrprice of $6.50 per share. The offering
generated gross proceeds of $103.5 million. Afeetutting the underwriting fee of $6.2 million arttier offering expenses of $0.1 million,
which included legal fees, the net proceeds obffering were approximately $97.2 million. We experuse the net proceeds of the offering
for investment in the global commercialization adtructure for migalastat monotherapy for Fabreakg, the continued clinical development
of its product candidates and for other genergd@a@te purposes.

In March 2014, we entered into a Sales Agrent with Cowen and Company, LLC ("Cowen") to teean at-the-market ("ATM") equity
program under which we would from time to time off@d sell shares of our common stock having aneggde offering price of up to
$40 million ("ATM Shares") through Cowen. Upon deliy of a placement notice and subject to the temusconditions of the ATM
agreement, Cowen used its commercially reasonéfiolgseto sell the ATM Shares, based upon our irgions. Cowen was entitled to a
commission at a fixed commission rate of up to 3di%he gross proceeds per ATM Share sold. SaléseoATM Shares under the Agreement
were made in transactions that were deemed totlib€'anarket offerings” as defined in Rule 415 unile Securities Act, including sales m
by means of ordinary brokers' transactions, incigadin The NASDAQ Global Market, at market priceasiotherwise agreed with Cowen. '
began the sales of ATM Shares in May 2014 and 568 million shares of common stock resulting ihpr@ceeds of $38.6 million, which
included Cowen's commission of $1.1 million ancelefges of $0.3 million. All sales under the ATMuity program have been completed.
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As a result of our significant research dadelopment expenditures and the lack of any aorproducts to generate product sales
revenue, we have not been profitable and have g&tkoperating losses since we were incorporat@@i2. We have funded our operations
principally with $148.7 million of proceeds fromdeemable convertible preferred stock offerings, 783 illion of gross proceeds from our
stock offerings, $130.0 million from investmentsdmnilaborators and non-refundable license fees ttuzse collaborations.

In December 2013, we entered into a ciadit security agreement with a lending syndicateklwpirovided an aggregate of $25 million
credit available. We drew $15 million of the aggatgprincipal amount in December 2013 and did n@vdhe additional $10 million that was
available through the end of the fourth quarte2@f4.

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash asld equivalents and marketable securities of $18@lbn. We invest cash in excess of our
immediate requirements with regard to liquidity axaghital preservation in a variety of interest-limginstruments, including obligations of
U.S. government agencies and money market accohtsrever possible, we seek to minimize the paéeffects of concentration and
degrees of risk. Although we maintain cash balamg#sfinancial institutions in excess of insur@uaiits, we do not anticipate any losses with
respect to such cash balances.

Net Cash Used in Operating Activities

Net cash used in operations for the yede@becember 31, 2014 was $51.7 million due prisnégithe net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2014 of $68.9 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $9.4 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of a decrease in receivablas collaboration agreements of $1.1 million; zmase of $2.3 million in prepaid assets
primarily related to a receivable from the 2013 gl state net operating loss carry forwards, ot Bt@nd an increase in accounts payable an
accrued expenses of $6.2 million, mainly relatedrigram expenses.

Net cash used in operations for the yede@becember 31, 2013 was $45.8 million due prisnésithe net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2013 of $59.6 million and the changeperating assets and liabilities of $4.8 millidhe change in operating assets and
liabilities consisted of a decrease in receivablas collaboration agreements of $2.1 million; aorease of $2.9 million in prepaid assets
primarily related to a receivable from the 2013 gl state net operating loss carry forwards, ot Bt@n increase in deferred reimbursements
of $6.3 million due to the deferral of all reveraga result of the Expanded Collaboration Agreemitht GSK; and a decrease in accounts
payable and accrued expenses of $0.7 million, maalated to program expenses.

Net Cash Used in and Provided by Investing Actiti

Net cash used in investing activities fog year ended December 31, 2014 was $107.1 milloninvesting activities have consisted
primarily of purchases and sales and maturitigav@stments and capital expenditures. Net cash insedlesting activities reflects
$162.8 million for the purchase of marketable siies; $0.2 million for the acquisition of properdynd equipment, partially offset by
$55.9 million for the sale and redemption of maakét securities.

Net cash provided by investing activitiesthe year ended December 31, 2013 was $26.Jlomildur investing activities have consisted
primarily of purchases and sales and maturitigav@stments and capital expenditures. Net cash inseslesting activities reflects
$83.3 million for the sale and redemption of maakdg securities partially offset by $56.6 milliar the purchase of marketable securities anc
$0.7 million for the acquisition of property anduggment.
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Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended December 31, 2014 was $139.@bmahd reflects $135.8 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock and $3.7 milifom exercise of stock options, partially offset®3.3 million on payment on our secured
loan agreement.

Net cash provided by financing activities the year ended December 31, 2013 was $29.4mélnd reflects $15.0 million in proceeds
from the issuance of common stock, $14.9 milliopiaceeds from secured loan arrangement, parbéiet by the $0.4 million in payments
our secured loan agreement and $0.1 million inrdediefinancing costs.

Funding Requirements

We expect to incur losses from operatiamdtie foreseeable future primarily due to researahdevelopment expenses, including
expenses related to conducting clinical trials. fture capital requirements will depend on a nundféactors, including:

. the progress and results of our clinical tr@fl®ur drug candidates, including migalastat;

. the cost of manufacturing drug supply for ounickl and preclinical studies, including the siigrgnt cost of new ERT cell line
development and manufacturing as well as the dasaoufacturing Pompe ERT,;

. the scope, progress, results and costs of prealidevelopment, laboratory testing and clinicalltrifor our product candidates
including those testing the use of pharmacologibaperones co-formulated and co-administered W Bnd for the treatment
of lysosomal storage diseases;

. the costs, timing and outcome of regulatory @evof our product candidates;

. the number and development requirements of gitextuct candidates that we pursue;

. the costs of commercialization activities, inclugliproduct marketing, sales and distribution;

. the emergence of competing technologies and otharae market developments;

. the costs of preparing, filing and prosecuting pasmplications and maintaining, enforcing and ddfieg intellectual property

related claims;
. the extent to which we acquire or invest in busiees products or technologies; and

. our ability to establish collaborations and dbtailestone, royalty or other payments from angtscollaborators.

We do not anticipate that we will genenaeenue from commercial sales until at least 2@1d,all. In the absence of additional funding,
we expect our continuing operating losses to resuitcreases in our cash used in operations dvenéxt several quarters and years. We may
seek additional funding through public or privateaficings of debt or equity. We believe that oustixg cash and cash equivalents and short
term investments will be sufficient to fund the reunt operating plan into 2017.

Financial Uncertainties Related to Potential Futureayments
Milestone Payments / Royalties

Under our license agreements, if we owealt®s on net sales for one of our products to nifwee one licensor, then we have the right to
reduce the royalties owed to one licensor for igmlpaid to another. The amount of royalties toffget is generally limited in each license
and can vary under each agreement.
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Under the Revised Agreement, GSK is eligtol receive post-approval and sales-based milest@s well as tiered royalties in the mid-
teens in eight major markets outside the U.S. figafastat. In addition, because we reacquired wadd rights to migalastat, we are no longer
eligible to receive any milestones or royaltieswaild have been eligible to receive under the @&dbCollaboration Agreement. We will owe
royalties to Mt. Sinai School of Medicine ("MSSMH) addition to those owed to GSK.

To date, we have not made any royalty paysen sales of our products.
Contractual Obligations

The following table summarizes our sigrifit contractual obligations and commercial committe@t December 31, 2014 and the effect
such obligations are expected to have on our liguahd cash flows in future periods (in thousands)

Less than 13 35 Over 5

Total 1 Year Years Years Years
Operating lease obligatiol $ 791¢ $ 2,03 $ 380 $ 2,07t $ —
Debt obligation: 15,45( 4,03t 11,41t — —
Total fixed contractual obligation¥ $ 2336¢ $ 6,06 $ 15220 $ 2,078 $ —

(1)  This table does not include (a) any milestone paymehich may become payable to third parties ulidense
agreements as the timing and likelihood of suchhmats are not known, (b) any royalty payments it tharties as the
amounts of such payments, timing and/or the likalthof such payments are not known, (¢) amoungs)yf that may be
committed in the future to construct additionalilides, and (d) contracts that are entered intthenordinary course of
business which are not material in the aggregaéaynperiod presented abo

In December 2013, we entered into a ciatit security agreement with a lending syndicateisting of MidCap Funding Ill, LLC,
Oxford Finance LLC, and Silicon Valley Bank whictopides an aggregate of $25 million (the "Term LYawe drew $15 million of the
aggregate principal amount of the Term Loan aetie of December 2013 (the "First Tranche") andndiddraw on the additional $10 million,
which was available to us through December 201e '{8econd Tranche"). The principal outstandingadeof the First Tranche bears interes
at a rate per annum fixed at 8.5%. We made intendgtpayments on the Term Loan beginning Janua®014 and will continue through
April 1, 2015, after which we will repay the aggadg principal outstanding balance of the Term Lioa33 equal monthly installments of
principal, plus accrued interest at the applicate. The Term Loan matures on December 27, 201§ Térm Loan contains customary terms
and conditions which we have at all times beerommliance with throughout the duration of the Téroan. We also recorded payments made
and a contingent payable to the lenders at DeceBihe2014. These payments include a debt faciigydf $0.1 million which was paid on the
date of the First Tranche, $0.4 million exit featthvill be payable upon repayment of the term laad $0.3 million representing the fair value
of a contingent payment of up to $0.4 million rethto a success fee payable within six monthsgder event, with the trigger event being
regulatory acceptance of NDA or MAA submission. STt effective five years from the closing of therf Loan. The success fee payable to
the lender was probability adjusted and discountéiding an appropriate discount rate. We havéuded in the debt obligations of the
contractual obligations above, the principal payts@md the exit fees that we are contractuallygaltéid to pay.

In April 2014, we entered into a revisedpdagment agreement with our chairman and chief etree officer, John F. Crowley replacing
his June 2011 employment agreement. The new agregrmvides for an annual base salary, a cash bafnys to 60% of base salary, and
monthly payments up
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to an annual maximum of $0.8 million in 2014 fott ofipocket medical expenses, and the corresportdingross-up payments. The remaining
terms of the revised employment agreement are auiiesty similar to Mr. Crowley's prior employmeagreement. The revised agreement will
continue for successive one-year terms until eitfagty provides written notice of termination te thther in accordance with the terms of the
agreement.

We currently lease laboratory and officacgin Cranbury, New Jersey. The initial term &fldase, which commenced in March 2012,
runs for seven years and may be extended for tditiadal five-year periods. The facility at San B California, was closed as part of the
restructuring process in December 2013, but weaailitinue to make payments until lease expiregept&nber 2016. In May 2014, we ente
into a sublease agreement with a tenant for thaireter of our original lease term for the San Djggalifornia facility.

We have entered into agreements with @dinmesearch organizations and other outside cdotsawho are partially responsible for
conducting and monitoring our clinical trials farradrug candidates including migalastat . Thesdraatual obligations are not reflected in the
table above because we may terminate them withenalfy.

We have no other lines of credit or othemmitted sources of capital. To the extent ourtehpesources are insufficient to meet future
capital requirements, we will need to raise adddiacapital or incur indebtedness to fund our ofp@na. We cannot assure you that additional
debt or equity financing will be available on acedye terms, if at all.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We had no off-balance sheet arrangement$ Becember 31, 2014 and 2013.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2074Business Combinations (Topic 805): Pushdown AcdoginfThe amendments in ASU
2014417 provide an acquired entity with an option tolggushdown accounting in its separate financialeshents upon occurrence of an e
in which an acquirer obtains control of the acciieatity. The ASU is effective on November 18, 20A#er the effective date, an acquired
entity can make an election to apply the guidandeture change-in-control events or to its moserg change-in-control event. However, if
the financial statements for the period in whioh thost recent change-in-control event occurrecdirdave been issued or made available tc
be issued, the application of this guidance woadlzthange in accounting principle. We are culyeagbessing the impact that this standard
will have on our consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014Fr&sentation of Financial Statements-Going Cong¢&ubtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Continag a Going Concernwhich defines management's responsibility tossae entity's ability
to continue as a going concern, and to providdeéltootnote disclosures if there is substantialbd@bout its ability to continue as a going
concern. The pronouncement is effective for anmefabrting periods ending after December 15, 2016 warly adoption permitted. The
adoption of this guidance is not expected to hasigrificant impact on our consolidated financiatsments.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014hH temoves the definition of development stagayefibm the accounting standards
codification, thereby removing the financial refragtdistinction between development stage entdigd other reporting entities from
U.S. GAAP. In addition, the ASU eliminates the riegments for development stage entities to (i) @néfnception-to-date information in the
statement of income, cash flow and stockholdenstgii) label the financial statements as thofa development stage entity, (iii) disclose a
description of the development stage activities in

-74-




Table of Contents

which the entity is engaged, and (iv) disclosehimfirst year in which the entity is no longer aelepment stage entity that in prior years it hac
been in the development stage. We applied the Afddteve from the financial statements as of JuBgZ®14.

In May 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-8&venue From Contracts With Customeitsat outlines a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arisiogfcontracts with customers and supersedes mosintuevenue recognition guidance,
including industryspecific guidance. The ASU is based on the priedipht an entity should recognize revenue to déjpéctransfer of goods
services to customers in an amount that refleets¢imsideration to which the entity expects totéled in exchange for those goods or
services. The ASU also requires additional disglesbout the nature, amount, timing and uncertahtgvenue and cash flows arising from
customer contracts, including significant judgmeard changes in judgments and assets recognizecciysts incurred to fulfill a contract.
Entities have the option of using either a fulfospective or a modified retrospective approactitferadoption of the new standard. The ASU
becomes effective for us at the beginning of it§72fiscal year; early adoption is not permitted. 8¥e currently assessing the impact that this
standard will have on its consolidated financiatestnents.
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ltem 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK.

Market risk is the risk of change in fa#we of a financial instrument due to changes tierast rates, equity prices, creditworthiness,
financing, exchange rates or other factors. Oun@ry market risk exposure relates to changes @nést rates in our cash, cash equivalents ar
marketable securities. We place our investmenisgh-quality financial instruments, primarily monmarket funds, corporate debt securities,
asset backed securities and U.S. government agexey with maturities of less than one year, wiiehbelieve are subject to limited interest
rate and credit risk. The securities in our invesitrportfolio are not leveraged, are classified\aslable-for-sale and, due to the short-term
nature, are subject to minimal interest rate Ngk. currently do not hedge interest rate exposudecansistent with our investment policy, we
do not use derivative financial instruments in imwestment portfolio. At December 31, 2014, we H&169.1 million in cash, cash equivalents
and available for sale securities and due to thet4brm maturities of our investments, we do neltdve that a 10% change in average interes
rates would have a significant impact on our irgeiecome. As December 31, 2014, our cash, cashalquots and available for sale securities
were all due on demand or within one year. Ourtantling debt has a fixed interest rate and thesefwe have no exposure to interest rate
fluctuations.

We have operated primarily in the U.Shaligh we do conduct some clinical activities wiéimglors outside the U.S. While most expe!
are paid in U.S. dollars, there are minimal paymemade in local foreign currency. If exchange ratedergo a change of 10%, we do not
believe that it would have a material impact on saults of operations or cash flows.
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Item 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA.

Management's Report on Consolidated Financial Stateents and
Internal Control over Financial Reporting

The management of Amicus Therapeutics,Hae.prepared, and is responsible for the Compaaopsolidated financial statements and
related footnotes. These consolidated financiaéstants have been prepared in conformity with ge®erally accepted accounting principles
("U.S. GAAP").

We are responsible for establishing anchta@ing adequate internal control over finanoggdarting. Internal control over financial
reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-1%{fdmulgated under the Securities Exchange AcB8#flas a process designed by, or under
the supervision of the Company's principal exeeusiad principal financial officers and effectedthg Company's board of directors,
management, and other personnel, to provide rebkpaasurance regarding the reliability of finahoégorting and the preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordanceWvih GAAP and includes those policies and procesithat:

. pertain to the maintenance of records that in megsie detail accurately and fairly reflect the sactions and dispositions of the
assets of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

. provide reasonable assurance that transactiengeorded as necessary to permit preparationafdial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting iptes; and that receipts and expenditures of Amibagapeutics, Inc. are
being made only in accordance with authorizatidne@anagement and directors of Amicus therapeutics; and

. provide reasonable assurance regarding preventibmely detection of unauthorized acquisition, oselisposition of the asse
of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. that could have a mi@teffect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not preventetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future perioassabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

We assessed the effectiveness of our iateomtrol over financial reporting as of DecemBgr 2014. In making this assessment, we use
the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsgi®rganizations of the Treadway Commission (20athéwork) ("COSO") in Internal
Control — Integrated Framework. Based on our assesswe believe that, as of December 31, 2014imemal control over financial
reporting is effective based on those criteria.

The effectiveness of the Company's intecoalrol over the financial reporting as of Decembg, 2014 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public acdagrfirm, as stated in their report. This reporpaars on the following page.

Dated March 3, 2015

/s/ JOHN F. CROWLEY /s/ WILLIAM D. BAIRD llI

Chairman and Chief Executive Offic Chief Financial Office
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited Amicus Therapeutics, Imet&rnal control over financial reporting as ofd@enber 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control — Integrated Framwissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Orgaitinatof the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework)(the "COSO criteria"). Amicus Theeatics, Inc.'s management is responsible for ramimy effective internal control over
financial reporting, and for its assessment ofeffiectiveness of internal control over financigboeting included in the accompanying repor!
consolidated financial statements and internalrobiwer financial reporting. Our responsibilitytis express an opinion on the company's
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance withdtandards of the Public Company Accounting Ogiet8oard (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegtfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre® considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company's internal control over finanaigborting is a process designed to provide redderassurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordantiegeinerally accepted accounting princip
A company's internal control over financial repogtincludes those policies and procedures that€ftpin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®ttbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabburance regarding prevention or timely deteatfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company's assets that could havaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, intdroontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssabject to the risk that controls may becomdeénaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Amicus Therapeutics, In@imained, in all material respects, effective iing control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatdoard (United States), the
consolidated balance sheets of Amicus Therapeuiticsas of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and tlgedkonsolidated statements of
operations, comprehensive loss, changes in stod&tmlequity and cash flows for each of the thesryin the period ended December 31,
2014 of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., and our repated March 3, 2015 expressed an unqualified opittiereon.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 3, 2015

-78-




Table of Contents

Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying conselitibalance sheets of Amicus Therapeutics, Incf Becember 31, 2014 and 2013, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, oelmepsive loss, changes in stockholders' equitycasl flows for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2014. These finastzis@ments are the responsibility of the Compangisagement. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on these financial statemerstschan our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance thighstandards of the Public Company Accounting Slgat Board (United States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet &andbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and diss in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenewnilhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statementened to above present fairly, in all materialpests, the consolidated financial position of
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. at December 31, 2014281, and the consolidated results of its operatin its cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2014 inoconiy with U.S. generally accepted accounting giptes.

We also have audited, in accordance wighstndards of the Public Company Accounting Ogatd8oard (United States), Amicus
Therapeutics, Inc.'s internal control over finahoigporting as of December 31, 2014, based onri@itstablished in Internal Control —
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpiong Organizations of the Treadway Commissidi8framework) and our report
dated March 3, 2015 expressed an unqualified opithiereon.

/s/  Ernst & Young LLF

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 3, 2015
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 31

2014 2013
Assets:
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 24,07 $ 43,64(
Investments in marketable securit 127,60: 38,36(
Receivable due from collaboration agreem — 1,08:
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 2,90z 5,19¢
Total current asse 154,57" 88,27¢
Investments in marketable securit 17,46¢ —
Property and equipment, less accumulated depregiatid amortizatior
of $11,520 and $9,973 at December 31, 2014 and,284Bectively 2,811 4,12(
In-process research & developm 23,00( 23,00(
Goodwill 11,61 11,61
Other nor-current asset 502 552
Total Assets $ 209,960 $ 127,56
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expel $ 16,34 $ 10,16
Current portion of secured loi 3,84( 29¢
Total current liabilities 20,18t 10,46
Deferred reimbursemen 36,62( 36,673
Secured loan, less current port 10,51( 14,17¢
Contingent consideration payal 10,70( 10,60(
Deferred tax liability 9,18¢ 9,18¢
Other nor-current liability 58¢ 714
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholders' equity
Common stock, $.01 par value, 125,000,000 shartbor@zed,
95,556,277 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2014
61,975,416 shares issued and outstanding at Dec&hp2013 1,01t 67¢
Additional paic-in capital 568,74 423,59
Accumulated other comprehensive incc (132 1
Accumulated defici (447,44  (378,52)
Total stockholders' equi 122,17¢ 45,75
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 209,960 $ 127,56:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsistents
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Revenue

Research revent $ 1,22¢ % 362 $ 11,59:

Collaboration and milestone rever — — 6,82(
Total revenue 1,22¢ 362 18,41:
Operating Expense

Research and developm 47,62¢ 41,944 50,27:

General and administrati 20,71; 18,89: 19,36¢

Changes in fair value of contingent considerati

payable 10C — —

Restructuring charge (63) 1,98¢ —

Depreciation and amortizatic 1,54 1,71¢ 1,70¢
Total operating expens 69,92¢ 64,54+ 71,34
Loss from operation (68,707 (64,187 (52,93)
Other income (expense:

Interest incomt 228 174 31¢€

Interest expens (1,489 (46) (89

Change in fair value of warrant liabili — 90¢ 653

Other (expense)/incorn (77) — 21
Loss before income tax bene (70,039 (63,145 (52,030
Income tax benefi 1,11:% 3,512 3,24¢
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (68,926 $ (59,639 $ (48,785
Net loss attributable to common stockholders

common shar— basic and dilute $ (0.99) $ (1.16€) $ (1.07)
Weighted-average common shares outstanding -

basic and dilute: 74,444,15 51,286,05 45,565,21
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Net loss $ (68,92¢) $ (59,637 $ (48,78YH
Other comprehensive income/(los

Unrealized (loss)/ gain on availa-for-sale securitie (139 (13) 10
Other comprehensive (loss)/income before incomed (1393 a3 10
Provision for income taxes related to other comensive

(loss)/income item&) — _ _
Other comprehensive (loss)/incol $ (139 $ (13 $ 1C
Comprehensive los $ (69,059 $ (59,646 $ (48,779
(&) — Taxes have not been accrued on unrealized gaseaurities as the Company is in a loss positiomafigperiods

presented
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Changes in StockholderSguity
For the Years ended December 31, 2012, 2013 and 201
(in thousands, except share amounts)

Other Total
Common Stock Additional Comprehensive  Accumulated Stockholders'
Paid-In
Shares Amount Capital Gain/ (Loss) Deficit Equity
Balance at December 31, 2C 34,654,20 $ 407 $ 299,28! $ 4 $ (270,10) $ 29,59:
Stock issued from exercise of
stock options, ne 436,95: 4 1,62¢ — — 1,63(
Stock issued from exercise of
warrants 90,93: 1 38¢€ — — 387
Stock issued from collaboratior
agreemen 2,949,58 28 18,11: — — 18,14(
Stock issued from public offerir ~ 11,500,00 11t 61,94( — — 62,05¢
Stocl-based compensatic — — 6,191 — — 6,191
Unrealized holding gain on
availablefor-sale securitie — — — 10 — 10
Net loss — — — — (48,78%) (48,78%)
Balance at December 31,
2012 49,631,67 $ 55¢ $ 387,53¢ $ 14 $ (318,88) $ 69,22(
Stock and warrants issued in
financing 7,500,001 75 14,92¢ — — 15,00(
Stock issued for Callidus
acquisition 4,843,74. 48 14,95: — — 15,00(
Stock-based compensatic — — 6,17 — — 6,177
Unrealized holding loss on
availablefor-sale securitie — — — (13) — (23)
Net loss — — — — (59,637) (59,637)
Balance at December 31, 2C 61,97541 $ 67¢ $ 423,59: $ 1 $ (37852) $ 45,75
Stock issued from exercise of
stock options, ne 965,54« 10 3,66° — — 3,67¢
Stock issued for Callidus
acquisition 2,359,59: 24 (24) — — —
Stock issued from public offerir 15,927,50 15¢ 97,01( — — 97,16¢
Stock issued from ATM
transaction: 14,328,22 14z 38,49: — — 38,63¢
Stocl-based compensatic — — 6,00¢ — — 6,00¢
Unrealized holding loss on
availablefor-sale securitie — — — (233) — (23%)
Net loss — — — — (68,92¢) (68,92€)
Balance at December 31, 2C 95,556,27 $ 1,01f $ 568,74. $ (132) $ (447,44H) $ 122,17¢
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in th

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash irsed
operating activities
Non-cash interest expen
Depreciation and amortizatic
Stoclk-based compensatic
Restructuring charge
Change in fair value of warrant liabili
Non-cash changes in the fair value of contingent
consideration payab
Loss on disposal of ass
Changes in operating assets and liabilii
Receivable due from collaboration agreem:
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Other nor-current assel
Account payable and accrued exper
Non-current liabilities
Deferred reimbursemen
Net cash used in operating activit

Investing activities

Sale and redemption of marketable secur
Purchases of marketable securi

Purchases of property and equipm

Net cash (used in)/ provided by investing actigi

Financing activities

ousands)

Years Ended December 31

2014

2013

2012

$ (68,920 $ (59,63) $ (48,78Y

Proceeds from issuance of common stock and warnagits

of issuance cos
Payments of secured loan agreen
Payments related to deferred financ
Proceeds from exercise of stock opti
Proceeds from secured loan agreen
Net cash provided by financing activiti
Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of yeaidg
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year/p:

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informatiol
Cash paid during the period for inter

Non-cash activities

Conversion of warrants to common st

277 — —

1,547 1,71¢ 1,70¢
6,00¢ 6,177 6,191
(63) 1,98¢ —

— (90¢) (659)

10C — —

— — 28

1,08: 2,14z 1,81¢
2,29: (2,925) 3,63:

26 — 267

6,16¢ (612) (862)
(126) — —

(57) 6,25¢ 2,91¢
(51,669 (45,799 (33,749
55,91 83,33 83,35:
(162,75) (56,559  (118,45)
(239) (69E) (4,324)
(107,07() ~ 26,08: (39,437
135,800  15,00( 80,19t
(299) (39¢) (1,342)

— (110) —

3,67¢ — 1,63(

— 14,88 99t
139,17¢ __ 29,38( 8147t
(19,56¢) 9,66¢ 8,30:
43,64( 33,97 25,66¢

$ 2407: $ 43,64 33,97
$  1,18¢ $ 30 84
$ — 3 — 38¢€
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements
1. Description of Business
Corporate Information, Status of Operations, and Magement Plans

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. (the "Company8dsvincorporated on February 4, 2002 in Delawaresadiopharmaceutical company
focused on the discovery, development and commati@n of nextgeneration medicines for a range of rare and orpliseases, with a foc
on improved therapies for lysosomal storage dise@&&SDs"). The Company's lead product candidatesmall molecule that can be used as
monotherapy and in combination with enzyme replaa#itherapy ("ERT") for Fabry disease. The Compadgvelopment programs also
include next-generation ERTs for LSDs, includindgpfyadisease, Pompe disease and Mucopolysacchaiitgse | (MPS 1). The Company's
activities since inception have consisted prindjpal raising capital, establishing facilities, aperforming research and development.

Throughout 2014 and in early 2015 we angedrmositive 12- and 24-months results from Stutdly &nd longer-term data from Study 041
in patients with amenable mutations who were n&eRT. Following a meeting with the European Méatis Agency ("EMA") held in the
fourth quarter of 2014, the Company is on trackubmit a marketing application in Europe in mid-20The Company has also scheduled a
meeting with the US FDA in the first quarter of B0ds it works to make migalastat available fomatienable Fabry patients as quickly as
possible.

In November 2014, the Company issued & 66td5.9 million shares through public offeringaaprice of $6.50 per share, with net
proceeds of $97.2 million. The Company expectsstthe net proceeds of the offering for investnirettte global commercialization
infrastructure for migalastat monotherapy for Fatlisease, the continued clinical development ghiitaluct candidates and for other general
corporate purposes.

In July 2014, the Company completed a $4om at the market ("ATM") equity offering undevhich the Company sold shares of its
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, with CaamehCompany LLC as sales agent. Under the ATMtgguogram, the Company sold
14.3 million shares of common stock raising apprately $38.6 million in net proceeds. For furthgiormation on the ATM Agreement, see
"— Note 9. Stockholder's Equity".

In November 2013, the Company completedattwpuisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc. ("CallidusCallidus was a privately-held
biologics company focused on developing best-isscBRTs for lysosomal storage diseases LSDs. Gallehd ERT is a recombinant human
acid-alpha glucosidase (rhGAA, called "ATB200") Rompe disease in late preclinical developmentfiiter information, see "— Note 3.
Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc."

In November 2013, the Company enteredtimoRevised Agreement (the "Revised Agreement'f) @iaxoSmithKline plc ("GSK"),
pursuant to which Amicus has obtained global rightdevelop and commercialize migalastat as a ni@mapy and in combination with ERT
for Fabry disease. The Revised Agreement amendeepiates in its entirety the Expanded Agreemetared into between Amicus and GSK
in July 2012 (the "Expanded Collaboration Agreerfietinder the terms of the Revised Agreement, Amichtained global commercial rights
to migalastat, both as a monotherapy and co-forredifaith ERT. For migalastat monotherapy, GSK igikle to receive post-approval and
sales-based milestones, as well as tiered royaitidee mid-teens in eight major markets outsideWhS. There was no other consideration pai
to GSK as part of the Revised Agreement.

In November 2013, the Company enteredansecurities purchase agreement (the "2013 SPAH)®@&K and certain entities controlled
by Redmile Group, LLC for the private placementof
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

combination of shares of the Company's common stackwarrants to purchase shares of the Compamyision stock. The warrants have a
term of one year and are exercisable between J@914 and June 30, 2015 at an exercise price.6D%®er share. The aggregate offer
proceeds were $15 million. In October 2014, GSKi sdl their shares and no longer have an ownegsbsition in the Company as of
December 31, 2014.

In September 2013, the Company enteredamtallaboration agreement with Biogen Idec ("Bigfdo discover, develop and
commercialize novel small molecules that targetgfilaeocerobrosidase ("GCase") enzyme for the treatrof Parkinson's disease. In
September 2014, the Company and Biogen concludddrésearch collaboration. Amicus' most advanae#fiRson's candidate is AT3375,
which was developed outside the collaboration angholly-owned by Amicus. For further informatisee "— Note 15. Collaborative
Agreements."

The Company had an accumulated deficippfaximately $447.4 million at December 31, 2014 anticipates incurring losses through
the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015 and beybmel Company has not yet generated commercia sadenue and has been able to func
its operating losses to date through the salesatideemable convertible preferred stock, issuahcenvertible notes, net proceeds from its
initial public offering ("IPO") and subsequent dtaafferings, payments from partners during the teofhthe collaboration agreements and
other financing arrangements. The Company belithegsits existing cash and cash equivalents and-g#on investments will be sufficient to
fund the current operating plan into 2017.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financiakestents have been prepared in accordance withgdrigrally accepted accounting principles
("U.S.GAAP") and include all adjustments necess$aryhe fair presentation of the Company's finahpsition for the periods presented.

Consolidation

The financial statements include the act®ohAmicus Therapeutics, Inc. and its wholly odrseibsidiaries, Amicus Therapeutics UK
Limited and Callidus Biopharma, Inc. All signifidaimtercompany transactions and balances are eteihin consolidation. These subsidiaries
are not material to the overall financial stateraaitthe Company.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statementsanformity with U.S.GAAP requires management to smaktimates and assumptions that affec
the reported amounts of assets and liabilitiesdibelosure of contingent assets and liabilitiethatdate of the financial statements, and the
reported amounts of revenues and expenses duengplorting periods. Actual results could differrfr those estimates.

Cash, Money Market Funds, and Marketable Securities

The Company considers all highly liquidéstments purchased with a maturity of three mouithess at the date of acquisition, to be ¢
equivalents.

Marketable securities consist of fixed imminvestments with a maturity of greater thanghmonths and other highly liquid investments
that can be readily purchased or sold using estaddi markets. These investments are classifiedadlalale-for-sale and are reported at fair
value on the
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Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
Notes To Consolidated Financial Statements — (Comtiied)

Company's balance sheet. Unrealized holding gaiddasses are reported within comprehensive incgloss) in the statements of
comprehensive loss. Fair value is based on availallrket information including quoted market pride®ker or dealer quotations or other
observable inputs. See "— Note 6. Cash, Money Mdflsads and Marketable Securities", for a summémgwailable-for-sale securities as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Concentration of Credit Risk

The Company's financial instruments thateaposed to concentration of credit risk congisharily of cash and cash equivalents and
marketable securities. The Company maintains &b ead cash equivalents in bank accounts, whidimas, exceed federally insured limits.
The Company invests its marketable securitiesghdgjuality commercial financial instruments. Then@any has not recognized any losses
from credit risks on such accounts during any efghriods presented. The Company believes it iexmdsed to significant credit risk on cash
and cash equivalents or its marketable securities.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at t¥sst,accumulated depreciation and amortizationr&gtion is calculated over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets, which rdraya three to five years, or the lesser of theteglanitial term of the lease or useful life for
leasehold improvements. Assets under capital leseamortized over the terms of the related least®ir estimated useful lives, whichever
is shorter.

The initial cost of property and equipmeonsists of its purchase price and any directlybaittable costs of bringing the asset to its
working condition and location for its intended uBgpenditures incurred after the fixed assets e put into operation, such as repairs ar
maintenance, are charged to income in the peri@hinh the costs are incurred. Major replacememtgrovements and additions are
capitalized in accordance with Company policy.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when amauetealized or realizable and earned. Revencenisidered realizable and earned when
the following criteria are met: (1) persuasive evide of an arrangement exists; (2) delivery hasroed or services have been rendered; (3
price is fixed or determinable; and (4) collectafrthe amounts due are reasonably assured.

In multiple element arrangements, revesualocated to each separate unit of accountingeantl deliverable in an arrangement is
evaluated to determine whether it represents stpandts of accounting. A deliverable constituteseparate unit of accounting when it has
standalone value and there is no general righttofm for the delivered elements. In instances wheraforementioned criteria are not met, the
deliverable is combined with the undelivered elethemd the allocation of the arrangement consideraind revenue recognition is
determined for the combined unit as a single uindtogounting. Allocation of the consideration igatenined at arrangement inception on the
basis of each unit's relative selling price. Intamses where there is determined to be a singteofiaccounting, the total consideration is
applied as revenue for the single unit of accogndind is recognized over the period of inceptionugh the date where the last deliverable
within the single unit of accounting is expectedé&delivered.

The Company's current revenue recognitmities, provide that, when a collaboration arranget contains multiple deliverables, sucl
license and research and development services, the
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Company allocates revenue to each separate uadcounting based on a selling price hierarchy. Séikng price hierarchy for a deliverable is
based on (i) its vendor specific objective evide(i#SOE") if available, (ii) third party evidenc&TPE") if VSOE is not available, or (iii) best
estimated selling price ("BESP") if neither VSOHE A®E is available. The Company would establishMBOE of selling price using the price
charged for a deliverable when sold separately. T of selling price would be established by eatihg largely similar and interchangeable
competitor products or services in standalone dalesnilarly situated customers. The BESP woule$tblished considering internal factors
such as an internal pricing analysis or an incoppra@ach using a discounted cash flow model.

The Company also considers the impact témi@l future payments it makes in its role agador to its customers and evaluates if these
potential future payments could be a reductioreg&nue from that customer. If the potential futpagments to the customer are:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit; and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from the #xgsrelationship between the Company and its enstpand
. the identifiable benefit can be obtained fromaaty other than the customer; and

. the Company can reasonably estimate the fairevat the identifiable benefit

then the payments are accounted for separate fremevenue received from that customer. If, howealéthese criteria are not satisfied, then
the payments are treated as a reduction of revieomethat customer.

If the Company determines that any potéfii@re payments to its customers are to be cemnsitlas a reduction of revenue, it must
evaluate if the total amount of revenue to be remkbunder the arrangement is fixed and determindtilee total amount of revenue is not fi
and determinable due to the uncertain nature opttential future payments to the customer, thgncaistomer payments cannot be recognize
as revenue until the total arrangement considerdizomes fixed and determinable.

The reimbursements for research and dewedop costs under collaboration agreements that theefiteria for revenue recognition are
included in Research Revenue and the costs asseiéth these reimbursable amounts are includedsearch and development expenses.

In order to determine the revenue recogmifor contingent milestones, the Company evaluhiegontingent milestones using the criteric
as provided by the Financial Accounting StandardarBs ("FASB") guidance on the milestone methocewénue recognition at the inception
of a collaboration agreement. The criteria requin@s (i) the Company determines if the milestanedmmensurate with either its performance
to achieve the milestone or the enhancement oevasulting from the Company's activities to achithe milestone, (ii) the milestone be
related to past performance, and (iii) the milestba reasonable relative to all deliverable andngay terms of the collaboration arrangement.
If these criteria are met then the contingent roleas can be considered as substantive milestowesidl be recognized as revenue in the
period that the milestone is achieved.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company records certain asset anditiabalances under the fair value measurementiefised by the FASB guidance. Current
FASB fair value guidance emphasizes that fair vaduemarket-based measurement, not an entityfapewasurement. Therefore, a fair value
measurement should be determined based on the pssasthat market participants would use in pgdine asset
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or liability. As a basis for considering market fp@pant assumptions in fair value measurementseatiFASB guidance establishes a fair v
hierarchy that distinguishes between market paditi assumptions based on market data obtainedsibances independent of the reporting
entity (observable inputs that are classified withévels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy) and the reporéintity's own assumptions that market
participants assumptions would use in pricing assetiabilities (unobservable inputs classifiedhin Level 3 of the hierarchy).

Level 1 inputs utilize quoted prices (unest¢d) in active markets for identical assetsatilities that the Company has the ability to
access at measurement date. Level 2 inputs artsiogher than quoted prices included in Level 1 &éna observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly. Level 2 inputs mayclude quoted prices for similar assets and litdadiin active markets, as well as inputs that ar
observable for the asset or liability (other thaotgd prices), such as interest rates, foreignanmh rates, and yield curves that are observabl
at commonly quoted intervals. Level 3 inputs arehgervable inputs for the asset or liability, whighypically based on an entity's own
assumptions, as there is little, if any, relatedkaiactivity. In instances where the determinatibthe fair value measurement is based on
inputs from different levels of the fair value tdechy, the level in the fair value hierarchy withwhich the entire fair value measurement fal
based on the lowest level input that is signifidarthe fair value measurement in its entirety. Toenpany's assessment of the significance
particular input to the fair value measurementsrentirety requires judgment, and considers factpecific to the asset or liability.

Research and Development Costs

Research and development costs are expassadurred. Research and development expensiestsomsmarily of costs related to
personnel, including salaries and other persorelatead expenses, consulting fees and the costitifiess and support services used in drug
development. Assets acquired that are used foarelsend development and have no future alternaeeare expensed as in-process researc
and development.

Interest Income and Interest Expense

Interest income consists of interest eaprethe Company's cash and cash equivalents arlétable securities. Interest expense consist
of interest incurred on capital leases and sectiedd

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes utideliability method. Under this method deferredame tax liabilities and assets are
determined based on the difference between thadiabstatement carrying amounts and tax basissdta and liabilities and for operating
losses and tax credit carry forwards, using enaetedates in effect in the years in which theefi#hces are expected to reverse. A valuation
allowance is recorded if it is "more likely thanththat a portion or all of a deferred tax assdl mot be realized.

Other Comprehensive Income/ (Loss)

Components of other comprehensive incoinss) include unrealized gains and losses on dleifar-sale securities and are included in
the statements of comprehensive loss.
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Leases

In the ordinary course of business, the @amy enters into lease agreements for office spaeeell as leases for certain property and
equipment. The leases have varying terms and dijpisaand have provisions to extend or renew thsdegreement, among other terms and
conditions, as negotiated. Once the agreemeneisutad, the lease is assessed to determine whisthielase qualifies as a capital or operating
lease.

When a non-cancelable operating lease diedany fixed escalation clauses and lease inesnfior rent holidays or build-out
contributions, rent expense is recognized on dgsirdine basis over the initial term of the leashe excess between the average rental amou
charged to expense and amounts payable underabe ilerecorded in accrued expenses.

Nonqualified Cash Deferral Plan

In July 2014, the Board of Directors apmdthe Company's Cash Deferral Plan (the "Def@lai"), which provides certain key
employees and members of the Board of Directosekested by the Compensation Committee of the BoBdrectors of the Company (the
"Compensation Committee"), with an opportunity &fet the receipt of such Participant's base satsmyus and director's fees, as applicable.
The Deferral Plan is intended to be a nonqualifieferred compensation plan that complies with tloipions of Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code (the "Code").

As of December 31, 2014, the amounts defeunder the Deferral Plan have not been inve$teelinvestments are expected to be made
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. All ofetinvestments held in the Deferral Plan will bessified as trading securities and recorded at fai
value with changes in the investments' fair vakeognized as earnings in the period they occur.cbheesponding liability for the Deferral
Plan is included in other non-current liabilityanr consolidated balance sheets.

Equity Incentive Plan

In June 2014, our stockholders approvedithended and Restated 2007 Equity Incentive Plan'®lan”). The amendment to the Plan
makes an additional 6.0 million shares of our commstock available for issuance and increases thénmian number of shares within the Plan
that may be issued as restricted stock, restratmak units ("RSUs"), stock grants and any othmilar awards from 1.1 million to 1.5 million
shares. As of December 31, 2014, awards issued tmel®lan include both stock options and RSUs.

Stock-Based Compensation

At December 31, 2014, the Company had thteek-based employee compensation plans, whictesmeribed more fully in "— Note 9.
Stockholders' Equity." The Company applies thealue method of measuring stock-based compensatiuinh requires a public entity to
measure the cost of employee services receivextcim@ge for an award of equity instruments basetthegrant-date fair value of the award.

Loss per Common Share

The Company calculates net loss per stmeeraeasurement of the Company's performance wikileg effect to all dilutive potential
common shares that were outstanding during thetieggeriod. The Company had a net loss for aflquks presented; accordingly, the
inclusion of common stock
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options, unvested restricted stock units ("RSUsY warrants would be anti-dilutive. Therefore, diighted average shares used to calculate
both basic and diluted earnings per share areatime sSee "— Note 19. Earnings per Share" for fudisussion on net loss per share.

Dividends

The Company has not paid cash dividendssarapital stock to date. The Company currenttgnids to retain its future earnings, if any, tc
fund the development and growth of the businessdaed not foresee payment of a dividend in any g fiscal period.

Segment Information

The Company currently operates in one lassirsegment focusing on the development and coratiation of small molecule, orally
administered therapies to treat a range of humaatgediseases. The Company is not organized bikehand is managed and operated as on
business. A single management team reports tohileé @perating decision maker who comprehensivedypages the entire business. The
Company does not operate any separate lines aidrssor separate business entities with respéstppooducts. Accordingly, the Company
does not accumulate discrete financial informatigth respect to separate service lines and doebaw@ separately reportable segments.

Business Combinations

The Company allocates the purchase prieegifired businesses to the tangible and intang#dets acquired and liabilities assumed
based upon their estimated fair values on the aitopni date. The purchase price allocation proceggires management to make significant
estimates and assumptions, especially at the atignidate with respect to intangible assets argrotess research and development
("IPR&D™). In connection with the purchase pricéoahtions for acquisitions, the Company estimatesfair value of contingent payments
utilizing a probability-based income approach isohe of an estimated discount rate.

Contingent Consideration Payable

The Company determines the fair value aftiogent acquisition consideration payable on #guésition date using a probability-based
income approach utilizing an appropriate discoate.rContingent acquisition consideration payabkkhown as a non-current liability on the
Company's consolidated balance sheets. Changes fait value of the contingent acquisition considien payable will be determined each
period end and recorded on the consolidated statisnoé operations.

Intangible Assets and Gooduwiill

The Company records goodwill in a busir@sabination when the total consideration exceeddah value of the net tangible and
identifiable intangible assets acquired. Purch@B&&D is accounted for as an indefinite lived irgdsle asset until the underlying project is
completed, at which point the intangible asset ballaccounted for as a definite lived intangibkeasor abandoned, at which point the
intangible asset will be written off or partialijmpaired. Goodwill and indefinite lived intangiblesets are assessed annually for impairmer
whenever events or circumstances indicate thatdhging amount of an asset may not be recover#ttds determined that the full carrying
amount of an asset is not recoverable, an impairtoss is recorded in the amount by which the é¢agnamount of the asset exceeds its fair
value.
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Restructuring

Restructuring charges are recognized asultrof actions to streamline operations and matiae manufacturing facilities. Judgment is
used when estimating the impact of restructurirgng) including future termination benefits and o#adt costs to be incurred when the action:
take place. Actual results could vary from thedaredes.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In November 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2074Business Combinations (Topic 805): Pushdown Acdogimthich provides an
acquired entity with the option to apply pushdownaunting in its separate financial statements wgmmurrence of an event in which an
acquirer obtains control of the acquired entitye BBU is effective on November 18, 2014. After dffiective date, an acquired entity can v
an election to apply the guidance to future chaneggsntrol events or to its most recent changeentml event. However, if the financial
statements for the period in which the most rechahge-in-control event occurred already have Ered or made available to be issued, th
application of this guidance would be a changectoanting principle. The Company is currently assesthe impact that this standard will
have on its consolidated financial statements.

In August 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014Hresentation of Financial Statements-Going Can(®ubtopic 205-40): Disclosure of
Uncertainties about an Entity's Ability to Contina®a Going Concern, which defines managemenpsmegility to assess an entity's ability
continue as a going concern, and to provide relfatethote disclosures if there is substantial daldaiut its ability to continue as a going
concern. The pronouncement is effective for annefabrting periods ending after December 15, 2016 warly adoption permitted. The
adoption of this guidance is not expected to hasigificant impact on the Company's consolidatedrfcial state.

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014hnd temoves the definition of development stag#yeftom the accounting standards
codification, thereby removing the financial refragtdistinction between development stage entiiesd other reporting entities from
U.S. GAAP. In addition, the ASU eliminates the riegments for development stage entities to (i) @néfnception-to-date information in the
statement of income, cash flow and stockholdenstgdii) label the financial statements as thofa development stage entity, (iii) disclose a
description of the development stage activitieslinch the entity is engaged, and (iv) disclosehimfirst year in which the entity is no longer a
development stage entity that in prior years it haen in the development stage. The Company hdiedpipe ASU to its financial statements
as of June 30, 2014.

In May 2014, FASB issued ASU 2014-8&venue From Contracts With Customgisat outlines a single comprehensive model for
entities to use in accounting for revenue arisiogfcontracts with customers and supersedes mosintuevenue recognition guidance,
including industryspecific guidance. The ASU is based on the priedipht an entity should recognize revenue to déipéctransfer of goods
services to customers in an amount that refleetstimsideration to which the entity expects tofuéled in exchange for those goods or
services. The ASU also requires additional disalsibout the nature, amount, timing and uncertaihtgvenue and cash flows arising from
customer contracts, including significant judgmearid changes in judgments and assets recognizadcfysts incurred to fulfill a contract.
Entities have the option of using either a fulfospective or a modified retrospective approactitferadoption of the new standard. The ASU
becomes effective for the Company at the beginairits 2017 fiscal year; early adoption is not piteal. The Company is currently assessing
the impact that this standard will have on its ctidated financial statements.
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3. Acquisition of Callidus Biopharma, Inc.

In November 2013, the Company acquirediadl through the merger of the Company's subgid@B Acquisition Corp. with and into
Callidus (see "— Note 1. Description of Busines€allidus was a privately-held biologics compangused on developing best-in-class ERTS
for LSDs and its lead ERT is ATB200 for Pompe déseim late preclinical development. The acquisitbthe Callidus assets and technology
compliments Amicus' CHART™ platform for the devaiognt of next generation ERTSs.

In consideration for the merger, the Conypagreed to issue an aggregate of 7.2 million shafrés common stock, par value $0.01 per
share, to the former stockholders of Callidus. ABecember 31, 2014, approximately 25 thousandesh@main issuable to former Callidus
stockholders. In addition, the Company will be ghted to make additional payments to the formerk$tolders of Callidus upon the
achievement by Callidus of certain clinical milests of up to $35 million and regulatory approvalestones of up to $105 million as set forth
in the Merger Agreement, provided that the aggeegansideration shall not exceed $130 million. Teenpany may, at its election, satisfy
certain milestone payments identified in the Mer§greement aggregating $40 million in shares o€itsnmon Stock (calculated based on a
price per share equal to the average of the lastrg bid price per share for the Common Stock lea NASDAQ Global Market for the
ten (10) trading days immediately preceding the défpayment). The milestone payments not permitidie satisfied in Common Stock (as
well as any payments that the Company is permitiedut chooses not to, satisfy in Common Stocky sesult of the terms of the Merger
Agreement, the rules of The NASDAQ Global Marketptherwise, will be paid in cash.

The fair value of the contingent acquisit@mnsideration payments on the acquisition datke$t#.6 million and was estimated by
applying a probability-based income approach utitjizan appropriate discount rate. This estimatiais ased on significant inputs that are no
observable in the market, referred to as Levep8ta Key assumptions included a discount rate8di% and various probability factors. As of
December 31, 2014, the range of outcomes and asismspised to develop these estimates has chaodedter reflect the probability of
certain milestone outcomes. (see "— Note 10. Assadd. iabilities Measured at Fair Value", for aduligl discussion regarding fair value
measurements of the contingent acquisition conaiaber payable). The Company determined the fauevalf the contingent consideration tc
$10.7 million at December 31, 2014, resulting inrastease in the contingent consideration payafderalated income of $0.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 20
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The following table presents the allocatidithe purchase consideration, including the cay@nt acquisition consideration payable, base
on fair value:

(in thousands)
Upfront equity payment $ 15,00(
Contingent acquisition consideration paye 10,60(
Total consideratiol 25,60(
Cash and cash equivalel 34
Property, plant and equipme 172
Intangible asset— IPR&D 23,00(
Total identifiable assets acquir $ 23,20%
Accounts payabl (39
Deferred tax liability (9,186
Total liabilities assume (9,220
Net identifiable assets acquir 13,981
Goodwill 11,61:
Net assets acquire $ 25,60(

A substantial portion of the assets acqui@nsisted of intangible assets related to Callldad ERT. The Company determined that the
estimated acquisition-date fair values of the IPR&Iated to the lead ERT was $23.0 million.

The $9.2 million of deferred tax liabilifieelates to the tax impact of future amortizatiopossible impairments associated with the
identified intangible assets acquired, which aredsaluctible for tax purposes. The goodwill restriben the recognition of the deferred tax
liability on the intangible assets as well as sgiexr expected from the acquisition and other ben#éfat do not qualify for separate recognition
as acquired intangible assets. None of the goodsélkpected to be deductible for income tax pugpo¥he Company recorded the goodwill in
the Company's consolidated balance sheet as atthésition date.

The Company recognized $0.5 million of asifion-related transaction costs in selling, gahand administrative expenses during 2013,
which consisted primarily of legal fees and seveearelated to the acquisition.

The results of operations of Callidus siNceember 19, 2013 have been included in the Cogipannsolidated statements of operations
and are de minimis as of December 31, 2013.

The following unaudited consolidated pronfia financial information presents the combinediltsf operations of the Company and
Callidus as if the acquisition had occurred asanfuary 1, 2013. The unaudited pro forma consolifitencial information is not necessarily
indicative of what the Company's consolidated tssefl operations actually would have been had dggiigition been completed as of
January 1, 2013. In addition, the unaudited prmoconsolidated financial
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information does not attempt to project the futwsults of operations of the Company combined @ahidus.

Years Ended
December 31

Unaudited Pro Forma Consolidated Information: 2013 2012

(in thousands)

Revenue $ 36 $ 18,41
Net income (loss $ (61,809 $ (49,807

4, Goodwill

In connection with the acquisition of Cdlls as discussed in "— Note 3. Acquisition of Calli Biopharma, Inc.", the Company
recognized goodwill of $11.6 million. Goodwill isgessed annually for impairment on October 1 areheter events or circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset nwyoa recoverable. If it is determined that thé ¢afrying amount of an asset is not
recoverable, an impairment loss is recorded iratheunt by which the carrying amount of the asseeeds its fair value. During the 2014
impairment assessment, it was determined thatabdwill had not been impaired thus there were remges to the goodwill balance in 2014.

5. Intangible Assets

In connection with the acquisition of Cdills as discussed in "— Note 3. Acquisition of Cali Biopharma, Inc.", the Company
recognized IPR&D of $23.0 million. Intangible assetlated to IPR&D assets are considered to bdimtdelived until the completion or
abandonment of the associated research and devatbffiorts. During the period the assets are dansd indefinite-lived, they will not be
amortized but will be tested for impairment on anwal basis on October 1 and between annual fekis Company becomes aware of any
events occurring or changes in circumstances tbatdaindicate a reduction in the fair value of tRR&D assets below their respective
carrying amounts. During the 2014 impairment asaess, it was determined that the IPR&D had not liggraired thus there was no change
in the IPR&D balance in 2014.

6. Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securiis

As of December 31, 2014, the Company h2ilBmillion in cash and cash equivalents and $148llion of available-for-sale securities
which are reported at fair value on the Companglarre sheet. Unrealized holding gains and logseeported within accumulated other
comprehensive income/ (loss) in the statementsmipcehensive loss. If a decline in the fair valia marketable security below the
Company's cost basis is determined to be othertdraporary, such marketable security is written ddwits estimated fair value as a new cos
basis and the amount of the write-down is incluidegiarnings as an impairment charge. To date, tenfyporary impairment adjustments have
been recorded.

Consistent with the Company's investmetitpothe Company does not use derivative finanicisiruments in its investment portfolio.
The Company regularly invests excess operating icadaposits with major financial institutions, neynmarket funds, notes issued by the |
government, as well as fixed income investmentsldusd bond funds both of which can be readily pasgd and sold using established
markets. The Company believes that the marketafising from its holdings of these financial instrents is mitigated as many of these
securities are either government backed or of thjledst credit rating. Investments that have origmaturities of greater than 3 months but les
than
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1 year are classified as short-term and investmeititsmaturities that are greater than 1 year &ssified as long-term.
Cash and available for sale securitiesistets of the following as of December 31, 2014 Bedember 31, 2013 (in thousands):

As of December 31, 201

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balance $ 24,07. $ — $ — $ 24,07/
Corporate debt securities, current por 115,86 — (1100 115,75

Corporate debt securities, non-curren

portion 17,50¢ — (44) 17,46¢
Commercial pape 11,477 22 — 11,49¢
Certificate of deposl 35C — — 35C
$ 169,27 $ 22 $ (1549 $ 169,13¢
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 24,07¢ $ — $ — $ 24,07«
Included in marketable securiti 145,19° 22 (154)  145,06!

Total cash and marketable securi $ 169,27, $ 22 $ (154) $ 169,13¢

As of December 31, 201

Unrealized Unrealized Fair

Cost Gain Loss Value
Cash balance $ 43,64( $ — $ — $ 43,64(
Corporate debt securiti 30,81" 1 (6) 30,81:
Commercial pape 7,19 6 — 7,19¢
Certificate of deposi 35( — — 35(
$ 81,99¢ $ 7% (6) $ 82,00(
Included in cash and cash equivale $ 43,64( $ — $ — $ 43,64(
Included in marketable securiti 38,35¢ 7 (6) 38,36(
Total cash and marketable securi $ 81,99¢ $ 7% (6) $ 82,00(

Unrealized gains and losses are reportedcasnponent of other comprehensive gain/ (los#)érstatements of comprehensive loss. For
the year ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, ureddialding loss of $132 thousand and $13 thousasykctively, were included in the
statements of comprehensive loss.

For the years ended December 31, 2014 @h8, 2here were no realized gains or losses. Theatsecurities sold is based on the specifi
identification method.

Unrealized loss positions in the availdblesale securities as of December 31, 2014 aneémber 31, 2013 reflect temporary impairm
that have been in a loss position for less thafvev@onths and as such are recognized in other @epsive gain/ (loss). The fair value of
these available for sale securities in unrealipad positions was $129.2 million and $23.6 mill&mof December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

The Company holds available-for-sale inwestt securities which are reported at fair valughenCompany's balance sheet. Unrealized
holding gains and losses are reported within actated other
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comprehensive income ("AOCI") in the statementsahprehensive loss. The changes in AOCI associgitbadhe unrealized holding gain on
available-for-sale investments during the yearsedrdecember 31, 2014 and 2013, were as followth¢insands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Balance, beginnin $ 1 $ 14 $ 4
Current period changes in fair vall (1393

Reclassification of earning
Balance, endin

7. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the foilg (in thousands):

13 10

$ 139 $ 1 % 14

December 31

2014 2013
Property and equipment consist of the followi
Computer equipmelr $ 3558 $ 3,53i
Computer softwar: 1,102 1,06¢
Research equipme 5,98¢ 5,91¢
Furniture and fixture 1,547 1,527
Leasehold improvemen 2,141 2,047
14,33: 14,09:
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (11,520 (9,979
$ 2811 $ 41X

Depreciation and amortization expense vias fillion and $1.7 million each for the years eddecember 31, 2014 and 2013,

respectively. There were no capital lease obligatioutstanding as of December 31, 2014.

8. Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expensesstarighe following (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Accounts payabl $ 5874 $ 2,14¢
Accrued professional fe¢ 472 49¢
Accrued contract manufacturing & contract reseaasts 3,321 1,49¢
Accrued compensation and bene 5,051 4,781
Accrued facility cost: 557 963
Contingent success fee paya 341 —
Accrued othe 72¢ 27¢

$ 16,34¢ $ 10,16:
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Other long-term liabilities consist of tfedlowing (in thousands):

December 31

T2014_ 2013
Exit fees $ 45C $ 45C
Success fee — 264
Employee compensation and bene 124 —
Security deposit 14 —
$ 588 $ 714

9. Stockholders' Equity
Common Stock and Warrants

As of December 31, 2014, the Company wésagized to issue 125 million shares of commonlst&ividends on common stock will be
paid when, and if declared by the board of directBach holder of common stock is entitled to \mtell matters that are appropriate for
stockholder voting and is entitled to one votedach share held.

In November 2014, we sold a total of 15ifliom shares of our common stock, par value $@8d share, at a public offering price of $¢
per share. The offering generated gross proceefis0#.5 million. J.P. Morgan Securities LLC actsdsale book-running manager for the
offering. Cowen and Company, LLC, Leerink Partreard Janney Montgomery Scott LLC acted as lead neaadgr the offering. After
deducting the underwriting fee of $6.2 million asttier offering expenses of $0.1 million, which unbéd legal fees, the net proceeds of the
offering were approximately $97.2 million. We exp&xuse the net proceeds of the offering for itmest in the global commercialization
infrastructure for migalastat monotherapy for Fathigease, the continued clinical development gbiitsluct candidates and for other general
corporate purposes.

In March 2014, the Company entered intoShkes Agreement with Cowen to create an ATM equibgram under which the Company
sold shares of its common stock, par value $0.0klpare, with an aggregate offering price of uf40 million ("ATM Shares") through
Cowen. Upon delivery of a placement notice andestlip the terms and conditions of the ATM agreamn@awen used its commercially
reasonable efforts to sell the ATM Shares, basedh tipe Company's instructions. The Company hadigedvCowen with customary
indemnification rights, and Cowen was entitled twamission at a fixed commission rate of up t@3df the gross proceeds per Share sold.
Sales of the ATM Shares under the Sales Agreemerd i@ be made in transactions that were deemilee ‘tat the market offerings” as defir
in Rule 415 under the Securities Act of 1933, asraied, including sales made by means of ordinakdrs' transactions, including on The
NASDAQ Global Market, at market prices or as otheenagreed with Cowen. The Company began the $&&M Shares in May 2014. Tt
Company sold 14.3 million shares of common stoskilteng in net proceeds of $38.6 million, whichlued Cowen's commission of
$1.1 million and other fees of $0.3 million. Ther@uany completed all sales under the ATM equity progin July 2014.

In November 2013, the Company enteredtimo2013 SPA with GSK and certain entities contiblby Redmile Group, LLC for the
private placement of a combination of shares ofroom stock (the "Shares") and warrants (the "Wastand purchase shares of the common
stock (collectively, the "Units"). Each of the irsters was one of the Company's stockholders mrioohsummation of these transactions. The
Shares and the Units sold to the investors weerexdfand
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sold in reliance on exemptions from registrationspant to Rule 506 of Regulation D promulgated unlde Securities Act based on the nature
of such investors and certain representations rnmattee Company. Pursuant to the 2013 SPA, Amicuseato issue 1.5 million Shares at
$2.00 per Share to GSK and 6 million Units at $260Unit to Redmile Group, with each Unit consigtof one Share and .267 Warrants
resulting in an aggregate of 6 million Shares agdniillion Warrants underlying the Units to be isduEach Warrant is exercisable between
July 1, 2014 and June 30, 2015 with an exercisemi $2.50, subject to certain adjustments. The@my received total proceeds of

$15 million for general corporate and working capfiurposes as a result of the private placemeahttentransaction closed in November 2(

In October 2014, GSK sold all their shares andomgér have an ownership position in the Comparof &ecember 31, 2014.

The Company evaluated the warrants agaursént accounting guidance and determined thaetharrants should be accounted as a
component of equity. As such, these warrants dresdaat issuance date using the Black Scholes tiatumodel using inputs such as the
underlying price of the shares issued when theamaiis exercised, volatility, risk free interesterand expected life of the instrument. The six
inputs used to determine the value of the warnamet®: (1) the closing price of Amicus stock on tlag of evaluation of $2.12; (2) the exercise
price of the warrants of $2.50; (3) the remainieignt of the warrants of 1 year; (4) the volatilifyfonicus' stock for the one year term of
93.5%; (5) the annual rate of dividends of 0%; é)dhe riskless rate of return of 0.12%. The ahnate of dividends is based on the
Company's historical practice of not granting dénds. The resulting Black Scholes value of the avasrwas $1.0 million.

In November 2013, in connection with itgjaisition of Callidus, the Company agreed to issn@ggregate of 7.2 million shares of its
common stock, par value $0.01 per share, to thredostockholders of Callidus. As of December 31LL&pproximately 25 thousand shares
remain issuable to former Callidus stockholders.

Nonqualified Cash Deferral Plan

In July 2014, the Board of Directors apmthe Company's Deferral Plan, which providesaiekey employees and members of the
Board of Directors as selected by the Compens&mmmittee, with an opportunity to defer the receipsuch Participant's base salary, bonus
and director's fees, as applicable. The Deferaah R intended to be a nonqualified deferred corsgigon plan that complies with the
provisions of Section 409A of the Code.

As of December 31, 2014, the amounts defeunder the Deferral Plan have not been inve$teelinvestments are expected to be made
in the first quarter of fiscal year 2015. Defermeonpensation as of December 31, 2014 totaled appately $0.1 million and is included in
other long-term liabilities within the accompanyiognsolidated balance sheets. All of the investmbatd in the Deferral Plan will be
classified as trading securities and recordediavédue with changes in the investments' fair ealecognized in the period they occur. The
corresponding liability for the Deferral Plan i€inded in other non-current liability in the Companconsolidated balance sheets.

Stock Option Plans

In June 2014, the Company's stockholdepsced the Amended and Restated 2007 Equity Ineeftian (the "Plan"). The amendmen
the Plan makes an additional 6 million shares efGloampany's common stock available for issuanceramdases the maximum number of
shares within the Plan that may be issued as ¢strstock, RSUs, stock grants and any other simvaards from
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1.1 million to 1.5 million shares. As of Decembédr, 2014, awards issued under the Plan include gtottk options and RSUs.

In May 2007, the Company's Board of Direstand stockholders approved the Company's 20@tDir Option Plan (the "2007 Director
Plan™). The Plan provides for the granting of riestd stock and options to purchase common stotkerCompany to employees, advisors anc
consultants at a price to be determined by the Gorylp board of directors. The Plan is intendechtmarage ownership of stock by employee:
and consultants of the Company and to provide madit incentives for them to promote the succegsh®Company's business. The 2007
Director Plan is intended to promote the recruitimgl retention of highly qualified eligible direcscand strengthen the commonality of interes
between directors and stockholders by encouragimeoship of common stock of the Company. Undeptfowisions of each plan, no option
will have a term in excess of 10 years.

The Board of Directors, or its committeer@ésponsible for determining the individuals tagb@nted options, the number of options each
individual will receive, the option price per shaa@d the exercise period of each option. Optioastgd pursuant to the Plan generally vest
25% on the first year anniversary date of grans jaln additional 1/48th for each month thereafterrany be exercised in whole or in part for
100% of the shares vested at any time after thee afagrant. Options under the 2007 Director Play begranted to new directors upon join
the Board and vest in the same manner as optiater dine Plan. In addition, options are automatjogitnted to all directors at each annual
meeting of stockholders and vest on the date o&timeal meeting of stockholders of the Companyéytear following the year during which
the options were granted.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hsarved up to 6,595,880 shares for issuance unddtlém and the 2007 Director Plan.
Stock Option Grants

The Company adopted the fair value metHodemsuring stock-based compensation, which regjaiggublic entity to measure the cost of
employee services received in exchange for an aefagduity instruments based upon the grant-date/édue of the award. The Company
chose the "straight-line" attribution method fdpahting compensation costs and recognized thevéile of each stock option on a straight-
line basis over the vesting period of the relatsdras.

The Company uses the Black-Scholes optiming model when estimating the fair value forcstdbased awards. Use of a valuation
model requires management to make certain assumsptiith respect to selected model inputs. Expeotdatility was calculated based on a
blended weighted average of historical informatiéthe Company's stock and the weighted averaggstdrical information of similar public
entities for which historical information was awdile. The Company will continue to use a blendeijited average approach using its own
historical volatility and other similar public etytivolatility information until the Company's histcal volatility is relevant to measure expected
volatility for future option grants. The averageegted life was determined using the "simplifiedthod of estimating the expected exercise
term which is the mid-point between the vestingdatd the end of the contractual term. As the Caryipatock price volatility has been over
75% and it has experienced significant businesséaetions, the Company does not have sufficieratilel exercise data in order to justify a
change in the use of the "simplified" method ofreating the expected exercise term of employeekstption grants. The riskee interest rat
is based on U.S. Treasury, zero-coupon issuesaniémaining term equal to the expected life assushélk date of grant. Forfeitures are
estimated based on voluntary termination behaa®myell as a historical analysis of actual optiorfiitures.
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The weighted average assumptions useciBldick-Scholes option pricing model are as follows

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Expected stock price volatilil 81.2% 82.(% 77.2%
Risk free interest rat 1€% 1.3% 0.8%
Expected life of options (year 6.2 6.2t 6.2
Expected annual dividend per sh $ 0.0 $ 0.0C $ 0.0C

The weighted average grant-date fair vakreshare of options granted during 2014, 2013281@ were $2.12, $2.14 and $3.31,
respectively.

The following table summarizes informateimout stock options outstanding:

Weighted Weighted
Average Average Aggregate
Number of Exercise Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Price Contractual Life Value
(in thousands) (in millions)

Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 6,653.! $ 6.87
Grantec 2,846t $ 5.3¢
Exercisec (437.0 $ 3.7¢
Forfeited (1,088.) $ 7.9t
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 7974 $ 6.3
Grantec 2,481.¢ $ 3.04
Exercisec — —
Forfeited (1,4149 $ 5.01
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 9,041 $ 5.6
Grantec 2,993.0 $ 2.9¢
Exercisec (965.60 $ 3.8C
Forfeited (1,047.9) $ 5.7¢
Options outstanding,

December 31, 201 10,020 $ 5.0z 6.8 years $ 36.€
Vested and unvested expected

vest, December 31, 20: 9,441.( $ 5.1¢ 6.7 years $ 34.C
Exercisable at December 31,

2014 5,447¢ $ 6.45 5.2 years $ 14.C

The aggregate intrinsic value of optionereised during the years ended December 31, 201 2@I2 was $2.8 million and $0.9 million,
respectively. There were no options exercised dutie year ended December 31, 2013. As of DeceBihe2014, the total unrecognized
compensation cost related to non-vested stock mptioanted was $7.7 million and is expected toebegnized over a weighted average perio
of 2.3 years. Cash proceeds from stock optionscesest during the years ended December 31, 2012@t2 were $3.7 million and
$1.6 million respectively.

Restricted Stock Units

In April 2014, the Compensation Committegd® awards of RSUs to certain employees of the @opnprhe RSUs awarded under the

Plan are generally subject to graded vesting of 60the RSUs on the 18 month anniversary of the grant date and the reimz®0% of the
RSUs on the
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20" month anniversary of the grant date, in each casgingent on such employee's continued servicguch date.

RSUs are generally subject to forfeiturenfployment terminates prior to the release ofingsestrictions. The Company expenses the
cost of the RSUs, which is determined to be therfairket value of the shares of common stock uypithgrithe RSUs at the date of grant,
ratably over the period during which the vestingtrietions lapse.

A summary of non-vested RSU activity untier Plan for the year ended December 31, 2014flags:

Weighted Weighted

Average Grant Average Aggregate
Number of Date Fair Remaining Intrinsic
Shares Value Years Value
(in thousands) (in millions)
Non-vested units as of
December 31, 201 — $ —
Granted 97t $ 2.2¢
Vested — $ —
Forfeited (20 $ 2.1t
Non-vested units as of
December 31,201 95t $ 2.2¢ 0.7¢ $ 5.8

For the year ended December 31, 2014, iiere no RSUs that vested and all n@sted units are expected to vest over their norenad,
As of December 31, 2014, there was $1.1 milliototdl unrecognized compensation cost related tested RSUs with service-based vesting
conditions. These costs are expected to be recagdjoizer a weighted average period of 0.74 years.

In April 2014, the Board of Directors apped the Company's Restricted Stock Unit DeferrahR!'the Deferred Compensation Plan®),
which provides selected employees with an oppadstunidefer receipt of RSUs until the first to ocafi termination of the employee's
employment or a date selected by the employee.R8lys deferred under the Deferred Compensationvdaitd be fully vested once the
original vesting conditions of the RSU were sagidfi

Compensation Expense Related to Equity Awards
The following table summarizes the stockdzhcompensation expense recognized in the statefesperations (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Stock compensation expense recognize:
Research and development expe $ 2,70 $ 3,58: $ 3,60:
General and administrative expel 3,30¢ 2,59/ 2,58¢
Total stock compensation exper $ 6,006 $ 6,177 $ 6,191
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10. Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value

The Company's financial assets and ligdliare measured at fair value and classified withe fair value hierarchy which is defined as
follows:

Level 1— Quoted prices in active markets for identicakés®r liabilities that the Company has the abilitaccess at the
measurement date.

Level 2— Inputs other than quoted prices in active markeds are observable for the asset or liabilitthesi directly or
indirectly.

Level 3— Inputs that are unobservable for the asset bilitia
Cash, Money Market Funds and Marketable Securities

The Company classifies its cash and monanket funds within the fair value hierarchy as Lievas these assets are valued using quote
prices in active market for identical assets atntleasurement date. The Company considers its imeass in marketable securities as availabl
for sale and classifies these assets within tevédile hierarchy as Level 2 primarily utilizingoieer quotes in a noaetive market for valuatic
of these securities. No changes in valuation teples or inputs occurred during the year ended DeeeBil, 2014. No transfers of assets
between Level 1 and Level 2 of the fair value measient hierarchy occurred during the year endecidber 31, 2014.

Secured Debt

As disclosed in "— Note 16. Short Term Bevings and Long Term Debt", the Company has a waw hnd security agreement with
MidCap Financial, Oxford Finance and Silicon ValBgnk, in addition to an earlier existing loan w8hicon Valley Bank. The carrying
amount of the Company's borrowings approximates/&iue at December 31, 2014. The Company's sedgieds classified as Level 2 and
the fair value is estimated using quoted pricesimilar liabilities in active markets, as welliaputs that are observable for the liability (other
than quoted prices), such as interest rates thailzservable at commonly quoted intervals.

In connection with the Term Loan, as diselbin "— Note 16. Short Term Borrowings and Lorgrit Debt", the Company recorded a
contingent liability of approximately $0.3 millimepresenting the fair value of a contingent payneéntp to $0.4 million related to a success
fee payable within six months of trigger event,hathie trigger event being regulatory acceptande®f or MAA submission. This is effective
5 years from the closing of the Term Loan. The sasdee payable to the lender was probability &efjuand discounted utilizing an
appropriate discount rate and hence classifieceaslL3.

Contingent Consideration Payable

The contingent consideration payable resluitom acquisition of Callidus, as discussed inNete 3. Acquisition of Callidus
Biopharma, Inc." Our most recent valuation was haeiteed using a probability-based income approaiizing a discounted rate of 11.5%,
which is a measure of the credit risk associatet sattling the liability. For 2014 compared to 20the net increase in the fair value of this
obligation was primarily due to the elapse of tiafievhen the contingent consideration could be paaime of the more significant assumption:
used in the valuation include (i) the probabilitydaiming related to the achievement of certaineflgmental milestones and (ii) and the
discount rate. The contingent consideration isltmdheach reporting period. There is no assurdrateany of the conditions for the milestone
payments will be met.
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The contingent consideration payable has lotassified as a Level 3 liability as its valoatrequires substantial judgment and estimatior
of factors that are not currently observable inrttegket. If different assumptions were used fonthgous inputs to the valuation approach the
estimated fair value could be significantly higleetower than the fair value the Company determifféte Company may be required to recorc
losses in future periods.

A summary of the fair value of the Comparassets and liabilities aggregated by the leviierfair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2014 areifideinin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/money market fun $ 24,07: $ — $ 24,07
Commercial pape — 11,49¢ 11,49¢
Corporate debt securitis — 133,21t 133,21¢
Certificate of deposi — 35( 35(
$ 24,07¢ $ 145,06! $ 169,13¢
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — $ 1435 $ — $ 14,35(
Contingent success fee paya — — 341 341
Contingent consideration payal — — 10,70( 10,70(
$ — $ 14350 $ 11,04: $ 25,39:

A summary of the fair value of the Comparagsets and liabilities aggregated by the levidarfair value hierarchy within which those
measurements fall as of December 31, 2013 areifideiin the following table (in thousands):

Level 1 Level 2 Total
Assets:
Cash/money market fun $ 43,64 $ — $ 43,64(
Commercial pape — 7,19¢ 7,19¢
Corporate debt securiti — 30,81: 30,81:
Certificate of deposi — 35( 35(
$ 43,64( $ 38,36( $ 82,00(
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Liabilities:
Secured dek $ — $ 1447 $ — $ 14,47
Contingent success fee paya — — 264 264
Contingent consideration payal — — 10,60( 10,60(
$ — $ 1447 10,86+ 25,331
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The change in the fair value of Level dilidies at December 31, 2014 was an increase &f 80llion due to the increase in fair value of
contingent consideration payable of $0.1 million @ontingent success fee payable of $77 thousdrachiange in the fair value of Level 3
liabilities at December 31, 2013 was an increas&l6f0 million due to the addition of contingentisileration payable of $10.6 million and
contingent success fee payable of $0.3 milliorseifby the decrease in the fair value of the watialility of $0.9 million.

11. 401(k) Plan

The Company has a 401(k) plan (the "40P{kn") covering all eligible employees and proviftasa company match of up to 5% of
salary and bonus paid during the year. In 2013Cmpany changed the vesting policy whereby thelmatsts immediately upon enrollment.
The Company's total contribution to the 401(k) Riars $0.6 million, $0.7 million and $0.7 millionrfthe years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, respectively.

12. Leases
Operating Leases

The Company leases approximately 73,64@reqfieet of laboratory and office space in Cranpbigw Jersey. The lease will expire in
March 2019 and may be extended by the Companyimradditional five-year periods. The Company alas & lease for its laboratory and
office space in San Diego, CA, which will expireSeptember 2016. The San Diego, CA, location wased as of December 31, 2013,
however lease payments will continue to be madi emd of lease term. See "— Note 17. Restructu@hgrges” for more information. Rent
expenses for the Company's facilities are recognizer the term of the lease. The Company recogmeg starting when possession of the
facility is taken from the landlord. When a leasatains a predetermined fixed escalation of theémuim rent, the Company recognizes the
related rent expense on a straight-line basis eoads the difference between the recognized rerfs@nse and the amounts payable under tt
lease as deferred rent liability. Tenant leasehofitovement allowances are reflected in accrue@mes@s on the consolidated balance sheets
and are amortized as a reduction to rent expene istatement of operations over the term of¢hsd.

At December 31, 2014, aggregate annuatdutinimum lease payments, net of income from sigas, under these leases are as follows

(in thousands) 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 and beyonc Total

Minimum lease paymen $ 2,03 $ 2,03¢ $ 1,76¢ $ 1,77¢ $ 297 $ 7,91¢
Less: income from sublea (210 (180) — — (390
Net minimum lease paymer $ 1,827 $ 1,85¢ $ 1,76¢ $ 1,77¢ $ 297 $ 7,52¢

Rent expense for the years ended Decenihe@034, 2013 and 2012 were $2.4 million, $2.6iomlland $2.6 million respectively.
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13. Income Taxes

In June 2006, the FASB issued a single mimdeddress accounting for uncertainty in tax fposs. The model clarifies the accounting for
income taxes, by prescribing a minimum recognittmeshold a tax position is required to meet bebmiag recognized in the financial
statements. It also provides guidance on de-retiognimeasurement, and classification of amourg&ing to uncertain tax positions,
accounting for and disclosure of interest and g&slaccounting in interim periods and disclosueggiired. The Company adopted the FASB
requirements as of January 1, 2007 and determiraddttdid not have a material impact on the Comyfsafinancial position and results of
operations. The Company did not recognize intevepenalties related to income tax during the peended December 31, 2014 and did not
accrue for interest or penalties as of Decembe2314. The Company does not have an accrual fartain tax positions as of December 31,
2014. Tax returns for all years 2008 and thereaitersubject to future examination by tax authesiti

Deferred income taxes reflect the net ¢fiécemporary difference between the carrying anmtewof assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for in¢armpurposes. The significant components of therded tax assets and liabilities are as
follows (in thousands):

For Years Ended
December 31
2014 2013

Current deferred tax ass

Non-cash stock issu $ 8,99C $ 8,172
Others 2,02¢ 1,34:
$ 11,018 9,51t

Non-current deferred tax asst
Amortization/depreciatio 2,91( 3,06¢
Research tax crec 14,28¢ 13,68(
Net operating loss carry forwar 105,27- 79,98¢
Deferred revenu 14,62¢ 14,64¢
Others 324 682
Gross deferred tax ass! 148,43! 121,57¢
Deferred tax liability related to business acqiosi (9,186 (9,186
Total net deferred tax as: 139,24¢ 112,39.
Less valuation allowanc (148,435 (121,579
Net deferred tax assets (liabilit $ (9,186 $ (9,186

The Company records a valuation allowanceédmporary differences for which it is more lik¢han not that the Company will not
receive future tax benefits. At December 31, 2@H1@| 2014, the Company recorded valuation allowaot&421.6 million and $148.4 million,
respectively, representing an increase in the tialuallowance of $26.3 million in 2013 and an e&se of $26.8 million in 2014, due to the
uncertainty regarding the realization of such defiétax assets, to offset the benefits of net ajperéosses generated during those years.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company hddrid and state net operating loss carry forwafd®Ls") of approximately $268.5 million
and $235.5 million, respectively. The federal cdonywvard
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will expire in 2028 through 2034. Most of the statary forwards generated prior to 2009 began forexn 2012 and will continue to expire
through 2015. The remaining state carry forwardtuiting those generated in 2009 through 2012 wpiree in 2029 through 2034 due to a
change in the New Jersey state law regarding thepezating loss carry forward period. UtilizatiohNOLs may be subject to a substantial
limitation pursuant to Section 382 of the Code afl as similar state statutes in the event of aneyghip change. Such ownership changes
have occurred in the past, and could occur agdineriuture As a result of these ownership changestion 382 places an annual limitation on
the amount of NOLs that can be utilized to offsgtife taxable income each year, which is basett®nalue of the company at the change
date. This limitation could result in expirationtbbse carry forwards before utilization. In gehesa ownership change, as defined by
Section 382, results from transactions that inad¢las ownership of certain stockholders or publaugs in the stock of a corporation by more
than 50 percentage points over a three year perteel Company completed a detailed study of its dative ownership changes for 2014 and
determined that there was an ownership changecessxof 50% in October of 2014. Based on the walltike Company at the change date, the
limitation amount is estimated to be sufficienparmit the utilization of up to approximately $3@ifllion over the next 20 years, which
exceeds the total of the Company's NOLs througteber 31, 2014. Therefore, there was no need te doiwn the gross amount of the
deferred tax asset related to the Company's febtli€dak. A tax benefit of $0.2 million associatedhwihe exercise of stock options will be
recorded in additional paid-in capital when theoagged net operating loss is recognized.

A reconciliation of the statutory tax ratesl the effective tax rates for the years endezkBer 31, 2012, 2013 and 2014 are as follows

Years Ended
December 31,

2014 2013 2012
Statutory rate Bh)% (B9)% (3%
State taxes, net of federal ben (4) (5) 3
Permanent adjustmer 1 @ D
R&D credit (4 (3) (8)
Other 1 — 1
Valuation allowanct 38 37 38
Net 2% (6% (6)%

The Company recognized a tax benefit 02 $3illion, $3.5 million and $1.1 million in connéeah with the sale of net operating losses an
research and development credits in the New Jdmsmsfer Program for the years ended December®D,2013 and 2014, respectively.

14. Licenses

The Company acquired rights to develop @rmmercialize its product candidates through liesrgranted by various parties. The
following summarizes the Company's material rigirtd obligations under those licenses:

GSK —For discussion of the royalties and milestone pEympotentially due to GSK, see "— Note 15. Calfakive Agreements."
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Mt. Sinai School of Medicine of New Yorkvdrsity ("MSSM") —The Company acquired exclusive worldwide pategtits to develop
and commercialize migalastat and other pharmaoccdbghaperones for the prevention or treatmenuaidn diseases or clinical conditions by
increasing the activity of wildype and mutant enzymes pursuant to a license mgrdavith MSSM. This agreement expires upon exjpinabf
the last of the licensed patent rights, which Wélin 2019, subject to any patent term extensiahrtiay be granted, or 2024 if the Company
develops a product for combination therapy (phaotwagcal chaperone plus ERT) and a patent issaes the pending application covering
combination therapy, subject to any patent terreresibn that may be granted. Under this agreenmeedgte the Company has paid no upfront
or annual license fees and has no milestone orefytalyments other than royalties on net salesO082the Company amended and restated it
license agreement with MSSM which consolidated ipresyramendments into a single agreement, clarifiegortion of royalties and milesto
payments the Company received from collaboratioregents that were payable to MSSM, and providedCdmpany with the sole right to
control the prosecution of patent rights descriinetthe amended and restated license agreement.éPéyto MSSM are classified as research
and development expenses in the Company's finasteitdments.

Under its license agreements, if the Compames royalties on net sales for one of its pre¢glta more than one of the above licensors,
then it has the right to reduce the royalties oteedne licensor for royalties paid to another. @heount of royalties to be offset is generally
limited in each license and can vary under eacheagent. For migalastat, the Company will owe ragslonly to MSSM and will owe no
milestone payments.

The Company's rights with respect to thegeements to develop and commercialize migalasgtterminate, in whole or in part, if the
Company fails to meet certain development or corsrakration requirements or if the Company doesmegt its obligations to make royalty
payments.

15. Collaborative Agreements
GSK

In November 2013, Amicus entered into tleeiRed Agreement with GSK, pursuant to which Amibas obtained global rights to deve
and commercialize migalastat as a monotherapyrandrbination with ERT for Fabry disease. The Redidgreement amends and replaces
in its entirety the Expanded Agreement entered liioveen Amicus and GSK in July 2012. Under thmseof the Revised Agreement, there
was no upfront payment from Amicus to GSK. For rfageat monotherapy, GSK is eligible to receive fygtroval and sales-based milestone
up to $40 million, as well as tiered royalties e tmid-teens in eight major markets outside the U.S

Under the terms of the Revised AgreemeBK @iill no longer jointly fund development costs fdl formulations of migalastat.

In evaluating the impact of both the Expash@ollaboration Agreement and the Revised Agreg¢nttee Company applied the accounting
guidance regarding the impact of potential futtaigments it may make in its role as a vendor (Amicus) to its customer (i.e., GSK) and
evaluated if these potential future payments cbeld reduction of revenue from GSK. If the potdiitiure payments to GSK are as follows:

. a payment for an identifiable benefit, and

. the identifiable benefit is separable from tkistng relationship between the Company and G3i, a
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. the identifiable benefit can be obtained from ayather than GSK, and

. the Company can reasonably estimate the fair \@ltiee identifiable benefit,

then the potential future payments would be treatgzhrately from the collaboration and researcamee. However, if all these criteria are not
satisfied, then the potential future payments i@&téd as a reduction of revenue.

Accordingly, the Company did not believatttfor accounting purposes, the new U.S. licensiiyfs to migalastat obtained from GSK
under the Expanded Collaboration Agreement, noed.S. licensing rights to migalastat obtaineshfrtGSK under the Revised Agreement,
represented a separate, identifiable benefit flueritenses in the Original Collaboration Agreenemtered into between Amicus and GSK in
2010. The contingent amounts payable to GSK wetasufticiently separable from GSK's original licersnd the research and development
reimbursements such that Amicus could not haveretiato a similar exchange transaction with anogaety. Additionally, the Company
cannot reasonably estimate the fair value of thedmade licensing rights to migalastat.

The Company determined that the potenti@iré payments to GSK would be treated as a remucfirevenue and that the total amount o
revenue to be received under the arrangementlsnger fixed or determinable as the contingent stilee payments are subject to significant
uncertainty.

As a result, the Company no longer recagphiany of the upfront license fees and premiumtherequity purchase from GSK until such
time as the arrangement consideration becomes fixddterminable, because an indeterminable amuagtultimately be payable back to
GSK. These amounts (the balance of the unrecognigdnt license fee and the premium on the equitghases) are classified as deferred
reimbursements on the balance sheet.

The recognition of Research Revenue wasaifected by the determination that the overaéltarrangement consideration was no longe
fixed and determinable, despite the fact that #search activities continued and that the reseaqpbnse reimbursements by GSK to Amicus
were received as the research activities relatéltetoeimbursement had been completed. Therefereeearch reimbursements from GSK
were recorded as deferred reimbursements on thedmbkheet and would not recognized until the taingement consideration becomes
fixed and determinable.

As a result, all revenue recognition waspgmded until the total arrangement considerationldvbecome fixed and determinable. In
addition, future milestone payments made by the @omw will be applied against the balance of thieded reimbursements account. In the
third quarter of 2013, the Company paid GSK a plhssigh milestone payment of $0.8 million in cortieat with the development of the Co-
formulated product. This payment was reflected ssdaction of the deferred reimbursements in thesGtidated Balance Sheet as of
December 31, 2013.

Revenue recognition for research experisgtiesements, the original upfront license fee, redequity premiums will resume once the
total arrangement consideration becomes fixed aterchinable which will occur when the balance &f deferred reimbursements account is
sufficient to cover all the remaining contingentaatone payments.

Biogen

In September 2013, the Company enteredaititense and collaboration agreement (the "Bioggreement”) with Biogen to discover,
develop and commercialize novel small moleculesHertreatment of Parkinson's disease. Under tefrtiee multi-year agreement, the
Company and Biogen
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will collaborate in the discovery of a new classsofall molecules that target the GCase enzymduftrer development and commercializai
by Biogen. Biogen was responsible for funding @ktdvery, development, and commercialization aki¢igi In addition the Company was
reimbursed for all full-time employees working dwtproject as part of a cost sharing arrangeméragt. Company was also eligible to receive
development and regulatory milestones, as well @dest royalties in global net sales.

In accordance with the revenue recognigjoidance related to reimbursement of research amélopment expenses, the Company
identified all deliverables at the inception of tgreement. As the Company has not commencedhitsi@dl principal operations (i.e. selling
commercial products) the Company is only perforndegelopment of its compounds, and therefore, dgweént activities are part of the
Company's ongoing central operations. Additiondtg, Company has the following accounting policies:

. Research and development expenses related toada@tion agreement will be recorded on a grosis aghe income
statement and not presented net of any reimburgeezived from a collaboration agreement; and

. The reimbursement of research and developmem@reses from a collaborator will be recognized mititome statement as
"Research Revenue" for the period in which thearedeactivity occurred.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company reizegin$1.2 million in Research Revenue for work perfed under the cost sharing
arrangement of the Biogen Agreement.

The Company evaluated the contingent nufest included in the Biogen Agreement at the inoppif the Biogen Agreement and
determined that the contingent milestones are anbgé milestones and would be recognized as revanthe period that the milestone was
achieved. The Company determined that the resémsdd milestones are commensurate with the enhaatsz of each delivered item as a
result of the Company's specific performance tdeaghthe milestones. The research based milestooalsl relate to past performances when
achieved and are reasonable relative to the othgnent terms within the Biogen Agreement, includimg cost sharing arrangement.

In September 2014, the Company and Biogeeladed their research collaboration. The Compamgst advanced Parkinson's candidat
is AT3375, which was developed outside the collabon and is wholly-owned by the Company.

16. Short-Term Borrowings and Long-Term Debt

In December 2013, the Company entereddraredit and security agreement with a lending &gate consisting of MidCap Funding
I, LLC, Oxford Finance LLC, and Silicon Valley B& ("SVB") which provides an aggregate of $25 roitlithe "Term Loan"). The Company
drew $15 million of the aggregate principal amoointhe Term Loan at the end of December 2013 (est' Tranche") and did not draw the
additional $10 million that was available througje £nd of the fourth quarter of 2014. The principaktanding balance of the First Tranche
bears interest at a rate per annum fixed at 8.5%.dompany made interest-only payments on the Tean beginning January 1, 2014 and
will continue through April 1, 2015, after whichellCompany will repay the aggregate principal outditag balance of the Term Loan in 33
equal monthly installments of principal, plus a@dunterest at the applicable rate. The Term Loaturas on December 27, 2017. At
December 31, 2014, the total principal amount chaeuthe Term Loan was $15 million.
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In connection with the Term Loan, the Compeecorded a debt discount of $0.8 million at Deber 31, 2013 which consists of
payments to be made and a contingent payable terkders. These payments include a debt facilgyofe$0.1 million which was paid on the
date of the First Tranche, $0.4 million exit featttvill be payable upon repayment of the term laad $0.3 million representing the fair value
of a contingent payment of up to $0.4 million retato a success fee payable within six monthsgder event, with the trigger event being
regulatory acceptance of NDA or MAA submission. STt effective 5 years from the closing of the Té&man. The success fee payable to the
lender was probability adjusted and discountedbzirity an appropriate discount rate and is showa @srrent liability on the Company's
consolidated balance sheet.

In February 2012, the Company borrowed axiprately $1.0 million from a loan and security egment (the "2011 Loan Agreement")
with SVB which was to be repaid over the followiné years. The 2011 Loan Agreement contains firducovenants and the Company has a
all times been in compliance with these covenakdsof December 31, 2014, the 2011 Loan Agreemesiblean fully repaid and there is no
amount currently due.

The carrying amount of the Company's bomge approximates fair value at December 31, 2014.
The remaining future minimum payments aéfigpal due as of December 31, 2014 are as follgnvthousands):

Years ending December

2015 $ 4,03t
2016 5,44¢
2017 5,521
2018 —
2019 and beyon —

Total principal obligatior 15,00(
Less sho-term portion, net of short term debt discount 9% (3,840
Long-term portion 11,16(
Less debt discoul (650
Long term portion, net of debt discot $ 10,51(

17. Restructuring Charges

In November 2013, the Company announcedr&-force reduction of approximately 14 percentlbremployees, as a part of a corporate
restructuring. This measure was intended to reduosts and to align the Company's resources witteigsstrategic priorities.

In December 2013, the Company initiated eordpleted a facilities consolidation effort, clogione of its leased locations in San Diego,
CA. The Company recorded a total charge of $2.0anitluring the fourth quarter of 2013 which inobetd$1.2 million for employment
termination costs payable and a facilities conswiich charge of $0.8 million consisting of leasgmants of $0.7 million related to the net
present value of the net future minimum lease paysnat the cease-use date and the write-down afahbook value of the fixed assets in the
vacated building of $0.1 million. At December 30,12, all of the restructuring charges related tpleyment termination costs were paid.
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The following table summarizes the restitiay charges and utilization for the year endedddeber 31, 2014 (in thousands):

Balance as o Balance as o
December 31, December 31,
2013 Charges Cash Payment  Adjustments 2014
Employment termination cos $ 1,13¢ § — $ (1139 $ — 3 —
Facilities consolidatiol 703 — (357) (63) 283
Total $ 184: $ — $ (1,49 $ (63) $ 28

The lease charges will be paid over theaiaing lease term which expires in September 2016.

18. Subsequent Events

The Company evaluated events that occlsubdequent to December 31, 2014 and there wereaterial recognized or non-recognized
subsequent events during this period.

19. Earnings per Share

The following table provides a reconciliatiof the numerator and denominator used in comgutasic and diluted net loss attributable to
common stockholders per common share (in thousaxcpt share amounts):

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Historical
Numerator:
Net loss attributable to common stockholc $ (68,926) $ (59,637 $ (48,785
Denominator
Weighted average common shares outstandin
basic and dilute: 74,444,15 51,286,05 45,565,21

Dilutive common stock equivalents wouldlue the dilutive effect of common stock optiorestricted stock units and warrants for
common stock equivalents. Potentially dilutive coomstock equivalents were excluded from the dil@ahings per share denominator fol
periods because of their adiiutive effect. The table below presents poterdi@res of common stock that were excluded froncdneputatior
as they were anti-dilutive using the treasury stoeithod (in thousands):

Year ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Options to purchase common stc 10,02: 9,041 7,974
Outstanding warrants, convertible to common s 1,60( 3,00¢ 1,40t
Unvested restricted stock un 95E — —
Total number of potentially issuable sha 12,57¢ 12,04t  9,37¢
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20. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited —n thousands except per share data)

Quarters Ended

March 31 June 30 September 3C December 31

2014
Net loss $ (15,94) $ (14,619) $ (17,149 $ (21,220
Basic and diluted net loss per common sh

@ (0.25) (0.22) (0.22) (0.24)
2013
Net loss $ (17,459 $ (15349 $ (14589 $ (12,23)
Basic and diluted net loss per common sh

@ (0.3%) (0.31) (0.29) (0.22)

(1) Per common share amounts for the quarters angidatls have been calculated separately. Accordinglgrterly amoun
do not add to the annual amounts because of diffeseon the weighted-average common shares outsgashaking each
period principally due to the effect of the Compasguing shares of its common stock during the.y
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ltem 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE.
None.

Item 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation wf principal executive officer and principal finaalcofficer, evaluated the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures as of Decenthe2@®.4. The term "disclosure controls and prooesilias defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and
15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act, means controls amer grocedures of a company that are designedstoreithat information required to
disclosed by us in the reports that we file or sitlumder the Exchange Act is recorded, processadnsarized and reported within the time
periods specified in the SEC rules and forms. B=ale controls and procedures include, withouttéition, controls and procedures designed
to ensure that information required to be discldsgd company in the reports that it files or susminder the Exchange Act is accumulated
and communicated to the company's managementdinglits principal executive and principal finarlaifficers, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure. Mpament recognizes that any controls and proceduwanatter how well designed and
operated, can provide only reasonable assuranaehadving their objectives and management necéssaplies its judgment in evaluating the
cost-benefit relationship of possible controls anotcedures. Based on the evaluation of our disptosontrols and procedures as of
December 31, 2014, our principal executive off@ed principal financial officer concluded that,cdsuch date, our disclosure controls and
procedures were effective at the reasonable asstawvel.

There have been no changes in our intewratols over financial reporting during the foudrarter of the year ended December 31, 201
that have materially affected, or are reasonakbjyito materially affect, our internal controlsesfinancial reporting.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finangal Reporting

The information required by this sectioniethincludes the "Management's Report on Consddi&inancial Statements and Internal
Control over Financial Reporting" and the "Repdrinalependent Registered Public Accounting Firng'iacorporated by reference from
"ltem 8. Financial Statements and SupplementaraDat

Item 9B. OTHER INFORMATION.
None.
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PART IlI

Certain information required by Part Illamitted from this Annual Report on Form 10-K asintend to file our definitive proxy
statement for our 2014 annual meeting of stockhe|grursuant to Regulation 14A of the SecuritiesHaxge Act, not later than 120 days aftel
the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annughp&t on Form 10-K, and certain information to belided in the proxy statement is
incorporated herein by reference.

tem 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT ANDCORPORATE GOVERNANCE.

The information required by this item isdmporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Management," "Section 16
(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance," @Rtbposal No. 1 — Election of Directors."

We have adopted a Code of Business Ethid<Canduct for Employees, Executive Officers anceBtors that applies to our employees,
officers and directors and incorporate guidelinesighed to deter wrongdoing and to promote the $taared ethical conduct and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations. In additithre code of ethics incorporates our guidelinesgirdrtg to topics such as conflicts of interest
and workplace behavior. We have posted the tegtintode on our website wtvw.amicusrx.corm connection with "Investors/Corporate
Governance" materials. In addition, we intend tonmptly disclose (1) the nature of any amendmemptutrocode of ethics that applies to our
principal executive officer, principal financialfafer, principal accounting officer or controller, persons performing similar functions and
(2) the nature of any waiver, including an implieiiver, from provision of our code of ethics tiagranted to one of these specified officers,
the name of such person who is granted the waiveéttze date the waiver on our website in the future

Item 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION.

The information required by this item isanporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe caption "Compensation Discussion
and Analysis."

ltem 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS ANDMANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER
MATTERS.

The information required by this item isdamporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe captions "Security Ownership of
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Relateckholder Matters™ and "Equity CompensatiomPitdormation."

Item 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS ANDDIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE.

The information required by this item isdamporated by reference from the Proxy Statemedéuthe captions "Certain Relationships anc
Related Transactions," "Director Independence, Mi@uttee Compensation and Meetings of the Boardigddiors," and "Compensation
Committee Interlock and Insider Participation.”

Item 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES.
The information required by this item isdnporated by reference from the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
ltem 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE
€) 1. Consolidated Financial Statements
The Consolidated Financial Statementsiteé &s part of this report.
2. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules are omitted because theyateequired or because the required informationdkided in the Consolidated Financial
Statements or notes thereto.

3. Exhibits
Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing
Exhibit Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated~orm 8-K 2/12/2014 2.1
November 19, 2013, by and amc
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc., CB
Acquisition Corp., Callidus
BioPharma, Inc, and Cuong [
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation Form 10K 2/28/12 3.1
of the Registrant. Annual
Report
3.2 Restated By-laws of the Registrant. S-1/A 4127107 3.4
(333-
141700)
4.1 Specimen Stock Certificate S-1 (333- 3/30/07 4.1
evidencing shares of common stc 141700)
4.2 Third Amended and Restated Investo8-1 (333- 3/30/07 4.2
Rights Agreement, dated as of 141700)
September 13, 2006, as amen
10.1 2002 Equity Incentive Plan, as S-1/A 4/27/07 10.1
amended, and forms of option (333-
agreements thereunc 141700)
+10.z Amended and Restated License Form 10K 2/6/09 10.c
Agreement, dated October, 31, 2008,
by and between the Registrant and
Mount Sinai School of Medicine of
New York University
+10.2 License Agreement, dated as of S-1(333- 3/30/07 10.¢
June 26, 2003, by and between the 141700)
Registrant and University of
Maryland, Baltimore County, as
amendec
+10.2 Exclusive License Agreement, dated S-1 (333- 3/30/07 10t

as of June 8, 2005, by and betweer 141700)
Registrant and Novo Nordisk, A
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Exhibit Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
10.t Letter Agreement, dated as of S-1(333- 3/30/07 10.1¢
December 19, 2005, by and betweei41700)
the Registrant and David Lockhart,
Ph.D.
10.€ Form of Director and Officer S-1(333- 3/30/07 10.13
Indemnification Agreemer 141700)
10.7 Amended and Restated 2007 Form 8-K 6/8/10 10.z
Director Option Plan and form of  Current
option agreemer Report
10.€ 2007 Employee Stock Purchase Plag-1/A (333-  5/17/07 10.2¢
141700)
10.€ Lease Agreement dated as of Form 8-K 9/15/08 10.1
September 11, 2008 by and between
the Registrant and A/G Touchstone,
TP, LLC.
+10.1(C First Amendment to lease dated  Form 10-K 2/28/12 10.1¢
April 15, 2011 by and between the
Registrant and AG Touchstone,
TP, LLC
10.11 Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 8-K 12/31/08 10.¢
December 30, 2008, by and between
the Registrant and David Lockhart,
Ph.D.
10.12 Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 10-K 2/6/09 10.2¢
December 30, 2008, by and between
the Registrant and John R. K|
10.1: Summary Management Bonus Form 10-K 3/3/14 10.1¢
Program
10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 10-K 3/4/11 10.3-
May 10, 2010 by and between the
Registrant and Ken Valenza
10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 10-K 3/4/11 10.3¢
January 3, 2011 by and between the
Registrant and Kenneth Pe
10.1¢ Letter Agreement, dated as of Form 10-K 3/4/11 10.3¢
January 3, 2011 by and between the
Registrant and Enrique Dilor
10.17 Lease Agreement dated August 16, Form 8-K 8/16/11 10.1

2011 between the Registrant and
Cedar Brook 3 Corporate
Center, L.P
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Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing

Filed Exhibit Description Form

Date

Exhibit No.

Filed with this
Form 10-K

10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2(

10.21

10.2Z

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.2¢

+10.2¢

10.25

10.2¢

Letter Agreement dated Form 8-K
April 18, 2013 between

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

and David J. Lockha

Second Amendment to Le¢ Form 8-K
Agreement dated as of

May 16, 2013 by and

between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc and A/G
Touchstone, TP, LLC

Letter Agreement, dated as Form 10-Q
of June 5, 2013 by and

between the Registrant and

Jeffrey P. Castel

Letter Agreement, dated as Form 10-Q
of June 5, 2013 by and

between the Registrant and

Jayne Gershkowit

Letter Agreement, dated Form 8-K
November 20, 2013 by at

among the Company and the
purchasers identified there

Form of Warrant issued on Form 8-K
November 20, 201

Credit and Security Form 8-K
Agreement, by and between

MidCap Funding lll, LLC,

as administrative agent, the

Lenders listed in the Credit

Facility Schedule thereto,

Amicus Therapeutics Inc.,

and Callidus

Biopharma, Inc., dated as of
December 27, 201

Separation Agreement, by Form 8-K
and between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc and

Dr. David J. Lockhart, dated

as of January 3, 20!

Second Restated Agreement-orm 10-K
dated November 19, 2013

and between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc. and Glaxo

Group Limited

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Form 8-K
Cash Deferral Pla

Amendment No.1 to the Form 8-K
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.
Cash Deferral Pla

-11€-

4/24/13

5/22/13

8/7/13

8/7/13

11/20/13

11/20/13

12/30/13

1/8/14

3/3/14

712/14

10/16/14

10.¢

10.1

10.¢

10.7

10.1

10.z

10.1

10.1

10.4¢

10.1

10.1
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Exhibit
No.

Incorporated by Reference to SEC Filing

Filed Exhibit Description Form

Date

Exhibit No.

Filed with this
Form 10-K

10.2¢

10.3(

10.31

10.3Z

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.3¢

10.33

10.3¢

10.3¢

21

23.1

Employment Agreement Form 8-K
dated April 23, 2014,

between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc. and John

F. Crowley

Employment Agreement Form 8-K
dated April 23, 2014,

between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc. and

William D. Baird, IlI

Employment Agreement Form 8-K
dated April 23, 2014,

between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc. and

Bradley L. Campbel

Employment Agreement Form 10-Q
dated April 23, 2014,

between Amicus

Therapeutics, Inc. and Jay

Barth, M.D.

Letter Agreement dated Form 10-Q
April 24, 2014, between

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

and Julie Yt

Letter Agreement dated Form 10-Q
April 30, 2014, between

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

and Daphne Quin

Amended and Restated 200Form 8-K
Equity Incentive Plal

Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Form 8-K
Cash Deferral Pla

Employment Agreement Form 10-Q
dated November 16, 2013

between Amicus

Therapeutics and Hung [

Letter Agreement dated Form 10-Q
June 28, 2014 between

Amicus Therapeutics and

Dipal Doshi

Amendment No. 1 to the Form 8-K
Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.

Cash Deferral Pla

List of Subsidiarie:

Consent of Independent

Registered Public
Accounting Firm.
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4/25/14

4/25/14

4/25/14

5/5/14

5/5/14

5/5/14

6/23/14

7/2/14

8/7/14

8/7/14

10/16/14

10.1

10.z

10.c

10.€

10.7

10.¢

10.1

10.1

10.2
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Exhibit Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date Exhibit No. Form 10-K
31.1 Certification of Principal X

Executive Officer Pursuant
to Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

31.Zz Certification of Principal X
Financial Officer Pursuant-
Rule 13a-14(a) of the
Securities Exchange Act of
1934.

32.1 Certificate of Principal X
Executive Officer pursuant
to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350
and Section 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certificate of Principal X
Financial Officer pursuant to
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following financial X
information from this Annui
Report on Form 1 for the
year ended December &
2014, formatted in XBRL
(Extensible Business
Reporting Language) and
filed electronically herewith:
(i) the Consolidated Balance
Sheets; (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations;
(iii) the Consolidated
Statements of
Comprehensive Loss;

(iv) the Consolidated
Statements of Cash Flows;
(v) and the Notes to the
Consolidated Financial
Statements

+ Confidential treated has been granted as to ceptaitions of the document, which portions have bamitted and filed
separately with the Securities and Exchange Conimnis
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of SectioorlB5 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1984, registrant has duly caused this report to b
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredatp authorized on March 3, 2015.

AMICUS THERAPEUTICS, INC.
(Registrant

By: /s John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chief Executive Office

Pursuant to the requirements of the Seeariixchange Act of 1934, this Report has beeresi¢pelow by the following persons on behalf
of the Registrant and in the capacities and ord#tes indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s John F. Crowley Chairman and Chief Executive Officer March 3, 2015

(Principal Executive Officer)
(John F. Crowley

/s/ William D. Baird 1l Chief Financial Officer March 3, 2015
(Principal Financial Officer)

(William D. Baird IlI)

/s Daphne Quimi Vice President, Finance and Controller March 3, 2015
(Principal Accounting Officer)

(Daphne Quimi’

/s/  Sol J. Barer, Ph.D. Director March 3, 2015

(Sol J. Barer, Ph.D

/s/ Robert Essner Director March 3, 2015

(Robert Essnel

/sl Donald J. Hayden Director March 3, 2015

(Donald J. Hayder

/s/ Ted W. Love, M.D. Director March 3, 2015

(Ted W. Love, M.D.
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Signature Title Date
/sl Margaret G. McGlynn, R.F Director March 3, 2015

(Margaret G. McGlynn, R.Ph

/s/ Michael G. Raab Director March 3, 2015

(Michael G. Raab

/s/ Glenn Sblendorio Director March 3, 2015

(Glenn Sblendorio

/sl James N. Topper, M.D., Director March 3, 2015
Ph.D.

(James N. Topper, M.D., Ph.L
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Incorporated by
Reference to SEC

Filing

Exhibit Exhibit  Filed with this
No. Filed Exhibit Description Form Date _ No. Form 10-K
21 List of Subsidiarie! X
23.1 Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting X
Firm.

31.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer Pursudo X
Rule 13i-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1¢

31.Zz Certification of Principal Financial Officer Pursuao X
Rule 13i-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1€

32.1 Certificate of Principal Executive Officer pursuaot X
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Section 906 of the $ada
Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certificate of Principal Financial Officer pursuadat X
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 and Section 906 of the $ada
Oxley Act of 2002

101 The following financial information from this Annua X

Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2014, formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Repgrt
Language) and filed electronically herewith: (i¢th
Consolidated Balance Sheets; (ii) the Consolidated
Statements of Operations; (iii) the ConsolidateateShents
of Comprehensive Loss; (iv) the Consolidated Statgm
of Cash Flows; (v) and the Notes to the Consolitlate
Financial Statement

-123-







QuickLinks-- Click here to rapidly navigate through this domnt

Exhibit 21
List of Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Callidus Biopharma, Inc. (Delaware)
Amicus Therapeutics UK Limited (UK)
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EXHIBIT 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm
We consent to the incorporation by refeecincthe following Registration Statements:

1. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-19720&pjyeng to the Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Cash brefePlan,

2. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-195194ppeng to the Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Restdc&tock Unit Deferral
Plan,

3. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 338305) pertaining to the: 1) Amicus Therapeutics, 2002 Equity Incentive Plan,
Amended, 2) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Equitsehtive Plan, 3) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 200/&&br Option Plan,
4) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. 2007 Employee StodkcPase Plan,

4, Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-15721€&pjyeng to the: 1) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Amedénd Restated 2007
Equity Incentive Plan and 2) Amicus Therapeutios, RO07 Director Option Plan,

5. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-17490€ppeng to the: 1) Amicus Therapeutics, Inc. Ameddnd Restated 2007
Equity Incentive Plan and 2) Amicus Therapeutios, Amended and Restated 2007 Director Option Plan,

6. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-185%307
7. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-18%4531
8. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-192747

9. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-192876)

of our reports dated March 3, 2015 with respethéoconsolidated financial statements of Amicusrapeutics, Inc., and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc included irstBinnual Report (Form 1K)
for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

MetroPark, New Jersey
March 3, 2015
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL EXECUTIVE OFFICER

[, John F. Crowley, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report omi&0-K of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dagontain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiakesteents, and other financial information includedtiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offigg and | are responsible for establishing anchiaaiing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls andeglures, or caused such disclosure controls ammégures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhsibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control overrfitial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the teaiss disclosure controls and procedures andpted in this report our conclusions at
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

d. disclosed in this report any changénaregistrant's internal control over financialogjng that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant's other certifying offi® and | have disclosed, based on our most resattiation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and matewaaknesses in the design or operation of intesaatrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thablves management or other employees who haignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2015

/sl John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
CERTIFICATION BY PRINCIPAL FINANCIAL OFFICER

[, William D. Baird lll, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report omi60-K of Amicus Therapeutics, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report dagontain any untrue statement of a materialdacmit to state a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financiakesteents, and other financial information includedtiis report, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying offig and | are responsible for establishing anchiaaiing disclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls andeglures, or caused such disclosure controls ammggures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg teriod in which this report is being prepared;

b. designed such internal control overrfitial reporting, or caused such internal contr@rdinancial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c. evaluated the effectiveness of the teaiss disclosure controls and procedures andpted in this report our conclusions at
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyeport based on such evaluation;
and

d. disclosed in this report any changénaregistrant's internal control over financialogjng that occurred during the registrant's
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fofisttal quarter in the case of an annual repod tias materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regasit's internal control over financial reporting;

5. The registrant's other certifying offi® and | have disclosed, based on our most resattiation of internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and thetamnmittee of the registrant's board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a. all significant deficiencies and matewaaknesses in the design or operation of intesaatrol over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg's ability to record, process, summarize apdrt financial information; and

b. any fraud, whether or not material, thablves management or other employees who haignificant role in the registrant's
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 3, 2015

/s/ William D. Baird Il

William D. Baird 1l
Chief Financial Office
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EXHIBIT 32.1

Certification by the Principal Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G§t Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350,hnJe. Crowley, hereby certify that, to the bestryfknowledge, Amicus Therapeutics Inc., (the
"Company") Annual Report on Form 10-K for the yeaded December 31, 2014 (the "Report"), as filgtl thie Securities and Exchange
Commission on March 3, 2015, fully complies witle tlequirements of Section 13(a) or Section 15(dhefSecurities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, and that the information containeldarReport fairly presents, in all material respetts financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

/sl John F. Crowley

John F. Crowley
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
March 3, 201t
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EXHIBIT 32.2

Certification by the Principal Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, as
Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-G§t Act of 2002

Pursuant to 18 U. S. C. Section 1350, ljigvn D. Baird Ill, hereby certify that, to the bexf my knowledge, the Amicus
Therapeutics Inc. (the "Company") Annual ReporFonm 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2014"@sport"), as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on March 3, 20dl§ complies with the requirements of Sectid@(d) or Section 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and that thenmafiion contained in the Report fairly presentsalirmaterial respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ William D. Baird Il

William D. Baird Il
Chief Financial Officer
March 3, 201t
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